## EFFECT OF HUMAN CANCELLOUS BONE GRAFT SOLUBLE MOLECULES ONTO DIFFERENTIATED HUMAN ADIPOSE DERIVED MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS TOWARDS OSTEOGENIC LINEAGES

by Ayşegül Atasoy Zeybek

Submitted to Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biotechnology

Yeditepe University 2017

# EFFECT OF HUMAN CANCELLOUS BONE GRAFT SOLUBLE MOLECULES ONTO DIFFERENTIATED HUMAN ADIPOSE DERIVED MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS TOWARDS OSTEOGENIC LINEAGES

APPROVED BY:

Prof. Dr. Gamze Torun Köse (Thesis Supervisor)

Prof. Dr. Ece Genç

Prof. Dr. Tahsin Beyzadeoğlu

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Fatma Neşe Kök

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Halime Kenar

DATE OF APPROVAL: ..../2017

This thesis is dedicated to my husband and my cousin Gamze Özcan...

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost I would like to thank to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Gamze Torun Köse for her support, encouragement, contributions of time, idea and funding to make my Ph.D. experience productive and inspiring. I also would like to thank for the great example she has provided as an outstanding and successful woman molecular biologist and professor.

I am also deeply thankful to Prof. Dr. Tahsin Beyzadeoglu, Assoc. Prof. Alan Ivkovic, and Prof. Dr. Christopher Evans for generously sharing their time and their detailed critique on this thesis. They have played a major role in creating the Ph.D. hypothesis. My sincere thanks go to Prof. Dr. Evans who inspired me to pursue my dream of being a scientist. For this dissertation, I am grateful to my regarding thesis committee members: Prof. Dr. Ece Genç, Assoc. Prof. Halime Kenar and Assoc. Prof. Fatma Neşe Kök for insightful questions, inspirational discussions in many ways with us regarding this study. They guided me through all these years. I also would like to acknowledge Dr. Ayberk Önal for his help.

The members of YUTEG group have contributed extremely to my professional time at Yeditepe University. The group has been a full of friendships, helpful, advice and collaboration. I wish to especially express my tremendous thanks to Ezgi İrem Bektaş for her understanding and her endless support during my thesis. I gratefully thank to the funding received from TÜBİTAK Domestic Ph.D. Scholarship (2211-A) that made my Ph.D. work possible.

Last, but not least, I would like to thank to my family Remzi Atasoy, Hatice Atasoy, my sisters Yasemin Atasoy, Melike Atasoy and my brother Enes Atasoy for their encouragement and love. My parents raised me with the unconditional love of science and supported me in all my research. I also thank to my cousin Gamze Özcan for being a great soul. I gratefully thank to Nesrin Zeybek, Halil Zeybek for their sincere support. I also would like to thank to my dear husband, Erman Zeybek. Without his faithful support, understanding, patience and encouragement, it would have been impossible for me to finish this study.

### ABSTRACT

## EFFECT OF HUMAN CANCELLOUS BONE GRAFT SOLUBLE MOLECULES ONTO DIFFERENTIATED HUMAN ADIPOSE DERIVED MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS TOWARDS OSTEOGENIC LINEAGES

The involvement of cellular and molecular mechanisms of bone tissue sometimes fail during bone repair, resulting in either delayed-union or non-union. Numerous signaling molecules near the fracture site have a major role in mesenchymal stem cell adhesion, proliferation and differentiation towards osteogenic lineages. The aim of this study was to determine potential effects of human cancellous bone chip secretion (BCPs) onto differentiated human adiposederived mesenchymal stem cells (hAD-MSCs) into osteogenic lineage. The cells within the bone chips secrete proteins and soluble molecules that inhibit the process of osteogenesis. In the previous studies, the effect of the BCPs on hAD-MSCs in bone repair has not been discussed before. In this study, hAD-MSCs were cultured in either basal medium (BM) or osteogenic medium (OM) in the presence of the BCPs. Results from this study demonstrated that proliferation and viabilities of hAD-MSCs were decreased by the BCPs. Furthermore, BCPs distinctly led to a reduction of alkaline phosphatase activity in comparison with the control cells. In the same way, BCPs caused an inhibition of mineralized bone nodules and a reduction in calcium concentration of extracellular matrix mineralization during bone formation. Besides, a significant decrease in the level of bone-related genes, including osteocalcin (OCN), collagen type one (Col1A1), osteonectin (ON), and osteopontin (OPN) were observed in hAD-MSCs with BCPs. Expression of osteoprotegerin (OPG) was also significantly decreased during osteoblasts maturation. Nevertheless, expression of Bone Morphogenetic Protein-2 (BMP-2) was constantly induced by BCPs during bone regeneration. Moreover, a significant increase in the level of sclerostin expression was also observed in hAD-MSCs cultured in OM at the fracture site under the influence of BCPs. Nevertheless, BCPs did not have any significant effect on the expression of Dkk-1. Our results have demonstrated that production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF-a, IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$  was stimulated by BCPs. Altogether, our findings demonstrated that the secretions of bone chips inhibit bone formation process during fracture healing.

### ÖZET

## İNSAN SÜNGERİMSİ KEMİK DOKUDAKİ ÇÖZÜNÜR MOLEKÜLERİN YAĞ DOKU KAYNAKLI MEZENKİMAL KÖK HÜCRELER ÜZERİNDEKİ KEMİĞE FARKLILAŞMA ETKİSİ

Kemik dokunun hücresel ve moleküler mekanizmaları, kemik onarımı sırasında bazen başarısız olarak gecikmiş kaynama veya kemiğin kaynamaması ile sonuçlanır. Kırık civarında bulunan çok sayıda sinyal molekülleri, mezenkimal kök hücrelerin (MKH) adezyon, çoğalma ve kemiğe doğru farklılaşmaşında önemli bir role şahiptir. Bu çalışmanın amacı, insan yağ dokusundan elde edilen kemiğe farklılaşmış MKH'lere, insan süngerimsi kemik dokudaki cözünür faktörlerin (KCF) olası etkilerini belirlemektir. Kemik parcacıkları içindeki MKH'ler, osteogenezis sürecini inhibe eden proteinleri ve çözünür molekülleri salgılarlar. Önceki çalışmalarda, KÇF'lerin kırık onarımında MKH'ler üzerindeki etkisi daha önce tartışılmamıştır. Bu çalışmada, MKH'ler, KÇF'lerin varlığında, bazal besiyeri (BB) ve kemik besiyeri (KB) içerisinde kültüre edilmişlerdir. Bu çalışmadan elde edilen sonuçlar, MKH'lerin çoğalması ve canlılığının, DKÇF'ler tarafından azaltılmış olduğunu göstermiştir. Ayrıca, KÇF'ler, kontrol hücreleriyle karşılaştırıldığında, alkalin fosfataz aktivitesinde belirgin bir düşüşe yol açmıştır. Aynı şekilde, kemik oluşumu sırasında, KÇF'ler mineralize kemik nodullerinin inhibisyonuna ve hücre dışı matriks mineralizasyonunda kalsiyum konsantrasyonun düşmesine neden olmuştur. Ayrıca, KÇF'li MKH'lerde osteokalsin, kollajen tip 1, osteonektin ve osteopontin gibi kemik ile ilişkili genlerin düzeyinde belirgin azalma gözlemlenmiştir. Osteoprotegrin ekspresyonu, osteoblastların olgunlaşması sırasında anlamlı şekilde azalmıştır. Bununla birlikte, kemik yenilenmesi sırasında, kemik morfojenik protein-2'nin ekspresyonu sürekli olarak KÇF'ler tarafından indüklenmiştir. Ayrıca, KÇF'li kemik besiyerinde kültürlenen MKH'lerde sklerostin ekspresyon seviyesinde belirgin bir artış gözlemlenmiştir. Bununla birlikte, KÇF'lerin Dkk-1 ekspresyonu üzerinde anlamlı bir etkisi bulunmamıştır. Sonuçlar, TNF-α, IL-6 ve IL-1β gibi pro-inflamatuar sitokinlerin üretimlerinin, KÇF'ler tarafından uyarıldığını göstermektedir. Sonuçta, elde ettiğimiz bulgular, KÇF'lerin, kırık iyileşmesi sırasında kemik oluşum sürecini olumsuz yönde etkilediğini göstermektedir.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
ABSTRACT	v
ÖZET	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	ĸi
LIST OF TABLESxi	ii
LIST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVITIONSx	v
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. CELLULAR BIOLOGY OF BONE	1
1.1.1 Bone Matrix	2
1.1.2. Physiology of Bone Formation	2
1.1.2.1. Intramembranous Ossification	3
1.1.2.2. Endochondral Ossification	4
1.1.3. Bone Remodeling	6
1.2. BONE SIGNALING PATHWAYS	8
1.2.1. Canonical Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway	8
1.2.2. TGF-β/BMP Signaling1	2
1.2.3. OPG/RANKL/RANK Signaling1	3
1.2.4. Hedgehog Signaling Pathway1	6
1.2.5. Notch Signaling Pathway1	7
1.2.6. Signaling cross-talk in bone development 1	9
1.3. BONE GRAFTING	1
1.3.1. Properties of bone grafts	22
1.4. TYPES OF BONE GRAFTS	:3
1.4.1. Autografts	3

1.4.2. Allografts	24
1.4.3. Bone Graft Substitutes	26
1.4.3.1. Calcium Phosphate Based Bone Graft Substitutes	26
1.4.3.2. Bioactive Glass & Glass Ionomers	27
1.4.3.3. Calcium Sulphate	
1.4.3.4. Aluminum Oxides	
1.4.3.5. Polymer-based bone graft substitutes	29
1.5. FRACTURE HEALING MECHANISMS	
1.6. MOLECULAR MECHANISM OF INCORPORATION OF BONE OSSEO-INTEGRATION	GRAFTS- 35
1.7. BIOLOGICAL FACTORS IN FRACTURE HEALING	
1.7.1. The Role of Proinflammatory Cytokines in Fracture Healing	
1.7.2. The role of GFs in Fracture Healing	
1.8. CLINICAL PROBLEMS IN FRACTURE HEALING	42
1.9. AIM OF THE STUDY	42
2. MATERIALS	44
2.1. CHEMICALS	44
2.2. CD MARKER ANTIBODIES	44
2.3. KITS	45
2.4. OTHER REAGENTS	45
2.5. INSTRUMENTS	46
3. METHODS	47
3.1. ISOLATION AND CULTURE OF hAD-MSCs	47
3.2. CHARACTERIZATION OF hAD-MSCs	48
3.2.1. Flow cytometry analysis	48
3.2.2. In vitro multilineage differentiation of hAD-MSCs	48
3.2.2.1. Osteogenic differentiation of hAD-MSCs	48

	3.2.2.2. Adipogenic differentiation of hAD-MSCs	49
	3.2.2.3. Chondrogenic differentiation of hAD-MSCs	49
	3.3. ESTABLISHMENT OF CANCELLOUS BONE CHIP SECRETIONS (BCPs).	50
	3.3.1. Co-culture of hAD-MSCs with BCPs	51
	3.4. DETECTION OF CELL VIABILITY BY MTS ASSAY	53
	3.5. ALKALINE PHOSPHATASE ASSAY	53
	3.6. DETERMINATION OF MINERALIZATION	54
	3.6.1. Quantitative calcium assay	54
	3.6.2. von Kossa staining	54
	3.7. DETECTION OF GENE EXPRESSION LEVELS	54
	3.7.1. RNA isolation	54
	3.7.2. Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction	55
	3.7.3. Real-time PCR analysis	55
	3.8. ENZYME-LINKED IMMUNO-SORBENT (ELISA) ASSAY	56
	3.9. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	57
4	. RESULTS	58
	4.1. MORPHOLOGICAL STRUCTURE ANALYSIS	58
	4.2. CHARACTERIZATION OF hAD-MSCs	59
	4.2.1. Flow Cytometry Analysis	59
	4.2.2. In vitro multilineage differentiation of hAD-MSCs	61
	4.2.2.1. Osteogenic Differentiation of hAD-MSCs	61
	4.2.2.2. Chondrogenic differentiation of hAD-MSCs	62
	4.2.2.3. Adipogenic differentiation of hAD-MSCs	63
	4.3. MTS CELL VIABILITY ASSAY	64
	4.4. ALKALINE PHOSPHATASE ASSAY	66
	4.5. DETERMINATION OF MINERALIZATION	66
	4.5.1. Quantitative Calcium Assay	66

4	5.2. von Kossa Staining	.67
4.6	. REAL-TIME PCR ANALYSIS	.70
4.7	. MEASUREMENT OF CYTOKINE LEVELS BY ELISA ASSAY	.75
5. I	DISCUSSION	.79
6. C	CONCLUSION	.86
7. F	FUTURE PROSPECTS	. 88
REFE	RENCES	. 89
APPE	NDIX A1	122

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Intramembranous ossification
Figure 1.2. Endochondral ossification
Figure 1.3. Bone remodeling stages7
Figure 1.4. Canonical Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway9
Figure 1.5. BMP signaling 14
Figure 1.6. A diagrammatic representation of OPG/RANKL/RANK signaling in osteoclast differentiation
Figure 1.7. Hedgehog signaling in bone remodeling 17
Figure 1.8. Notch signaling
Figure 1.9. Progression of bone healing
Figure 3.1. Liposuction aspirate sample
Figure 3.2. Lateral portions of anterior and posterior chamfer cuts of total knee arthroplasty
Figure 3.3. Experimental set-up of hAD-MSCs with that harvested bone chips in transwell plate
Figure 4.1. Morphological changes of hAD-MSCs cultured in either OM or BM in the presence and absence of BCPs at the end of 7 14 and 21 days
Figure 4.2. Immuno-phenotypic analysis of hAD-MSCs
Figure 4.3. Morphological structure analysis of hAD-MSCs under specific stimulation conditions
Figure 4.4. Mineralized nodules formed in osteogenic medium after 10 days and 21 days of osteogenic induction.
0

Figure 4.5. Chondrogenic differentiation potential of hAD-MSCs under chondrogenic
conditions after 10 and 21 days of induction
Figure 4.6. Adipogenic differentiation of hAD-MSCs in adipogenic medium after 10 and 21
days of induction
Eigure 4.7 Call proliferation of hAD MSCs outword in either OM or DM with (without DCDs
Figure 4.7. Cen promeration of hAD-MSCs cultured in entiter OM of BM with/without BCFs
Figure 4.8. ALP activity of hAD-MSCs in the presence and absence of BCPs at 1, 3, 7, 14
and 21 days of incubation in osteogenic and basal medium
Figure 4.9. Calcium deposition of hAD-MSCs cultured in either OM or BM with/without
BCPs following 1, 7, and 14 days of incubation period
Figure 4.10. von Kossa staining of hAD-MSCs cultured in either OM or BM with/without
BCPs at day 7, 14, and 21 days of incubation
Figure 4.11, Gene expression profile of bone-related genes, including BMP-2, sclerostin,
Dkk-1 and OPG in hAD-MSCs with/without BCPs cultured in osteogenic medium for 7 14
and 21 days of incubation 71
Figure 4.12. Gene expression profile of bone specific genes, including Col1A1, OCN ON,
and OPN in hAD-MSCs with/without BCPs cultured in osteogenic medium for 7, 14 and 21
days of incubation
Figure 4.13. BMP-2, sclerostin, Dkk-1 and OPG mRNA expressions in hAD-MSCs
with/without BCPs cultured in BM at days 7, 14 and 21
Figure 4.14 Col1.4.1 ON OP OCN and OPG mRNA expressions in hAD-MSCs
with/without DCDs sultured in DM at days 7, 14 and 21
with/without BCFs cultured in BM at days 7, 14 and 21
Figure 4.15. The level of IL-6 production of hAD-MSCs in the presence of BCPs 76
Figure 4.16. BCPs induction effects on the level of IL-1 $\beta$ production of hAD-MSCs at the
initial and later stages of bone formation
Figure 4.17 The lovel TNE a production of hAD MSCs in the processor of DCDs 91
Figure 4.17. The level TNF-u production of nAD-MiSCs in the presence of BCPS

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Potential therapeutic targets and their physiological roles in Canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -
Catenin Signaling Pathway 11
Table 1.2. Properties of bone grafts and bone graft substitutes.    29
Table 1.3. Stages of Fracture healing and expression of signaling molecules during fracture
repair
Table 1.4. Effects of growth factors during fracture healing
Table 3.1. Real-time PCR reaction mix    55
Table 3.2. Real-time PCR conditions    56
Table 3.3. Primer pairs used for real-time PCR

## LIST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVITIONS

ADAM	A dis-integrin and metalloproteinase		
ADAM/TACE	Metalloproteinase tumor necrosis $\alpha$ conversion enzyme		
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase		
APC	Adenomatous polyposis coli		
BCPs	Bone chip secretions		
BM	Basal Media		
Bm	Bone marrow		
BMPs	Bone morphogenetic proteins		
BMPR-I	Bone morphogenetic protein receptor-I		
BMPR-II	Bone morphogenetic protein receptor-II		
BMU	Basic multicellular units		
CK1a	Casein kinase 1 alpha		
Col1A1	Collagen type 1 alpha 1 chain		
CPCs	Calcium phosphate cements		
CS	Calcium sulfate		
CSF-1	Colony stimulating factor-1		
c-Src	Proto-oncogene tyrosine- protein kinase		
C3H10T1/2	Mouse embryo mesenchymal stem cells		
DBM	Demineralized bone matrix		
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium		
Dkk-1	Dickkopf-1		
DLL	Delta like		
DPBS	Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffer Saline		
Dsh	Disheveled protein		
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immune-sorbent assay		
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase		
ESI	Electrospray ionization		
FBS	Fetal Bovine serum		
FDA	Food and Drug Administration		
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor		
GDFs	Growth differentiation factors		

GFs	Growth factors		
GSK3β	Glycogen synthase kinase 3β		
hAD-MSCs	Human adipose derived mesenchymal stem cells		
НАр	Hydroxyapatite		
HCl	Hydrochloric acid		
HES	Transcriptional repressors hairy and enhancer of split		
HEY	HES-related with YRPW motif		
Hh	Hedgehog		
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus		
IBM®-SPSS®	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences		
IGF-I	Insulin like growth factor I		
IGF-II	Insulin like growth factor II		
Ihh	Indian Hedgehog		
IL-1	Interleukin-1		
IL-IR	Interleukin-1 receptor		
IL-IIR	Interleukin-II receptor		
IL-6	Interleukin-6		
ITS	Insulin transferrin selenium		
JAG	Jagged		
JNK	C-jun N-terminal kinase		
Lef/TCF	Lymphocyte enhancer factor/T cell transcription factor		
LiCl	Lithium chloride		
Lrp5	Low-density lipoprotein receptor related protein-5		
Lrp6	Low-density lipoprotein receptor related protein-6		
Μ	Molar		
μl	Microliters		
mM	Milimolar		
mAB	Monoclonal antibody		
MAML	Mastermind-like protein		
MAPKs	Mitogen activated protein kinase cascade		
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1		
MCS-F	Macrophage colony- stimulating factor		
MC3T3-E1	Mouse osteoblast precursor cells		

MS	Mass spectrometry		
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells		
MMPs	Matrix metalloproteinases		
MTS	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-		
	2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium)		
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide		
NF-KB	Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B		
NH4Cl	Ammonium Chloride		
NICD	Notch intracellular domain		
OCN	Osteocalcin		
OM	Osteogenic media		
ON	Osteonectin		
OPG	Osteoprotegerin		
OPN	Osteopontin		
PCL	Polycaprolactone		
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction		
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor		
PGA	Poly-glycolic acid		
рН	Negative log of hydrogen ion concentration		
PLA	Poly-lactic acid		
PLGA	Copolymer of PLA and PGA		
Ptch	Patched		
РТН	Parathyroid hormone		
PMMA	Poly-methyl-methacrylate		
PMNs	Poly-morphonuclear leukocytes		
PMS	Phenazine methosulfate		
QUAD	Quadrupole time-of-flight		
RANK	Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B		
RANKL	Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B ligand		
RBPjk	Immunoglobulin Kappa J Region		
rhBMP-2	Recombinant human BMP-2		
rhBMP-7	Recombinant human BMP-7		
hTGF-β	Recombinant Human Transforming Growth Factor		

RIPA	Radio immunoprecipitation assay
Runx2	Runt-related transcription factor 2
SD	Standard Deviation
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
Shh	Sonic Hedgehog
sFRPs	Secreted frizzled related proteins
Smo	Smoothened
ST2	Mouse bone marrow stromal cells
ТСР	Tricalcium phosphate
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-β
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-a
TNFRI	Tumor necrosis factor receptor-I
TNFRII	Tumor necrosis factor receptor-II
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

### 1. INTRODUCTION

#### **1.1. CELLULAR BIOLOGY OF BONE**

Bone is a complex and highly mineralized tissue that supports framework of the body [1]. It has important functions including facilitation of movement, structural support, preservation of soft tissues [2], reservoirs for minerals and growth factors (GFs) [3]. Bone tissue has four types of cells: osteoclasts, osteoblasts, osteocytes and bone lining cells [4]. Osteoblasts are originated from mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and capable of regulation of organic matrix synthesis [5]. The commitment of MSCs into osteogenic lineage needs canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway that is essential for MSCs differentiation and osteoblasts formation [6].

Osteoblasts are responsible for collagen synthesis. Collagen proteins provide a framework which is essential for calcium phosphate deposition. Extracellular bone matrix is hardened by hydroxide and bicarbonate ions. The new bone that is composed of the osteoblasts is known as an "osteoid". Finally, several osteoblasts are entrapped in their own bone matrix, giving rise to osteocytes that finish the secretion of osteoid [7]. Osteocytes are plentiful cells in bone tissue and act as mechano-sensors. An interconnected network of osteocytes is responsible for the detection of mechanical pressures and loads. Additionally, they have an important role during bone remodeling, including regulation of osteoclasts and osteoblasts activities [8].

Osteoclasts are originated from the precursors of monocytes in the hematopoietic stem cells and they are terminally differentiated into multinucleated cells [9]. They degrade extracellular matrix in order to start bone remodeling [10]. Osteoclast activity is regulated by many factors such as cytokines, osteoprotegerin (OPG), receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B (NF-πB) ligand (RANKL), interleukin-1 (IL-1), interleukin 6 (IL-6), macrophage colony- stimulating factor (MCS-F) and parathyroid hormone [11-12].

Bone lining cells are inactive straight shaped osteoblasts and found on the bone surfaces. Even though their functions are not completely understood, they inhibit the direct communication between osteoclasts and mineralized matrix, as bone resorption does not take place. Moreover, they play major roles in osteoclast differentiation, OPG and RANKL secretions [13, 9].

### 1.1.1 Bone Matrix

Bone matrix possesses two substances; an organic matrix and inorganic salts [14]. The organic matrix includes collagenous proteins, mainly collagen type 1 (Col1A1), and noncollagenous proteins such as osteocalcin (OCN), osteonectin (ON) and osteopontin (OP) [15]. Small leucine- rich proteoglycans such as decorin, lumican and biglycan can be found in organic matrix [16]. Calcium and phosphate ions are the major inorganic salts of the tissue. They form hydroxyapatite crystals  $[Ca_{10} (PO_4)6(OH) _2]$  that are the main inorganic components of the bone. Highly organized collagen protein and the non-collagenous matrix proteins provides a framework for hydroxyapatite deposition and this association is able to rigidity and strength of the bone tissue [7, 9]. Bone matrix forms a well-organized framework which provides a mechanical support for the bone tissue. It has a remarkable role in maintaining the bone homeostasis. Moreover, it releases several molecules which affect bone cells activities [17].

### 1.1.2. Physiology of Bone Formation

Bone is regularly formed and reabsorbed in reply to changes such as mechanical loading, a wide range of endocrine and paracrine factors [18]. The process of bone remodeling contains highly well-orchestrated actions of osteoblasts, osteoclasts, bone lining cells and osteocytes. Coupling action between bone formation and resorption is described as a basic multicellular units (BMU) and it is necessary to maintain structural integrity [19]. Bone remodeling occurs asynchronously throughout the life. Osteoblasts and osteoclasts act independently within the bone [20]. Ossification is known as the formation of new bone by osteo-progenitor cells. The new bone formation has two important processes; an intramembranous ossification and an endochondral ossification.

#### 1.1.2.1. Intramembranous Ossification

Intramembranous bone formation takes place during flat bone formation of the skull, maxilla and mandible. It can also occur during bone healing. Intramembranous ossification has four steps: ossification center formation, calcification, trabeculae formation and periosteum growth (Figure 1.1) [7].

Intramembranous ossification starts as some of the MSCs begin to differentiate into osteoprogenitor cells, while other MSCs differentiate into capillaries. Osteoprogenitor cells initiate to differentiate into osteoblasts that form osteoid in the middle of cell accumulation [21].



Figure 1.1. Intramembranous ossification displaying; a) accumulation of osteoprogenitor cells, b) collagen network formed in the center, c) differentiation of MSCs into osteoblasts

that form osteoid in the middle of the gathering, d) new bone tissue produced by osteoblasts, and numerous osteoblasts begin to become osteocytes within the osteoid [7].

Osteoblasts secrete organic compounds of bone matrix, such as collagens and proteoglycans which are responsible for binding of calcium salts. Osteoid matrix becomes calcified throughout those binding. Deposition of minerals into bone matrix causes entrapping of the osteoblasts. When osteoblasts are entrapped, they start to become osteocytes [22]. By the way, osteogenic cells in the surrounding connective tissue continue to differentiate into new osteoblasts. Osteoid forms a trabecular matrix, whereas osteoblasts on the surface of the spongy bone turn into the periosteum. The periosteum then forms a sheet of the compact bone surface to the trabecular bone. The trabecular bone gathers nearby blood vessels that finally condense into red marrow [23, 21].

#### 1.1.2.2. Endochondral Ossification

Endochondral bone formation is a major embryonic process of bone formation. Cartilage tissue is progressively converted into vascularized bone tissue during endochondral ossification [24]. Endochondral ossification takes place at two sites of a long bone, including diaphyseal (primary ossification center) and epiphyseal (secondary ossification center) sites of the ossification [25]. It is also the primary process of bone repair [26]. Endochondral ossification initiates cartilage growth, continues with primary and secondary ossification center development, ultimately ends with articular cartilage formation and development of epiphyseal plate (Figure 1.2) [27, 22].

*Cartilage model growth:* Hyaline cartilage is used as a precursor molecule during endochondral ossification. Highly condensed mesenchyme and perichondrium form the cartilaginous tissue [28]. Some of the MSCs begin to differentiate towards chondrocyte lineage which then form the cartilaginous skeletal precursor of the bones. Chondrocytes continue cell division and start to secrete extracellular matrix proteins on the periphery cartilage surface. A new cartilage model which is known as a "growth plate" begins to grow in thickness, because of increasing more extracellular matrix and producing new chondrocytes from the perichondrium [29].

*Primary center of ossification*: Initial part of the ossification takes place primary center of the ossification in the center of diaphysis [30]. As blood vessels start to invade diaphyseal site, the perichondrium turns into periosteum that has a layer of osteoprogenitor cells. After periosteum formation, osteoprogenitor cells differentiate into osteoblasts. Osteoblasts start to secrete osteoid to form a bone collar. In the meantime, chondrocytes in the middle of ossification initiate to secrete alkaline phosphatase enzyme (ALP) which is responsible for mineral deposition. ALP provides calcification of the matrix [31]. Some of the hypertrophic chondrocytes are then undergone cell death by apoptosis and create a cavity within the bone. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is secreted by hypertrophic chondrocytes [32]. It induces spreading out blood vessels throughout the cavity. The blood vessels have osteoprogenitor cells and hematopoietic stem cells that will later create the bone marrow [25]. Meanwhile, osteoblasts begin to enter the cavity via the periosteal bud. Mineralized matrix acts as a scaffold for osteoblasts. Bone trabecula is formed by osteoid. After

osteoclast formation from macrophages, they begin to break down cancellous bone to form bone marrow cavity [33].





*Secondary center of ossification:* Secondary ossification occurs in the epiphyseal site of long bones. Secondary ossification is similar to primary ossification formation [34]. Cartilage tissue between primary and the secondary ossification centers is named as an epiphyseal plate. Cartilage tissue is then replaced by bone resulting in long bone growth. Secondary ossification continues until a person reaches in his mid-twenties, when the epiphyseal plate is fully replaced by bone. When the whole bone has been matured, epiphyseal ossification gradually overlaps the growth plate, finally, no further growth happens [35, 7]. Ossification plays a major role in the remodeling of the bone. It appears throughout a person's lifetime. Bone formation and resorption take place together systematically to reshape the skeleton, repair microfractures and protect calcium levels in the human body.

#### 1.1.3. Bone Remodeling

Bone remodeling occurs continuously in a balanced manner and involves mainly two subprocesses; bone formation and bone resorption which take place in a coordinated manner. Bone remodeling has five stages: activation, resorption, reversal, formation and quiescence stages (Figure 1.3) [36].

*Activation Stage*: Activation phase initiates recruitment and activation of mononuclear monocytes which are formed from osteoclast precursor cells [37, 38]. Osteoclast precursors are attached to the bone surface and become mature. Mature osteoclasts show their resorptive activities by secreting osteoclastic enzymes, such as cathepsin K, and hydrogen ions resulting in degradation of all elements in extracellular matrix.

*Resorption Stage:* When osteoclasts start to decompose whole bone matrix including collagen, osteoid and mineral matrix, macrophages induce release of GFs, such as transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) [39], platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), fibroblast growth factor (FGF) [40] and insulin-like growth factor I-II (IGF-I and II) [41]. The cavity on the trabecular bone surface which is named as a "Haversian canal" is formed as a consequence of osteoclastic activity [7]. Haversian canal formation continues 2-4 weeks during each bone remodeling period.

*Reversal Stage:* Following osteoclast-mediated resorption, monocytes remove the collagen remnants in Haversian canal and make arrangements on the bone surface [42]. Macrophages produce matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) that are responsible for matrix degradation [43]. Although coupling signals associating with bone resorption and bone formation have still been unknown, it has been proposed that the cells in reversal stage such as monocytes, preosteoblasts and osteocytes create coupling signals which permit the progression from resorption to formation within BMU [40]. Coupling signal molecules such as TGF- $\beta$ , PDGF, FGF, IGF-I –II and bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) can be stored in the extracellular matrix during bone resorption.

*Formation Stage*: When osteoclasts are resorbed, osteoblasts are then replaced on the bone surface to initiate bone formation. GFs stimulate osteoprogenitor cell proliferation.



Particularly, BMPs are considered as osteoinductive agents and responsible for the enhancement of osteoblast differentiation [44].

Figure 1.3. Bone remodeling stages. Quiescent stage: bone lining cells are lined on the bone surface. Activation stage: mature osteoclasts display their resorptive activities.
Osteoclasts reabsorb bone matrix components during resorption stage. Formation stage: osteoclasts are rechanged by osteoblasts inside osteoid. Extracellular matrix mineralization is initiated by osteoblasts. Reconstruction of new bone in a structure unit progresses to quiescent stage [46].

Osteoblasts start to express osteoid matrix proteins which fill resorption cavity. Furthermore, hydroxyapatite minerals are incorporated into this newly deposited matrix [45]. Osteoblasts continue to secrete those matrix components until they ultimately turn into bone lining cells. Then the bone surface is entirely covered by bone lining cells. Eventually, bone lining cells are attached to osteocytes in the extracellular matrix by a framework of canaliculi. As an equal amount of bone has been reabsorbed, remodeling period terminates. Following mineralization, some of the mature osteoblasts are subjected to cell death by apoptosis;

whereas the others continue to differentiate into osteocytes. The bone surface is reconstructed until remodeling period starts again [46].

*Quiescent Stage:* It is the stage of the bone during rest. All lining cells are inactive and maintained themselves attached to the bone surface. Factors in quiescent stage starting to bone remodeling are still not known.

### **1.2. BONE SIGNALING PATHWAYS**

Bone remodeling and growth provide an appropriate bone tissue structure and function. Bone tissue is regulated by systemic and local paracrine signals [47].

#### 1.2.1. Canonical Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway

Wnt proteins are a group of secreted proteins which play significant roles in the activation of cell proliferation, differentiation and function [48, 49]. Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin cascade is responsible for osteoblastogenesis, including stimulation of osteoprogenitor cells, suppression of osteoblast and osteocyte apoptosis [50]. Some of Wnt molecules, such as Wnt1, 3a, 4, 5, 10b and 13 play critical roles in bone formation [51]. Canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -Catenin signaling cascade contains binding of Wnts through Frizzled family receptors (Fzd) and their co-receptors comprising of low-density lipoprotein receptor-related proteins (Lrp) [52, 53]. This binding leads to activation of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway that causes an intracellular accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin [54, 55].

In the absence of the Wnts, cytoplasmic  $\beta$ -catenin is controlled by ' $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex' consisting of Axin, adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), and glycogen synthase kinase 3 $\beta$  (GSK3 $\beta$ ) and casein kinase 1 alpha (CK1 $\alpha$ ) [56]. Axin protein serves as a scaffolding protein to facilitate binding of all other members. Cytoplasmic  $\beta$ -catenin is phosphorylated by CK1 $\alpha$  and GSK3 $\beta$ . As a consequence of phosphorylation, polyubiquitination and proteasome-mediated degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin occurs [57]. Conversely, in the presence of the Wnts, they bind to their receptors and co-receptors, (Fzd and Lrp), following phosphorylation of the intracellular protein, which is called Disheveled (Dsh). Phosphorylated Dsh suppresses GSK3 $\beta$ . So,  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex is not formed as a consequence of GSK3 $\beta$  inhibition. As a result, cytosolic gathering of  $\beta$ -catenin is stabilized, translocate into the nuclei and binds to lymphocyte enhancer factor/T cell transcription factor (Lef/TCF) to regulate upregulation of the target genes (Figure 1.4) [58-60].

Nowadays, studies on the important role of Wnt signaling pathway in bone remodeling have been increased, since various human diseases such as osteoporosis, sclerosteosis, pseudo glioma syndrome and van Buchem's disorder have been related to abnormal canonical Wnt signaling cascade. Improvement of therapeutic targets for the cure of bone disorders has been focused by considering the significant role of canonical Wnt signaling pathway in osteogenic pathologies [61, 57].





Several extracellular proteins associated with bone biology regulate the activity of Wnt/βcatenin signaling pathway. They interact with either Wnt molecules or their receptors/coreceptors, Lrp5/Lrp6, Fzd. These secreted proteins such as the Dickkopf family of proteins (Dkk-1) [62-64], the secreted frizzled-related proteins (sFRPs) [65, 66], and sclerostin [67, 68] are capable of regulation of the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling cascade (Table 1.1). Dkk-1 is a soluble secreted protein and expressed by MSCs. It binds to Lrp5/6, and then inhibits Wnt-Lrp5 proteins interaction [69]. Dkk-1 also creates a complex with Wnt co-receptor, Lrp6 and other transmembrane protein, named Kremen. This formation complex starts to internalization and degradation of Lrp resulting in decreased Lrp for Wnt ligands. Dkk-1<sup>-/-</sup> mice have displayed an increase in bone formation [70]. It has been suggested that bone mineral density can increase in several models of bone disorders in mice by preventing Dkk-1 activity [71].

The sFRPs are competitively responsible for inhibition of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway [72]. sFRPs bind to Wnt molecules to inhibit their binding to Fzd and Lrp5/6 [73]. Particularly, sFRP-1 plays a important role in osteoblast formation and regulation of osteoblast/osteocyte apoptosis [74]. Deletion of the sFRP-1 gene (sFRP-1<sup>-/-</sup>) in mice results enhancement in trabecular bone mass. Moreover, sFRP-1 also binds to RANKL and thereby, osteoclast formation is suppressed [75].

Sclerostin is encoded by the SOST gene and produced by osteocytes. It serves as an antagonist of canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling cascade by inhibiting bone formation [76]. Sclerostin binds to co-receptor Lrp5/6 to avoid binding of other Wnt ligands to Lrp5/6 [77]. Mutations in SOST gene in humans result in sclerosteosis. Clinical studies have displayed that anti-sclerostin treatment in several rats enhanced bone mass and bone strength [78]. Moreover, studies have suggested that sclerostin can be an anabolic therapy for the treatment of bone mass diseases [79].

GSK3 $\beta$  is also another significant signal regulator for the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling cascade. In the absence of the Wnt signal, ' $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex' including GSK3 $\beta$ , initiates degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin. However, the activity of GSK3 $\beta$  molecule is modulated by its inhibitor or small molecules, so that target genes are expressed for the enhancement of bone density [80, 81, 58]. Lithium chloride (LiCl) is used as an inhibitor of GSK3 $\beta$  to improve bone mass and reduce fracture risk. It has been shown that treatment with LiCl of MSCs stimulates differentiation of the MSCs into osteoblasts. Studies in rat models displayed that bone mass is increased by inhibition of GSK3 $\beta$  using small molecule, called GSK3 $\alpha$ / $\beta$  dualinhibitor [82-84].

Therapeutic Targets	Roles	Agents	Physiological Mechanisms	Potential Effects
Sclerostin	Suppresses canonical Wnt/β- catenin signaling by binding LRP5/6	Anti- sclerostin antibody (AMG 785)	Neutralizes sclerostin	Enhanced bone mass and strength
Dickkoppf (Dkk-1)	Inhibits β-catenin signaling pathway by binding to low- density lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP)	Anti-Dkk-1 antibody (BHQ 880)	Neutralizes Dkk-1	Decreased bone loss in rheumatoid arthritis in mice Increased fracture healing
Secreted frizzled- related protein (SFRP)	Suppresses β- catenin signaling by binding toWnt molecules	Diphenylsulf onyl sulfonamide	Suppresses SFRPs	Suppresses SFRP-1 <i>in</i> <i>vitro</i> models and stimulates bone formation <i>ex vivo</i>
Glycogen synthase kinase β (GSK3β)	Proteasomal degradation of β- catenin	Lithium GSK3β inhibitors	Inhibits GSK3β	Increases fracture repair and avoids tumor growth in multiple myeloma mouse. Enhances bone mass in normal mice.
β-catenin	Binds to T-cell factor/ lymphoid enhancer-binding factor (Tcf/Lef- 1) and activates expression of target gene	Deoxycholic acid	Regulates activation of β catenin	Activates of target gene expressions

Table 1.1. Potential therapeutic targets and their physiological roles in canonical Wnt/βcatenin signaling pathway [60].

Understanding the function of canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway is essential for the development of new pharmaceutical approaches for the treatment of bone diseases and fracture healing. Antibodies against Wnt antagonists, particularly anti-sclerostin, anti-Dkk-1 and anti-sFRP-1 proteins have been candidates as therapeutic targets to increase bone formation and decrease bone loss [51]. Modulation of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling cascade has served as a promising strategy to enhance bone density through using of GSK3 $\beta$  inhibitors. Although these novel therapeutic targets offer great approaches, systemic regulation of Wnt signaling pathway may have carried several potential risks. Long-term safety of these therapies should be determined [79].

### **1.2.2. TGF-β/BMP Signaling**

TGF- $\beta$  superfamily includes over forty secreted members, including TGF- $\beta$ s, activin and BMPs which have significant roles in regulating cells proliferation, differentiation, adult tissue homeostasis and embryonic development [85]. TGF- $\beta$ /BMP signaling is a key element in bone formation by providing homeostasis of bone function. It increases proliferation of osteoprogenitor cells and differentiation of MSCs towards osteogenic lineage via the Smad-independent pathway, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade (MAPKs) and Smad-dependent pathway [86, 87].

BMPs are expressed by osteoblasts and they are potent inducers of bone formation [87-90], BMP-2, -4 -7 and -9 stimulate both endochondral and intramembranous ossification. Meanwhile, BMP-2 and 6 have considerable roles on induction of MSCs differentiation into osteoblasts [91, 92]. BMPs have two different subtypes of receptors, which are named as BMPR-I and BMPR-II that are serine-threonine kinase receptors. When BMPs bind to their receptors, BMPR-II, quaternary complex is formed. This complex is then transphosphorylated to BMPR-I. After that, it activates intracellular Smad proteins which then translocate into the nuclei to mediate as transcription factors (Figure 1.5) [93, 51]. One of the BMP-Smad target genes is Runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2) that is responsible for bone formation. Mutations in Runx2 cause degradation of Smad-Runx2 interactions. Consequently, early osteoblasts differentiation is inhibited [94]. *In vitro* experiment in human marrow stroma-derived cell line has showed that BMP-2 treatment enhances expression of Runx2 gene and ALP protein [95]. Smad-independent pathway requires the interaction of BMP with its receptor, BR1a. Activation of BR1a initiates other downstream signaling pathways, including extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), map kinase p38, and C-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK). It has been suggested that protein-protein interactions of BMP receptors with downstream signaling molecules activate Smad-independent pathway, resulting in expression of the target gene. Although Smad-independent pathway initiation is not very well known, BMPs activate ERK, JNK and map kinase p38. Thus, they are able to show their effects on cell proliferation, migration, and MSCs differentiation [96-98].

TGF- $\beta$ /BMP signaling pathway has remarkable roles in bone tissue homeostasis. It is regulated by several ligand-receptor complexes and transduced by MAPK cascade and Smad proteins. Deterioration of this signaling pathway results in several bone diseases. Manipulating of TGF- $\beta$ /BMP signaling pathway might be therapeutic implications for the cure of various bone diseases such as osteoarthritis, osteoporosis and fracture healing [99, 100].

### 1.2.3. OPG/RANKL/RANK Signaling

RANK [101], its ligand (RANKL) [102], the decoy receptor for RANKL, OPG [103] are the members of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) family. They have major roles in controlled of bone resorption and balanced bone remodeling [36]. RANK binds to its ligand, RANKL, which provides a significant signal to develop osteoclasts from hematopoietic progenitor cells. RANK/RANKL complex is responsible for the stimulation of mature osteoclasts. OPG adversely regulates RANK activity by binding to RANKL. Consequently, OPG inhibits bone resorption. However, the relative ratio of RANKL/OPG detects the extent of the bone resorption [104]. Therefore, the ratio of RANKL to OPG expression is a key element of resorption stage. Loss of functional OPG in mouse causes brittle bones due to excessive bone resorption [103]. RANKL is a major element for formation of mature osteoclasts. It interacts with various downstream signaling molecules, such as NF- $\kappa$ B, TNF receptor associated factor-6 and MAPK [105, 106]. It also regulates expression of  $\alpha\nu\beta3$  integrin that is a part of osteoclast precursor cells. Proto-oncogene tyrosine- protein kinase (c-Src) is stimulated to activate GTPase that is necessary for the formation of actin. As a result, osteoclast proliferation and maturation occur [107-109]. Several studies exhibited the importance of



the RANKL gene. RANKL knockout mice have displayed lacking osteoclast cells resulting in osteoporosis [110, 111].

Figure 1.5. BMP signaling. BMP binds to its receptor BMPII, that transphosphorylases BMPI to stimulate Smad-dependent and independent pathways. In Smad-dependent pathway, Intracellular Smad proteins (Smad -1, -5 and -8) translocate into the nuclei, in which they gather co-factors and Runx2 to control the target gene upregulation. In Smadindependent signaling, phosphorylated TAK1 gather TAB1 to begin the p38, Erk or JNK signaling pathway, resulting in expression of Runx2. BMP signaling increases during osteoblast differentiation and maturation [101].

Several systemic osteotropic factors, such as  $1\alpha$ ,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3  $[1\alpha$ ,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>], prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> and Parathyroid hormone (PTH) also regulate osteoclastogenesis by inducing expression of RANKL [112, 113]. Expression of RANKL is increased by PTH. Besides, PTH regulates calcium concentration of serum, whereas,  $1\alpha$ ,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 is responsible for the absorption of calcium in the intestinal system and stimulation of osteoclasts. Macrophage-colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) and prostaglandin are secreted by osteoblasts. They regulate the formation of osteoclasts [114, 36].

Various studies have displayed that PTH enhances both bone formation (anabolic effect) and bone resorption (catabolic effect) in human, depending on the length of the treatment [115, 104]. RANKL-mediated osteoclastogenesis is stimulated during increasing level of PTH [116]. Osteoblasts secrete monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) that acts as a chemoattractant for osteoclast precursor cells. Meanwhile, they also express colony stimulating factor-1 (CSF-1) by responding increased level of PTH and hereby, RANKL/OPG modulates. CSF-1 and RANKL work together in a harmony; RANKL enhances osteoclast precursor cells proliferation and differentiation of osteoclast precursor cells into multinucleated osteoclasts (Figure 1.6). Thus, resorption activity of the mature cells is increased by RANKL [117]. At the same time, CSF-1 is also responsible for survival and proliferation of osteoclast precursors. It mediates cytoskeletal organization and spreading of mature cells [118, 46]. However, when expression of OPG is increased, the levels of RANKL and CSF-1 expressions are decreased resulting in a reduction of osteoclast formation [119].

RANKL/RANK/OPG signaling cascade are essential for osteoclast maturation and discovery of this pathway has opened a new avenue for the cure of bone related diseases including osteoporosis and rheumatoid arthritis [120, 121]. Consequently, controlling of RANK and RANKL expressions at the receptor level could be a remarkable therapeutic therapy in order to improve novel drugs for the treatment of systemic or local bone loss [122, 123]. Antibodies such as blocking RANKL can affect bone resorption. It was shown that parathyroid hormone-related peptide (PTHrP)-mediated bone loss resulted in a tremendous inhibition of bone resorption using OPG in mouse models. A monoclonal antibody, named Denosumab (AMG 162), binds to RANKL and thus mimics the effect of OPG. It has been applied as a novel therapeutic strategy for the treatment of osteoporosis in human [124, 125].



Figure 1.6. A diagrammatic representation of OPG/RANKL/RANK signaling in osteoclast differentiation. RANK interacting with RANKL stimulates differentiation of osteoclast progenitors. The decoy receptor for RANKL, OPG, regulates RANK activation. PTH induces RANKL-mediated osteoclastogenesis [120].

#### 1.2.4. Hedgehog Signaling Pathway

Hedgehog (Hh) signaling pathway [126] plays significant roles in bone development and homeostasis. Sonic Hedgehog (Shh) has the main function for the early stage of the embryonic limb development, whereas Indian Hedgehog (Ihh) possesses a vital role for endochondral ossification [127, 128]. Ihh, which is a secreted molecule of Hedgehog family, is expressed by early hypertrophic chondrocytes. Ihh signaling acts as a transition molecule within inner perichondral mesenchyme to start bone formation. It provides differentiation of osteoprogenitor cells into osteoblast precursors [129-131].

Basically, Runx2 expression [132, 51] is modulated by Hh signaling pathway (Figure 1.7). Hh binds to cell surface receptor, Patched (Ptch) and Hh/Ptch is activated by patchedmediated suppression of a transmembrane protein, named Smoothened (Smo). After that, Smo is stimulated in an intracellular signaling cascade following by stabilization of transcription factor Gli2. Furthermore, Gli2 induces other transcription factors, including Gli1 and another Hh target genes [133, 134]. Several reports suggested that degradation of Hh signaling cascade results in bone disorders. Deletion of Shh gene in mice leads to formation of skeletal malformations [135]. Moreover, it has been showed that Ihh<sup>-/-</sup> mouse embryos were lacking multiple early osteogenic markers such as Runx2, type I collagen and ALP [136, 137].



Figure 1.7. Hedgehog signaling in bone remodeling. As Hh binds to Ptch, Smo is activated by Hh/Ptch complex, resulting in stabilization of transcription factor, Gli that translocates into the nuclei to transcript Hh target gene [128].

### 1.2.5. Notch Signaling Pathway

In bone tissue, Notch signaling pathway affects both osteoblasts and osteoclasts. The Notch signaling depends on differentiation stages of the cells [138]. The Notch signaling pathway is a cell-to-cell signaling cascade that regulates cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis [139]. It is initiated when Notch ligands such as Jagged 1, 2 (JAG) and Delta-like 1, 4 (DLL) [140] interact with Notch receptors, Notch 1-4, which are expressed on the surface of neighboring cells [141]. Ligand binding causes to proteolytic cleavage [142] of

the Notch receptors via two mechanisms: i) a disintegrin and metalloproteinase family metalloproteinase tumor necrosis  $\alpha$  conversion enzyme (ADAM/TACE) [143], ii)  $\gamma$ -secretase complex. Consequently, Notch intracellular domain (NICD) is released. After that, NICD translocates into the nuclei in which it binds to recombination signal binding protein for immunoglobulin kappa J region (RBPj $\kappa$ ), transforming it from a repressor into an activator. At the same time, Mastermind-like protein (MAML) also binds to NICD-RBPj $\kappa$  to create a complex. Afterward, NICD-RBPj $\kappa$ -MAML complex initiates upregulation of Notch target genes including the transcriptional repressors hairy and enhancer of split (HES) and HES-related with YRPW motif (HEY) (Figure 1.8) [144, 145].

Notch signaling can either suppress or induce osteoblast differentiation. It inhibits terminal differentiation of osteoprogenitor cells. Nonetheless, mature osteoblasts are not affected [146, 147]. Activation of the Notch signaling in osteogenic lineage at various stages of differentiation causes Notch arrested differentiation of the pre-osteoblasts resulting in osteopenia [148] because of the enhancement of osteoclasts activities. Osteoprogenitor cells in an undifferentiated stage are maintained by activation of the Notch signaling [149].

Although, Notch signaling causes suppression of osteoblasts differentiation by inhibition of osteogenic markers including Runx2, ALP, Col1A1 and OCN, activation of Notch signaling in mouse osteoblast precursor cells shows induction of osteoblasts differentiation [150]. Loss of functions of Notch 1 and 3 promotes a number of osteoclasts due to stimulation of cell proliferation. Studies suggested that Notch-1 receptor causes a reduction of M-CSF expression and an increase in RANKL/OPG expression. As a result, osteoclastogenesis in stromal cells is decreased. Likewise, as Notch 1 is inactivated in osteogenic lineage, expression of RANKL is enhanced and OPG is reduced resulting in increased osteoclastic activity [151, 152].





#### 1.2.6. Signaling cross-talk in bone development

*Wnt, TGF-\beta/BMP signaling Pathway:* BMP signaling has dual effects in regulating Wnt signaling pathway. Cross communicate between canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway and TGF- $\beta$ /BMP signaling has a reverse effect on osteoprogenitor cells and cooperative effect in osteoblasts [129]. Activation of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway regulates differentiation of mesenchymal stem cell precursors into osteoprogenitor cells, whereas TGF- $\beta$ /BMP signaling indirectly increases chondrogenesis because of blocking Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin cascade [153, 127]. Viability and proliferation of osteoprogenitor cells are provided
by Wnt/β-catenin pathway, while TGF-β/BMP signaling pathway stimulates those cells to turn into mature osteoblasts [154, 155]. On the other hand, BMP signaling is responsible for regulation of osteoblast differentiation synergistically with canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling. Particularly, BMP-2 increases Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway by stimulating expression of several Wnt proteins and Lrp5 [156]. In the presence of the BMP signaling together with Wnt signaling, osteoblastogenesis is maximized, since Smad and LEF/TCF/βcatenin cooperatively affect each other. Consequently, the highest expression of osteoblast gene is observed [157]. However, various studies demonstrated that BMPR-1 mediated BMP signaling increases expressions of sclerostin and Dkk-1 that cause an inhibition of canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling. It indirectly regulates RANKL/RANK/OPG signaling resulting in osteoclastogenesis. Consequently, BMP signaling pathway regulates bone mass in a negative way by the stimulation of sclerostin expression and inhibition of canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling.

Cross-talk between BMP and Wnt signaling pathways have numerous different molecular steps such as Runx2, Dsh,  $\beta$ -catenin and GSK3 $\beta$  [51]. BMP signaling also regulates Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling via Smad molecules. Previous studies have exhibited that Smad1 inhibits activation of Dsh in the absence of Wnt molecules. As Wnt3a is found devoid of BMP-2 in mouse bone marrow stromal cells (ST2 cell line), Dsh is activated resulting in suppression of GSK3-mediated degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin. A reduction of Wnt3a is observed with the addition of BMP-2 since BMP might induce the formation of Smad-Dsh complex [158]. Otherwise, it has been suggested that BMP-2 increases Wnt signaling by expression of various Wnt receptors and ligands [159].

*Hedgehog, BMP and Wnt Signaling Pathway:* BMP signaling pathway and Hh signaling pathway seem to have a cooperative effect on osteogenesis in MSCs. Shh/Ihh treatment of either mouse embryo mesenchymal stem cells (C3H10T1/2 cells) or mouse osteoblast precursor cells (MC3T3-E1 cells) stimulate ALP activity synergistically with BMP-2 [160]. Integration of Hh signaling with Wnt signaling in osteoblast differentiation occurs in a cooperative way. Ihh<sup>-/-</sup> mouse embryos showed a lack of  $\beta$ -catenin accumulation since Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling was broken down in the absence of Ihh signaling [137]. Even though *in vitro* and *in vivo* findings have suggested that Hh signaling induces expression of Runx2 and differentiation of MSCs towards osteoprogenitor cells, further studies are need to understand the downstream of the canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway [161, 162].

*Notch, Wnt and BMP signaling:* Notch and BMP signaling pathways work together synergistically to enhance osteogenic differentiation [51]. Several studies proposed that Notch signaling in osteoblastogenesis increases BMP-induced signaling. Activation of Notch signaling in MC3T3-E1 cells with the addition of adenovirally-overexpressed Notch intracellular domain resulted in stimulation of BMP-2-stimulated osteoblastogenesis. An increase in the level of ALP activity and extracellulae matrix mineralization were demonstrated [150]. However, suppression of Notch signaling resulted in a reduction of promoter activity of BMP target genes followed by a decrease in ALP activity [163]. Conversely, the integrated effects of those signaling pathway have been created dichotomous results. Another study displayed that activation of Notch targets, Hey 1, inhibited BMP-2-stimulated osteoblast differentiation in MC3T3-E1 cells [160]. In the same way, BMP-2 treatment of MC3T3-E1 cells regulates the induction of Hey1 expression [164, 51].

### **1.3. BONE GRAFTING**

Bone repair is a complicated, well-organized physiological mechanism of bone remodeling that has occurred during continuous bone remodeling throughout adult life and normal fracture healing in response to damage [165]. It has series of biological events involved in coordinated actions of a lot of cell types and complex molecular signaling cascades to reconstruct skeletal function [166]. Nevertheless, there are several clinical circumstances where bone regeneration is required on a large-scale including skeletal reconstruction of massive bone disorders, skeletal abnormalities, trauma and tumor resection [167]. Although standard approaches have been broadly used in clinical practice for augmentation of bone regeneration, there has been the usage of different strategies for enhancement of inadequate bone regeneration including autologous bone grafts, allogeneic bone grafts, bone graft substitutes and growth factors. A bone graft is described as an implanted material which enhances bone repair [168-171].

Bone graft materials are the second most commonly used transplantation tissue after blood in the human body [172] and approximately 2.2 million surgeries [173, 174] have been carried out each year worldwide in the field of orthopedics, dentistry and neurosurgery, including traumatology, maxillofacial and plastic surgery [175, 176]. Particularly, bone grafts are mainly used for major indications in orthopedics following; i) reconstruction of skeletal defects, including tumors, osteotomies and trauma; ii) enhancement of fracture repair, for the cure of non-union and delayed-union; iii) fusing joints; augmentation of joint reconstruction, such as large bone loss in revision arthroplasties [177]. Beyond how often bone grafts are used, it is noted that the use of appropriate and effective bone grafts requires not only proper technical surgical skills, including harvesting procedure and delivering graft to host site, but also a profound theoretical knowledge of its biological and mechanical mechanism during host-graft integration [178, 167].

### 1.3.1. Properties of bone grafts

Bone grafts show biological and mechanical features. The biological properties can be divided as follows: osteoconduction, osteoinduction and osteogenesis. The primary function of bone grafts is to enhance bone healing by supporting new bone formation. Bone grafts ensure a framework so that new bone can be constituted due to osteoconduction, osteoinduction and osteogenesis [179]. They should have at least two of these biological features [180]. Osteoconduction is the process that provides a framework for ingrowth of new bone. Bone grafts have a porous three-dimensional structure which supports migration of host cells including MSCs, osteoblasts, and osteoclasts [181].

Grafts are able to incorporate the graft with host bone for accomplished osteogenic activity. When a new bone starts to be formed, the graft initiates partial or entire resorption throughout bone formation [182]. Osteoinduction is described as an improvement of new bone formation by induction of host osteoprogenitor cells and differentiation of them into osteoblasts. MSCs around the host site are gathered and differentiated towards osteogenic lineage. This process is modulated by GFs including BMPs -2, -4 and -7, FGF, IGF and VEGF [183]. New bone growth can arise from live cells in the graft. Osteointegration refers to the capacity of chemical bonding to the host surface without aside of a layer of fibrous tissue [184].

Osteopromotion is defined as the capability of a substance to promote osteoinduction without having osteoinductive features [185]. Understanding of the mechanical and biological features of each graft material is essential to determine which bone graft is more suitable for a given situation (Table 1.2). Besides, the choice of an ideal bone graft depends

on other factors such as graft shape, size, volume, graft handling, cost and ethical issues [186].

### **1.4. TYPES OF BONE GRAFTS**

Bone grafts can be classified into various main categories such as autograft, allograft and xenograft. Autograft refers to a graft harvested from one site and transferred to another site within the same person, whereas tissue moved between two different donors of the same species is known as an allograft [187, 182]. Xenograft is described as a graft of tissue removed from a individual of one species and transferred into the recipient of other species [177, 179].

### 1.4.1. Autografts

Autogenous bone grafts are the most frequently used graft material in musculoskeletal reconstruction. They still remain as a "*gold standard*" [188] for bone regeneration since they show the best osteogenic, osteoinductive and osteoconductive properties. Autografts, including osteogenic cells and matrix proteins, enhance bone ingrowth. Moreover, they are able to complete major histocompatibility and they don't have any risk of disease transmission [180]. Nevertheless, there are several disadvantages for using autografts: i) additional surgical process, ii) inadequate amounts of graft material, especially in children and in revision restoration, iii) critical donor site morbidity, iv) postoperative complications such as muscle weakness, nerve injury, pain and infection, v) enhanced operation time, and vi) additional cost [189-191].

They can be cancellous, cortical (vascularized/non-vascularized) and bone marrow aspirate [192]. Sources of the autograft are the iliac crest, fibula, femoral head and the other long bones [193]. Cancellous bone autografts have more osteogenic capacity than cortical autografts since areas in cancellous structure permit wide distribution of nutrients and revascularization [194, 195]. Cancellous autografts are already re-vascularized and integrated rapidly with the host site because low pH and oxygen tension of the recipient site act as attractants to host undifferentiated MSCs to the graft site. Eventhough they possess

more osteogenic and osteoinductive abilities than other bone grafts, they lack important mechanical features [196-198].

Cortical autologous bone grafts have osteoconductive properties and their solid, highly organized structure cause a decrease in cellular activity, osteoinductive and osteogenic potentials [199]. Several studies suggested that after transplantation of cortical autografts, osteocytes started to die resulted in a reduction of osteogenesis; on the other hand surviving osteoblasts can still display osteogenic features [200]. Consequently, cortical autografts are incorporated much slower than cancellous autografts [201].

The bone marrow is used to induce bone formation by regulation of GFs and cytokines that are secreted from transplanted cells [202]. It was previously thought that bone marrow includes a high amount of MSCs and promotes osteogenic capacity. Nevertheless, recent research has exhibited that the existing amount of MSCs in bone marrow aspirate is importantly much lower than as earlier thought [183]. The efficiency of bone marrow in fracture repair actually comes from GFs and endothelial progenitor cells which are able to induce angiogenesis and re-build up blood flow at the host site [203]. In spite of possible indirect osteoinductive feature of bone marrow aspirate, it does not give any structural support. Moreover, its viscous form causes leakage from the host site. The mixture of bone marrow with demineralized bone matrix (DBM) is a great carrier due to osteoinductive and osteoconductive properties of the carrier. It is usually used to fill bone defects [204, 205]. Proliferation and differentiation of MSCs in bone marrow can also be enhanced by combining bone marrow aspirate in collagen [206].

### **1.4.2.** Allografts

Allogeneic bone grafts are obtained from human cadavers, then processed for sterilization before transplanting into a patient [207]. They display osteoconductive and occasionally osteoinductive capacities which are determined according to harvesting and preparation processes. They don't contain viable osteogenic cells [199, 200]. Allogeneic bone grafts are usually used when there is a massive bone loss that requires structural support or when insufficient autograft volume is available [207]. Limitations of the use of autografts can also be accomplished by the use of allografts. Main advantages of allogeneic bone grafts have

their availability in different sizes and shapes, prevention of the requirement to sacrifice host bone tissue and avoidance of the morbidity [206]. However, the most important concern with the use of allografts is the probability of viral disease transmissions such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis B and C. Furthermore, toxins and autoimmune diseases have been reported [208, 209].

A bone banking system is essential to provide safety issues of allografts. American Association of Tissue Banks outlined a standard including sterile processing, rapid procurement, and donor screening [210]. The USA Food and Drug Administration (FDA) requires HIV and hepatitis tests. Preparation procedure of allografts is another limiting factor [211]. The irradiation causes a reduction of graft-host osseo-integration [212]. Effective vascular infiltration is not provided in the presence of immune responses. Consequently, osseo-integration of the graft to host site is decreased and fibrous tissue is occurred rather than new bone formation [213-215].

Allografts are available in many forms including cortical grafts, cancellous bone chips, cortico-cancellous grafts, osteochondral segments and DBM [206]. Cancellous allograft is used to fill osseous defects, including total hip arthroplasty associated with retro-acetabular osteolysis [179]. Although its mechanical strength is similar to autogenous cancellous grafts, it shows relatively poor enhancement of bone healing because of preparation process that eliminates growth factors [199]. Consequently, it is only used as an osteoconductive graft. On the other hand, cortical allografts are used to fill massive defects and give rigid structural support [216]. Even though they have both osteoinductive and osteoconductive properties, they undergo slow vascular invasion and gradual integration, due to their solid structure [47]. Osteochondral allografts possess articular cartilage, diaphyseal cortical bone and metaphyseal spongy bone and they are generally used in joint reconstruction [183].

DBM is mainly used in a structurally stable environment since it does not provide any structural strength. DBM has an osteoconductive (type I collagen and non-collagenous protein) and osteoinductive potentials (FGF, PDGF, IGF, BMPs and TGF- $\beta$ ) [217]. The mineral substances of the allogenous bone are usually eliminated by demineralization method to get demineralized bone matrix. Moreover, DBM acts as an appropriate carrier for bone marrow aspirate. Moreover, it re-vascularizes rapidly and several proteins and GFs existing in the host bone matrix are attracted by DBM [218, 207]. However, DBM has a

number of limitations including potential infectious disease transmission, particularly HIV. Besides, different batches can have different features due to a number of donors used in the harvesting of grafts [206].

### 1.4.3. Bone Graft Substitutes

Synthetic ceramic-based bone graft substitutes are an alternative to both allogeneic and autologous bone grafts. They have osteoconductive capacity and can be found in various forms, such as blocks, pellets, granules, powders, coatings and cement [219]. They permit migration and proliferation of osteogenic cells. Reabsorption of the bone graft substitutes are related to the host site and type of the materials used [217]. The porous structure of bone graft substitutes is essential for supporting new bone formation. Migration of MSCs and infiltration of blood cells are provided by their 3D structure [220].

### 1.4.3.1. Calcium Phosphate Based Bone Graft Substitutes

Among various ceramic-based bone graft substitutes, synthetic forms of calcium phosphate based substitutes, including  $\beta$ -tricalcium phosphate ( $\beta$ -TCP), hydroxyapatite (HAp) and calcium phosphate cement (CPCs) have been used in orthopedics and dentistry for long years [221, 222]. Osteoconductive capacity, biodegradability, the absence of toxicity, bioactivity and lack of disease transmission are several advantages of their usage. Nonetheless, they have several limitations regarding the lack of osteogenic and osteoinductive potential and minimal mechanical support [223, 173].

 $\beta$ -TCP [Ca<sub>3</sub> (PO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>] is a biodegradable and biocompatible calcium salt-based bone graft substitutes. It is used as void fillers in orthopedic and dental operations [224, 206]. The chemical composition of  $\beta$ -TCP is similar to mineral phase of bone. The small particle size and micro-porous structure of  $\beta$ -TCP provide an enhancement of its osteoconductive feature and improvement of timely resorption during bone remodeling [225]. Several studies have exhibited that  $\beta$ -TCP together with osteoinductive proteins show osteogenicity and effective healing for large bone defects [226, 227]. Nevertheless,  $\beta$ -TCP sometimes processes reabsorption more quickly than new bone formation following an imbalance between  $\beta$ -TCP and new bone replacement [180, 208]. Synthetic HAp  $[C_{10} (PO_4)_6 (OH)_2]$  which is the major mineral substance of the bone possesses osteoconductive capacity and biocompatibility. It was shown that although HAp has no osteoinductive role, MSCs can still differentiate into osteoblasts and so a new bone is formed [228]. Additionally, HAp has been usually used to cover metal implants to improve their graft-host osseo-integration. The porous structure of HAp allows migration of osteogenic cells and invasion of blood cells. HAp supports to begin bone remodeling. Even though HAp provides a great compressive strength, it shows an insufficient tensile strength [208]. It can be fragile and weak particularly under shearing forces. In spite of its biocompatibility, it shows a low solubility [47].

CPCs are the combination of calcium carbonate, monocalcium phosphate and  $\beta$ -TCP. They are essentially used as filling materials [173]. They can be pasted or injectable and react in the body temperature. Deposition of calcium phosphate results in improvement of host-graft matrix interface strength [229]. Although degradation rate of the CPCs is associated with physio-chemical properties of the host site, CPCs are degraded in a few months [230]. Moreover, CPCs have the highest compressive strength when compared to other bone substitutes [231].

### 1.4.3.2. Bioactive Glass & Glass Ionomers

Bioactive glass (commercial name Bioglass®) ceramics mainly consist of sodium oxide, silica, calcium phosphates and oxides [206]. They have osteoconductive capacities and are able to bind directly to bone. They can be available as fibers, beads and porous structures. They have been broadly used for filling bone defects alone [232, 233]. They have been also used as a graft expander to enhance their osseo-integration in a mixture of either autografts or allografts [234, 235].

Bioactive glass-ceramics can be adhered to the host site without forming intermediary fibrous tissue [236, 237] resulting in a series of reactions on the surface of the bioactive glass [238]. They directly bind to collagen, GFs and fibrin to create a microporous extracellular matrix which permits migration of osteoblasts. They can be either completely absorbed by osteoclasts or can partially form little amount of fibrous tissue [239, 207].

Bioactive glass ionomer is a glass powder of aluminum, calcium and flora-silicate combined with a polyacrylic acid, polycarboxylic acid, citric acid and poly maleic acid. Its biocompatibility and osteo-integrative properties are similar to Bioglass®. Its porous structure permits osteoconduction. Moreover, it has high compressive strength like cortical bone [208]. Glass ionomer is not replaced by new bone due to lack of reabsorption. Consequently, it has been used as an alternative to poly-methyl-methacrylate (PMMA) which is a calcium phosphate-based cement. Moreover, glass ionomer releases GFs more slowly and effective than the PMMA [240].

Glass ionomers and bioactive glasses provide various advantages for bone formation in fracture healing. They provide an actual stability and strength for the surrounding bone tissue and immunogenic reactions are not occurred [241]. Nevertheless, the risk of fibrous tissue formation is the limitation of bioactive glass and glass ionomer [47]. Moreover, the metal ions found in glass ionomers can be toxic to bone cells resulting in inhibition of bone tissue formation [242].

### 1.4.3.3. Calcium Sulphate

Calcium sulfate (CS) bone graft substitute is defined as an alpha-hemihydrate and has primarily osteoconductive role. It provides efficient gap filler and allows vascular ingrowth and quick reabsorption [243]. It has been commonly used for filling of bone cysts, segmental bone defects and bone lesions [244]. Recently, several adverse effects were noted that CS is degraded too fast (approximately 12 weeks) and can display immune reactions without bone formation [245, 246].

### 1.4.3.4. Aluminum Oxides

Aluminum oxide [Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>] is an element of various bioactive materials. It has been used as a graft substitute on its own. It has no osteointegration with host site due to lack of ionic exchange between implant and bone. It has been used as graft expanders for wedge osteotomies. However, its application in the orthopedic field has been restricted due to insufficiency in osteointegration. It has been widely used in dentistry, particularly in orbital implants and ossicular replacements [247, 208].

### 1.4.3.5. Polymer-based bone graft substitutes

Polymers are covalently bound repeating monomers. They can be either linear chains or cross-linked with other chains [248]. Polymers are promising bone graft substitutes. They exhibit different chemical, physical and mechanical properties. They can be classified as natural and synthetic polymers. They are used either alone or combination with other grafts [206].

Graft Types	Definition	Examples	Features of action	
Autologous bone grafts	Used alone		Osteoconductive Osteoinductive Osteogenic	
Allogeneic bone grafts	Allogeneic bone graft used alone or in mixture with other bone grafts	Allegro, Orthoblast,	Osteoconductive Osteoinductive	
Growth Factors	Recombinant growth factors used alone or in mixture with other bone grafts	b-FGF, rhBMP- 2,-7, TGF-β, PDGF,	Both osteoinductive and osteoconductive with carrier materials	
Usage of Cells	Cells used to form new bone alone or harvested onto a scaffold	Mesenchymal stem cells	Osteogenic, Both osteogenic and osteoconductive with carrier materials	
Ceramic based bone graft substitutes	Contains calcium sulfate, bioactive glass and glass ionomers used alone or in mixture with other grafts	Osteograf, Osteoset, NovaBone	Osteoconductive	
Polymer based bone graft substitutes	Contains biodegradable and nondegradable natural and synthetic polymers	Cortoss, OPLA, Immix	Osteoconductive biodegradable polymers	
Miscellaneous	Coral HA composites	ProOsteon	Osteoconductive	

Table 1.2. Properties of bone grafts and their substitutes [206].

Natural polymers such as hyaluronic acid (HA), collagen act as a natural biological guidance to bone cells. Although they support cell proliferation and enhancement of chemotactic responses, they have several limitations including the risk of disease transmission, immunogenicity and weak mechanical properties (Stevens 2008). Besides, synthetic polymers such as polyglycolic acid (PGA), polylactic acid (PLA), a copolymer of PLA and PGA (PLGA), poly-fumarates and polycaprolactone (PCL) provide great alternatives. They can be processed using different methods to create series of 3D scaffolds [249].

Many of bone graft materials have been only showed classical scaffolding properties: osteointegrative and osteoconductive. Conversely, osteoinduction and osteogenesis are essential for differentiation of MSCs into osteogenic lineage resulting in an enhancement of new bone formation. Nowadays, various methods have been improved to provide those two properties in order to increase an effectiveness of new bone regeneration [47]. New strategies, including gene therapy, novel biological approaches, bone tissue engineering by using stem cells, scaffolds and GFs have been evaluated for bone healing. Furthermore, three-dimensional printing would be in a preliminary stage of new inspiration in the near future of the bone regeneration [207].

# **1.5. FRACTURE HEALING MECHANISMS**

Fracture repair is regulated by molecular and cellular mechanisms of bone tissue involved in various changes of the expression of numerous genes [250]. Even though several pathways of bone regeneration are entirely not comprehended, all pathways of biochemical events have been thoroughly considered to give a general point of view about how fracture heals. Fracture healing is a well-organized process, including bone cells, GFs, cytokines and inflammatory cells [1]. The coordinated manner of these molecules results in reconstruction of normal bone tissue. In spite of regenerative capacity of bone tissue, biological process of bone regeneration is sometimes unsuccessful during fracture healing following by nonunions, pseudo-arthritis and malignant tumors. A better understanding of the biology of the fracture healing leads to the development of new strategies [251].

Fracture repair can be divided into two types: primary healing by internal modeling and secondary healing by callus formation [252]. Primary healing includes a direct interference into the cortex to rebuild itself without callus formation. It requires a rigid stabilization [253-255]. Primary healing is rare since it needs an anatomical reduction and firmly stable

conditions. Open reduction and internal fixation are usually required [256, 166]. Both intramembranous and endochondral ossification takes place during secondary healing.

Secondary healing is the most common type of bone repair and it follows four stages; i) inflammatory phase, ii) soft callus formation, iii) hard callus formation, and iv) bone remodeling (Figure 1.9) [257]. Fracture healing starts an acute inflammatory response resulting in recruitment of MSCs and follows differentiation of MSCs into chondrocytes. After formation of cartilage matrix, a transition from a calcified cartilage to bone tissue is occurred by resorption of calcified cartilage. At the same time, primary soft callus is formed by resorption to reconstruct the anatomical structure. The cellular and molecular mechanisms of those stages are firmly regulated by signaling molecules such as GFs and cytokines (Table 1.3) [258, 259].

*Inflammation:* When the fracture occurs, an inflammation stage begins quickly and ends until bone formation starts. The inflammatory response is essential for fracture healing [260]. Vascular endothelial injury leads to an activation of a cascade including recruitment of platelet cells and release of their  $\alpha$ -granule contents. Monocytes, macrophages and polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs) are attracted to the injury site and then they are stimulated to release cytokines which regulate angiogenesis [261, 259]. Inflammatory response causes a hematoma formation in medullary canal and around the fracture ends. Hematoma formation acts as a hemostatic filling for inhibition of further hemorrhage. Additionally, it serves as a fibrin network which is required for cellular migration [254]. It also aids as a source of signaling molecules that start molecular and cellular events of fracture healing [257]. The acute inflammatory response reaches at highest level within 24h and it is almost completed after 1 week of post-fracture [258]. Although pro- inflammatory cytokines have negative effects both on bone formation and transplanted grafts, secretion of cytokines following an acute injury is essential and critical for bone regeneration [253].

*Soft callus formation:* After hematoma formation and development of fibrin-rich granulation network, endochondral ossification occurs in the fracture sites and outside of the periosteal sites resulting in soft callus formation [262]. Soft callus formation is defined as the development of a callus tissue near the fracture site that gradually is turned into bone. Meanwhile, an intramembranous ossification takes place adjacent proximal and distal sites of the fracture, following by a hard callus formation. Bridging of the central hard callus

provides semi-solid structure to fracture that permits weight bearing [263, 253]. Role of the soft callus formation is to increase the mechanical stability of the fracture site by supporting fracture [211].

Damaged bone marrow, cortex, periosteum and other surrounding tissue cause a necrotic tissue near the fracture site. When the necrotic tissue starts to be reabsorbed, MSCs initiate formation of other cell types such as osteoblasts, chondrocytes and fibroblasts [260, 254].



Figure 1.9. Progression of bone healing. After the injury, inflammatory response immediately leads to secretion of cytokines and GFs that begin the process of fracture repair. MSCs proliferation and differentiation towards osteogenic lineage enhance the production of existing capillaries' from pre-existing blood vessels between days 1-7. New bone formation takes place through endochondral and intramembranous ossification which is ultimately mineralized. Mature bone is formed which is constantly remodeled rest of life 

 Table 1.3. Phases of bone repair and functions of signaling molecules during fracture healing [259].

Phases of Fracture Healing	Molecular Processes of Bone Repair	Functions of Signaling Molecules	
	Hematoma	Pro-inflammatory cytokines play critical roles in starting the repair cascade.	
Inflammatory Stage	Inflammation	TGF-β and BMP-2 expressions increase to begin callus formation.	
	Gathering of mesenchymal stem cells	GDF-8 is responsible for controlling cellular proliferation.	
	Chondrogenesis and endochondral bone formation initiates	Expressions of TGF-β2, -β3 reach at high levels because of their involvement in chondrogenesis and endochondral ossification.	
Cartilage Formation	Cell proliferation in intramembranous bone formation	BMP-5 and -6 increase	
	Vascularization	Angiopoietins and VEGFs are stimulated to activate vascularization from cappillaries in the periosteum.	
	Neo-angiogenesis		
	Stage of osteogenesis	TNF-α increases in related to cartilage resorption. This enhances the gatherin of MSCs and stimulates apoptosis of hypertrophic chondrocytes.	
	Recruitment of osteoblasts and woven bone formation	RANKL and MCSF increase.	
Cartilage Resorption and Primary Bone Formation	Chondrocyte apoptosis and matrix proteolysis		
	Osteoclast gathering and cartilage resorption	BMP-3, -4, -7, and -8 increase differentiation of MSCs towards osteogenic lineage.	
	Neo-vascularization	BMP-5 and -6 reach high levels during this phase. They are responsible for regulation both endochondral and intramembranous bone formation.	
Secondary Bone Formation and Remodeling	Bone remodeling	IL-1 and IL-6 increase again. However, RANKL and MCSF show decreased levels.	

Although several data has indicated that MSCs are originated from bone marrow, systemic circulation of MSCs into the peripheral blood can be considerably important in bone healing [264, 253]. However, which molecular pathways regulate recruitment of MSCs from peripheral blood is still not known. It has been proposed that BMP-2 has a critical role in the recruitment of MSCs [265]. Other studies have proposed that BMP-7 might play more significant role than BMP-2 in the MSCs gathering around the fracture sites [266]. BMP-2 is actually necessary for post-natal osteogenesis in bone healing but not for the gathering of MSCs.

Hard callus formation: When the fracture sites are fused to soft callus, hard callus formation continuous until the fragments are tightly linked together by new bone. Both hard and soft callus formation occur at the same time near the fracture site. Soft callus is transformed into rigid mineralized tissue, named woven bone [253]. When chondrocytes turn into hypertrophic cells, extracellular matrix starts to be calcified and soft callus becomes more rigid. Ingrowth of capillaries and enhancement of vascularization occur. Vascularization is primarily regulated by VEGF-dependent pathway and angiopoietin-dependent pathway [267]. Angiopoietins, mainly angiopoetin-1 and-2 which are vascular morphogenetic proteins are stimulated for enhancement of vascularization from existent capillaries in the periosteum. On the other hand, VEGF- dependent pathway plays a major role in the arrangement of vascular regeneration rather than vascular in-growth [268]. VEGF is expressed by hypertrophic chondrocytes. It increases invasion of blood vessels. It is responsible for converting the cartilaginous extracellular matrix into a vascularized bone tissue [269, 270]. Vascularization at the fracture site is followed by migration of osteoblasts and osteoclasts [257]. Well-organized actions of M-CSF, RANKL, OPG and TNF-a begin to resorb calcified cartilage [271]. It is thought that these molecules also regulate osteoblast and osteoclast formation. Furthermore, TNF- $\alpha$  induces recruitment of the MSCs. It might also start chondrocyte apoptosis [258]. Several studies showed that hard callus formation is generally completed at day 14 in animal models according to the results of histomorphometry of calcified tissue and measurement of levels of ALP, OCN, ON and Col1A1 [166].

*Remodeling:* Although hard callus formation provides a rigid structure to the fracture site, it does not completely reconstruct the biomechanical features of normal bone. A second resorptive stage of fracture healing occurs in order to provide more strong bone structure

than hard callus. For this reason, woven callus initiates to remodel slowly for turning into a lamellar bone [253, 258]. Resorption of excess callus proceeds and it can take years to be completed [272, 273]. Bone remodeling is regulated by cytokines, including TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1. High levels TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 expressions occur during bone remodeling. Furthermore, BMPs particularly BMP-2, are also expressed with high levels [274, 253]. Bone remodeling is accomplished by a balance of resorption of hard callus and formation of lamellar bone. The success of bone remodeling is associated with the progressive modification of fracture sites under the effect of optimal mechanical loads until bone cortex becomes similar to the original bone [254, 260].

# 1.6. MOLECULAR MECHANISM OF INCORPORATION OF BONE GRAFTS-OSSEO-INTEGRATION

Fracture healing around the grafts includes biochemical and cellular events that occur at the host-graft site interface until the graft surface eventually covered with a recently formed bone [275]. Although the biological mechanism of bone graft incorporation is fully not understood, that process is similar to the bone fracture healing mechanism. Stages of incorporation primarily initiate with the formation of hematoma and specific immune response, continues with vascular in-growth, focal osteoclastic resorption of the graft and it lasts with intramembranous/endochondral ossification on graft surface [276-279].

*Autograft incorporation*: After transplantation of autogenous cancellous bone graft, hemorrhage and inflammation rapidly occur. The graft is encircled by blood cells including lymphocytes, monocytes, leukocytes and macrophages. They are invaded from the recipient site into the graft site. The blood cells are activated and secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines, GFs and other soluble molecules [280]. Meanwhile, as macrophages are infiltrated, they remove necrotic tissue within the Haversian canals of the graft resulting in secretion of various cytokines and GFs which act as a chemo-attractant for MSCs. Neovascularization takes place within the graft at first 2 days, after graft transplantation. MSCs begin to differentiate under osteoinductive effects.

This stage of bone repair with cellular regeneration is defined as a primary stage of bone regeneration in which inflammation, revascularization, and osteoinduction continuously take

place with bone formation and resorption [183]. The secondary stage of bone regeneration is initiated by osteoclasts which reach at the graft site through the newly formed vessels. Osteoclasts remove the necrotic tissue, whereas osteoblasts initiate to lay down osteoid throughout the dead trabecula of the graft [182]. New bone formation is developed into mature Haversian canals and lamellar bone which tolerates normal shear and compressive forces. At the same time, autograft is gradually reabsorbed and gradually replaced by new host cells. MSCs start to form new bone marrow inside the transplanted graft [281, 282].

Bone remodeling can take several months to complete progress. Cortical autograft incorporation is similar to the cancellous autograft. However, the most apparent differences between cancellous and cortical autografts are in the rate of revascularization and amount of new bone formation. Cancellous autograft is re-vascularized more quickly and more completely than cortical autograft [283].

*Allograft incorporation:* Cancellous allografts show poor properties in bone healing as compared to cancellous autografts. After transplantation of cancellous allograft in the first 2 weeks, it invokes a comprehensive host response. The inflammatory response against the graft-derived cellular antigens leads to inhibition of GFs-mediated bone formation which is essential for host-graft incorporation. Furthermore, neovascularization is also delayed. New capillaries surrounded by inflammatory cells cause an occlusion and formation of necrotic tissue. After 8 weeks, the fibrous tissue starts to encapsulate the allograft. This stage takes 8 months or longer depending on an inequality in histocompatibility between the graft and the recipient site [284].

Cancellous allografts are incorporated much faster than cortical allografts. They serve as a scaffold onto which host bone is laid. They are completely not reabsorbed and so that they can stay entrapped inside the host bone [282]. Inflammatory response of cortical allografts is similar to that of cortical autografts. Nevertheless, an aggressive inflammatory response leads to occlusion of invading host capillaries and causes graft necrosis.

The new appositional bone formation occurs during the integration of cortical allograft. As a consequence of the lack of vascularization, the cortical allograft is less stable as compared to cortical autograft. Its incorporation can take up to 1 year, after its transplantation [285]. The duration of each stage during host-graft integration can change depending on the types

of graft. Incorporation of the cancellous autograft is the fastest and a complete one. It is followed by cortical autograft, cancellous and cortical allografts, respectively [183, 207].

### **1.7. BIOLOGICAL FACTORS IN FRACTURE HEALING**

There are various clinical circumstances which require promotion of bone regeneration either systemically or locally. A comprehensive understanding of the molecular mechanism during bone repair is fundamental for patient benefit. Further understanding of the role of cytokines and GFs is expected to facilitate the improvement of new anabolic and catabolic therapies for bone healing [252].

### 1.7.1. The Role of Proinflammatory Cytokines in Fracture Healing

Immune systems are necessary during anabolic and catabolic stages of bone repair. In the primary inflammatory phase of injury, immune functions clear away necrotic tissue, enhance angiogenesis and start repair [286, 287]. During inflammatory stage, pro-inflammatory cytokines are released by macrophages and other inflammatory cells including PMNs and cells of mesenchymal origin that are found in the periosteum [288]. Some of the pro-inflammatory cytokines are produced at a mid-stage in repair. Thereby, osteoclastogenic activity is induced to remove calcified cartilage and other cytokines are stimulated at a later phase during bone regeneration [259].

IL-1, IL-6 and TNF-α play significant regulatory roles in initiating fracture repair cascade [289, 258]. These pro-inflammatory cytokines have main functions during stimulation of downstream responses by acting as chemotactic stimulators on other inflammatory cells and gathering of MSCs resulting in enhancement of matrix synthesis, induction of angiogenesis and accumulation of endogenous fibrogenic cells to the site of the injury [289, 267]. Even though IL-1 is expressed at a low level throughout fracture healing, it shows high activities in the early inflammatory phase [288]. Besides, it induces the release of IL-6 and M-CSF. It is though that early expression of IL-1 may demonstrate a triggering mechanism which starts a cascade of events that regulate bone remodeling in fracture healing [290].

Expression of IL-1 also regulates angiogenesis. Furthermore, IL-1 might induce the activity of neutral proteases to degrade cartilaginous callus tissue [291, 254]. Various functions of IL-1 during bone repair may be associated with different expression levels of its receptors, IL-1RI and IL-1RII. In a mice model of bone repair, the expression of IL-1RII shows the same pattern as IL-1. On the other hand, IL-1RI displays very low level during the early inflammatory stage [289]. Moreover, several studies have suggested that IL-1RI<sup>-/-</sup> mice have reduced bone mass density and increased osteoclastic activity. Altogether, the significance of IL-1 molecular signal in bone hemostasis is emphasized [292, 293].

IL-6 is secreted by osteoblasts in response to secretion of IL-1 during fracture healing [294, 295]. IL-6 is only secreted during the initial phase of inflammation. It increases angiogenesis in regulating the release of VEGF. It also regulates differentiation of osteoblasts and osteoclasts resulting in enhancement of the production of cartilaginous callus at the injured site. The expression of IL-6 remains basic levels in the remodeling phase. Two weeks after injury, IL-6 knockout mice had decreased extracellular matrix mineralization and enhanced cartilage tissue in the fracture site. However, 4 weeks after fracture, bone repair is more comparable to that of IL-6 knockout mice [296]. In human patients, IL-6 stays high levels for a few months, after the fracture occurs. High level of its expression is connected with the reduced load-bearing capacity at the fracture site [297, 293].

TNF- $\alpha$  enhances recruitment of MSCs and stimulates apoptosis of hypertrophic chondrocytes. It also regulates the osteoclastic activity of osteoclasts. In the absence of TNF- $\alpha$ , resorption of calcified cartilage is delayed. Thus, its absence causes prevention of new bone formation. TNF- $\alpha$  has been displayed in the induction of differentiation of MSCs into osteoblasts [298, 258, 267].

TNF- $\alpha$  receptors, TNFRI and TNFRII that are secreted by both osteoblasts and osteoclasts, follow a biphasic pattern. TNFRI is always presented in bone, while TNFRII is only secreted following a bone fracture. So, TNFRII has more specific role than that of TNFRI during fracture healing [293]. It was showed that TNF- $\alpha$  signaling increased bone formation both in normal and TNFRI<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Nevertheless, TNFRII-deficient mice showed TNF- $\alpha$ -signaling induced osteoclasts differentiation and bone resorption [299].

The expression level of TNF- $\alpha$  peaks 24h after injury in mice models and returns to its normal level in 72h [258]. During this period, it is believed that TNF- $\alpha$  signaling induces the

secrete of secondary signaling molecules and shows a chemotactic stimulator, gathering cells which are essential for bone remodeling. Besides, the expression level of TNF- $\alpha$  increases again 2 weeks later, during endochondral ossification [293].

OPG and RANKL are the two members of the TNF- $\alpha$  superfamily and play key regulatory roles in osteoclastogenesis in control of bone mass. The levels of their expression increase after the initial injury and in the course of the period of cartilage resorption. However, the expression levels of RANKL, OPG and M-CSF begin to reduce during the stage of secondary bone formation and bone remodeling. On the other hand, IL-1 and IL-6 expressions rise during late stage of bone remodeling [258, 259].

### 1.7.2. The role of GFs in Fracture Healing

The process of fracture healing can be divided into distinct stages and a large number of cytokines, GFs, receptors, and intermediate signaling molecules have major roles during each stage of bone repair [254]. GFs are the most important molecules during fracture healing (Table 1.4).

TGF- $\beta$  superfamily includes numerous growth and differentiation factors such as BMPs, TGF- $\beta$ , growth differentiation factors (GDFs), activins, inhibins and Mullerian inhibiting factors. Particular members of that family such as BMPs and TGF- $\beta$  enhance both endochondral and intramembranous ossification during fracture repair [300, 259]. TGF- $\beta$  is secreted by platelets, inflammatory cells including monocytes, macrophages, as well as by osteoblasts, osteoclasts and chondrocytes at the later stages [257]. It is weakly present in hematoma during the early phase of the inflammatory response. However, it is highly expressed during intramembranous ossification and endochondral ossification [301].

TGF- $\beta$  has several roles including MSCs proliferation and differentiation [302]. It regulates mineralization of cartilage matrix and stimulates osteoblastic activity. It also increases the production of extracellular matrix proteins including collagen, ALP, ON, OP and proteoglycans [303]. However, TGF- $\beta$  is thought to have significant roles during chondrogenesis. Moreover, it might also begin a cascade for BMPs synthesis. It may inhibit the formation of osteoclasts and enhance apoptosis of osteoclasts. Even though, previous studies have suggested that TGF- $\beta$  induces cellular proliferation, osteoinductive potential of TGF- $\beta$  seems to be limited in terms of unexpected side effects [304-306].

BMPs are secreted by MSCs, osteoprogenitor cells, osteoblasts and chondrocytes. They stimulate a consecutive cascade of events for chondro-osteogenesis. They have major roles such as chemotaxis, differentiation of MSCs, the proliferation of osteoprogenitor cells, angiogenesis and regulation of synthesis matrix proteins. Recent studies have showed that particularly, BMP-2, -4 and -7 play a key role during fracture healing. In studies of mice fracture healing, the expression of BMP-2 displays a maximum level in 24h of fracture. Thus, it was proposed that BMP-2 has a key role especially in the beginning of the repair cascade [307-309, 265]. In a rat model, MSCs which have migrated into the injury site exhibited an increased level of BMP-2 and -4 expression [254, 304]. Further studies have proposed that BMP-2 is necessary for the late phase of bone repair and genetically associated with the protection of normal bone mass [310, 265].

GFs	Sources	Functions
TGF-β	Bone matrix, platelets and chondrocytes	Induces undifferentiated MSCs into osteoblast lineage; mitogenesis to regulate collagen and proteoglycan synthesis
FGF	Osteoblasts, chondrocytes Macrophages, and MSCs	Enhances osteoblasts and chondrocytes proliferation and promotes collagen formation
PDGF	Endothelial cells, platelets, osteoblasts	Stimulates collagen secretion; mitogenic activity for MSCs and osteoblasts
IGFs	Osteoblasts and Chondrocytes	Increases bone remodeling and regulates osteoblast proliferation and chondrocyte formation
VEGF	Vascular endothelial cells, osteoblasts	Enhances angiogenesis mitogenesis for endothelial cells
BMPs (-2, -4, -7)	MSCs, osteoprogenitor cells, osteoblasts	Enhances induction of osteo-progenitor cells to turn into osteoblasts

Table 1.4. Effects of growth factors during fracture healing.

PDGF is secreted by monocytes, platelets, macrophages and osteoblasts. It acts as a potent mitogen activator for cells of mesenchymal origin. It is synthesized by platelets after immediate injury and serves as a chemotactic stimulator for other inflammatory cells including macrophages and monocytes [259]. PDGF possesses several roles including stimulation of MSCs proliferation and initiation of callus formation. It was shown that PDGF treatment in rabbits promoted bone formation related with healing in tibial osteotomies [311].

FGF is also synthesized by inflammatory cells, osteoblasts, MSCs, and chondrocytes. It induces cell proliferation and differentiation of various cell types including osteoblasts, chondrocytes, fibroblasts and myocytes. FGF has a critical role in angiogenesis resulting in blood vessel formation [312]. There are two forms of FGFs, named  $\alpha$ -FGF and  $\beta$ -FGF.  $\alpha$ -FGF regulates chondrocyte proliferation and it is necessary for maturation of those cells. However,  $\beta$ -FGF is produced by only osteoblasts during endochondral ossification and responsible for bone formation [267, 306].

IGFs are defined as somatomedins (IGF-I) and skeletal growth factor (IGF-II). Their sources are an extracellular bone matrix, osteoblasts, chondrocytes and MSCs. IGF-I increases extracellular matrix formation in regulating secretion of type I collagen and non-collagenous proteins [267]. On the other hand, IGF-II is a key regulator at a later stage of endochondral ossification and it induces type I collagen synthesis and cartilage matrix production [149, 307]. In addition to osteoblastic activity, it can also modulate osteoclastic activity during fracture repair [301]. VEGF is considered as a key factor in the first stage of fracture healing and bone regeneration. It is a primary regulator of angiogenesis and vascular endothelial proliferation [7]. It also plays a main role in neoangiogenesis and endochondral ossification [313]. Besides, fracture healing is enhanced by exogenous VEGF [33]. Various studies have displayed that BMPs induce the expression of VEGF and their receptors proposing a cross-talk between those two families, which increase new bone formation [314].

### **1.8. CLINICAL PROBLEMS IN FRACTURE HEALING**

Orthopedic injuries have been very common worldwide. Although bone tissue can regenerate spontaneously, it can fail resulting in delayed union or non-union during bone restoration. Fracture healing is normally cured by operations including osteotomies, arthrodesis and bone grafting for uniting fractures. However, the amount of osteoclasts and osteoblasts which make intracellular components of bone remodeling can't be enough to heal the bone tissue during fracture healing. Errors of mechanisms of local and systemic mediators' lead to abnormal bone healing resulting in numerous clinical problems [315].

Current options for the treatment of fracture healing start to turn into biological approaches. Several clinical approaches such as cell-based therapies, recombinant GFs and anabolic agents have been under investigation for bone repair. Even though strategies for using these components have been evolved, the transition from biological process to clinical practice has several obstacles that range from gaps in scientific knowledge to insufficient animal models [316, 317]. For that reason, viable regeneration of bone at the molecular level is the principal component of success in the point of view in clinical trials.

Accomplished fracture healing needs biologically effective micro-environment. Studies are required to optimize these therapies for the improvement of biologic potential at the fracture site in the treatment of delayed unions and non-unions [318].

### **1.9. AIM OF THE STUDY**

Given the proposed roles of numerous local molecular mediators during fracture healing, this study aims to investigate the potential influence of human BCPs onto hAD-MSCs. In the previous studies, the effects of the BCPs on hAD-MSCs in bone repair has not been discussed. Consequently, this study seeks to understand how differentiated mesenchymal stem cells towards osteogenic lineages behave at the fracture site by focusing on the interplay between bone chip secretions and the cells.

We hypothesize that the cells within bone chips secrete soluble molecules and proteins which repress the process of osteogenesis. The second aim of this study is to understand the effects of BCPs on mesenchymal stem cells growth in basal media. Finally, due to the influences of BCPs in bone repair, the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines are aimed to be investigated.

# 2. MATERIALS

# 2.1. CHEMICALS

- Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffer Saline (DPBS) (Gibco, Germany)
- Ham's F12 Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (1.0 g/l) (Gibco, Germany)
- High glucose Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (Gibco, Germany)
- Low Glucose Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (1.0 g/l) (Gibco, Germany)
- Primocin (100 µg/ml) (InvivoGen, USA)
- Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) (Gibco, Germany)
- Trypsin-EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- Basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- Recombinant Human Transforming Growth Factor (rhTGFβ) (R&D Systems, USA)
- Collagenase (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)

# 2.2. CD MARKER ANTIBODIES

- CD90-PE monoclonal antibody (mAb), (BD Pharmingen, USA)
- CD44-FITC mAb, (Invitrogen, USA)
- CD73-PE (BD Pharmingen, USA)
- CD81-PE (BD Pharmingen, USA)
- HLA-ABC-PECy.5 (BD Pharmingen, USA)
- CD117-PE mAb (BD Pharmingen, USA)
- CD34-PECy.5, mAb (BD Pharmingen, USA)
- CD45-PECy5, mAb (BD Pharmingen, USA)
- CD14-PECy.5, (BD Pharmingen, USA)
- HLA-DR-PECy.5 (BD Pharmingen, USA)
- IgG<sub>1</sub> (BD Pharmingen, USA)
- IgG<sub>2a</sub> (BD Pharmingen, USA)

# 2.3. KITS

- CellTiter 96® Aqueous One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay (MTS, Promega, USA)
- Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP) Assay kit (Randox, UK)
- QuantiChrom<sup>™</sup> Calcium Assay kit (Bioassays Systems, USA)
- BCA protein assay kit (Intron Biotechnology, South Korea).
- RNA extraction kit (GeneJET RNA purification kit, Thermo Scientific, USA)
- iScript cDNA synthesis (Bio-Rad, USA)
- Maxima SYBR Green/ROX qPCR master mix (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- IL-6, IL-1β and TNF-α AssayMax<sup>™</sup> human Elisa kits (AssayPro, USA)

# **2.4. OTHER REAGENTS**

- Ammonium Chloride (NH<sub>4</sub>Cl) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- Alizarin Red S (ScienceCell, USA)
- Dexamethasone (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- β-glycerol phosphate (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- 1-ascorbic acid 2-phosphate (Gibco, Germany)
- Paraformaldehyde (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- Isobutylmethylxanthine (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- Indomethacin (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- Oil Red O (ScienceCell, USA)
- l-proline (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- Sodium pyruvate (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- ITS (Culture Supplement that consists of 6.25 µg/mL insulin, 6.25 µg/mL transferrin, 6.25 ng/mL selenous acid, 1.25 mg/mL bovine serum albumin, 5.35 mg/mL linoleic acid (B&D Biosciences, USA)
- Alcian blue (American MasterTech, USA)
- von Kossa staining (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- Silver nitrate solution (500 µl) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)

- Sodium thiosulfate (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- Hydrochloric acid (HCl) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- Sodium hydroxide (NaOH) (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- TritonX-100 (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- RIPA Lysis Buffer (Santa Cruz, USA)
- Protease inhibitor (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)
- Tris base (Merck, Germany)
- SDS (Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, Germany)

# 2.5. INSTRUMENTS

- Inverted microscopy (Nikon Eclipse TC 100, USA)
- Laminar flow cabinet (ESCO Labculture Class II Biohazard Safety Cabinet 2A, Singapore)
- CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- Centrifuge (Hettich micro 22R and Sigma 2-5 centrifuge, Germany)
- Vortex (Stuart, UK)
- pH meter (Hanna, Germany)
- ELISA plate reader (Bio-Tek EL x 800, USA)
- FACS Calibur (BD Biosciences, USA)
- Nanodrop Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- CFX96 Touch<sup>™</sup> sequence detection system (Bio-Rad, USA)

# 3. METHODS

# 3.1. ISOLATION AND CULTURE OF hAD-MSCs

Human adipose tissue was obtained from patients who had liposuction procedure. Lipoaspirate sample (approximately 200 ml) was transferred to the Yeditepe University Tissue Engineering Laboratory under aseptic conditions (Figure 3.1). Sterile physiological saline solution was added to sample and processed according to established procedure to get a stromal vascular fraction [319]. This method defines the preparation of hAD-MSCs from human lipoaspirate.



Figure 3.1. Liposuction aspirate sample. Human Adipose tissue was taken from patients under liposuction surgery. An equal volume of sterile physiological saline solution was added to lipoaspirate sample.

Briefly, the sample was digested at 37 °C for 1h with 0.075 % collagenase in phosphate buffer saline with gentle agitation at 60 cycles/min. The enzyme was then inactivated with an equal volume of Ham's F12 Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (1.0 g/l) including 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS). After centrifugation, the stromal vascular fraction was collected and resuspended in erythrocyte lysis buffer (160 mM NH<sub>4</sub>Cl) to remove red blood cells.

After centrifugation, stromal vascular fraction pellet containing hAD-MSCs were cultured in complete medium containing Ham's F12 Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (1.0 g/l) supplemented with 10% (v/v) FBS, primocin (100  $\mu$ g/ml) and basic fibroblast growth factor (1 ng/ml) in an incubator at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 90% humidity. Following initial culture period, the non-adherent cells were thrown away by aspirating the medium. The medium was refreshed every other day. The cells were cultured and expanded at 90 % confluency through 2 to 4 passages before *in vitro* osteogenesis assay.

### **3.2. CHARACTERIZATION OF hAD-MSCs**

### 3.2.1. Flow cytometry analysis

hAD-MSCs were characterized according to the definition of the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT). After second passage, phenotypic characteristics of hAD-MSCs  $(3x10^5 \text{ cells})$  were confirmed with the monoclonal antibodies (mAb) for CD90-PE, CD44-FITC, CD73-PE, CD81-PE, HLA-ABC-PECy.5, as a positive surface markers, CD117-PE, CD34-PECy.5, CD45-PECy5, CD14-PECy.5, HLA-DR-PECy.5, as a negative markers. Flow cytometry was used on a FACSCalibur. The data was analyzed by Cell Quest Software. Appropriate isotype controls of conjugated antibodies IgG<sub>1</sub> and IgG<sub>2a</sub> were used to eliminate non-specific characteristics of the antibodies.

#### 3.2.2. In vitro multilineage differentiation of hAD-MSCs

Differentiation potential of hAD-MSCs was assessed by adipogenesis, osteogenesis and chondrogenesis protocols as described previously [320].

### 3.2.2.1. Osteogenic differentiation of hAD-MSCs

Alizarin Red S staining was performed after osteogenic induction of the cells to determine the osteogenic differentiation potential of hAD-MSCs. Alizarin Red S was used to stain free calcium compounds in cell culture. For osteogenesis studies, hAD-MSCs were cultured into osteogenic induction medium containing 20 mM  $\beta$ -glycerol phosphate; 10 nM dexamethasone; 50  $\mu$ M L-ascorbic acid 2-phosphate for 10 and 21 days. The media were changed every other days. Extracellular calcium minerals were confirmed by staining with Alizarin Red S solution. After 10 and 21 days of the osteogenic induction, the cells were fixed with 5 % paraformaldehyde and then incubated for 10 min with 0.5 % Alizarin Red S. The cells were washed 5 times with dH<sub>2</sub>O and then the stained cells were photographed under an inverted microscope.

### 3.2.2.2. Adipogenic differentiation of hAD-MSCs

For adipogenic induction, hAD-MSCs were seeded in 24-well plates at a density of 5,000 cells/well. After the cells reach to confluency, they were treated with adipogenic induction medium including 0.5  $\mu$ M dexamethasone, 0.5  $\mu$ M iso-butyl-methyl-xanthine and 50  $\mu$ M Indomethacin. The formation of adipocytes was proved by staining with Oil Red O method after 10 and 21 days of incubation with adipogenic induction medium. Oil Red O stains intracellular triglyceride droplets. Briefly, after the adipogenic differentiation period, 5 % paraformaldehyde was used to fix the cells. After fixation, the cells were incubated for 20 min with Oil Red O solution and then washed 5 times with dH<sub>2</sub>O. Dye was removed from the cells using isopropanol. The appearance of lipid droplets was observed under an inverted microscope.

### 3.2.2.3. Chondrogenic differentiation of hAD-MSCs

hAD-MSCs were induced to differentiate into chondrocytes under specific culture conditions. Chondrogenic media contained high-glucose DMEM supplemented with: rhTGF $\beta$  (10 ng/mL), 50 µg/mL l-ascorbic-2-phosphate, 40 µg/mL l-proline, 100 µg/mL sodium pyruvate, 5 mL ITS (6.25 µg/mL insulin, 6.25 µg/mL transferrin, 6.25 ng/mL selenous acid, 1.25 mg/mL bovine serum albumin, 5.35 mg/mL linoleic acid). The media were refreshed every 3 days for up to 3 weeks. After chondrogenic differentiation process, Alcian blue was used to stain sulfated proteoglycan deposits which are the indications of chondrocytes. Briefly, the pellets were fixed with 5 % paraformaldehyde and stained with 1 % Alcian blue reagent (in 0,1N HCl, pH 1,0) for 30 min. Pellets were washed with 0,1 N

HCl to elute excess stain. Proteoglycan deposits were visualized under an inverted microscope.

### 3.3. ESTABLISHMENT OF CANCELLOUS BONE CHIP SECRETIONS (BCPs)

Cancellous bone chips were harvested from lateral portions of anterior and posterior chamfer cuts of total knee arthroplasties under aseptic conditions, approved by Yeditepe University Hospital Local Ethics Committee (Figure 3.2). Patients with secondary gonarthrosis, including rheumatoid diseases, avascular necrosis, and post-traumatic arthritis were excluded from the harvesting procedure.

An equal amount of basal medium, including Low Glucose Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (1.0 g/l) supplemented with 10% (v/v) FBS, primocin (100  $\mu$ g/ml) were added onto cancellous bone chips. After 72h incubation at 37°C, in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 90% humidity, these molecules released into the basal medium (BM) which was then filtered through the 70  $\mu$ m cell strainer. For the preparation of osteogenic media, 10 nM dexamethasone, 50  $\mu$ M L-ascorbic acid 2-phosphate and 20 mM  $\beta$ -glycerol phosphate were added into BM. Basal and osteogenic media with bone chip secretion (BCPs-BM and BCPs-OM) were used for culturing hAD-MSCs in *in vitro* osteogenic assay.



Figure 3.2. a) Lateral portions of anterior and posterior chamfer cuts of total knee arthroplasty, b) cancellous bone chips, c) addition of the basal medium onto cancellous bone chips.

### 3.3.1. Co-culture of hAD-MSCs with BCPs

hAD-MSCs and BCPs were co-cultured in a permeable transwell system to establish *in vitro* model for understanding the role of soluble molecules that were secreted by bone chips into both basal medium and osteogenic medium (Figure 3.3). Co-culture experiment was carried out by using Transwell® cell culture inserts having 0.4  $\mu$ m pores which allowed the BCPs transportation across the membrane. By means of this membrane, BCPs were physically separated from hAD-MSCs to prevent direct cell to cell contact. Osteogenic studies were conducted by using third passage cells plated at a density of 2x10<sup>4</sup> cells/well in 12-well plates cultured in either osteogenic medium (OM) or basal medium (BM). hAD-MSCs were seeded on the lower side of the insert, in the meantime, BCPs in either osteogenic medium (BCPs-OM) 1:1 (v/v) or basal medium (BCPs-BM) 1:1 (v/v) were added in an upper side of the insert. For their negative controls, hAD-MSCs were cultured in osteogenic medium (OM) and basal medium (BM). hAD-MSCs cultured in either OM or BM with/without BCPs were harvested and the medium in the bottom chamber was collected at 1, 3, 5, 7, 14 and 21 days for a subsequent analysis.



Figure 3.3. Experimental set-up of hAD-MSCs with/without harvested bone chips in transwell plate. a) hAD-MSCs with bone chips in osteogenic medium (BCPs-OM), b) hAD-MSCs without bone chips in osteogenic medium (Only OM), c) hAD-MSCs with bone chips in basal medium (BCPs-BM), d) hAD-MSCs without bone chips in basal medium (Only BM).

# 3.4. DETECTION OF CELL VIABILITY BY MTS ASSAY

Viability of cells for each experimental group was determined by a chromogenic assay which requires the biochemical reduction of the tetrazolium compound (MTS) by viable cells. When phenazine methosulfate (PMS) is presented, MTS creates a water-soluble formazan salts with an absorbance at 490 nm.

Cell viability of each group was detected using CellTiter 96® AQueous One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay for each time point of examination throughout 21 days of incubation. In the growth curve experiment, 500  $\mu$ L MTS working solution (a mixture of MTS: LG-DMEM at a ratio of 1:5) was added to each well and the 24 well plate was incubated at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 90% humidity for 3 hours. The absorbance of each sample was determined at 490 nm by using an Elisa Plate Reader and the viability of cells was calculated using the slope of the calibration curve plotted as absorbance versus cell number.

### 3.5. ALKALINE PHOSPHATASE ASSAY

Intracellular ALP activity was measured colorimetrically using ALP kit for each group after 1, 7, 14 and 21 days of incubation in culture. The cells were washed 3 times with phosphate buffer saline and lysed with Tris buffer (500  $\mu$ l, 0.1 M with 0.1% TritonX-100, pH: 9). The samples were frozen at -20 °C for 10 min and thawed at 37°C for another 10 min, repeating freeze-thaw step 3 times. Then, each sample was sonicated on ice with 30 sec. of sonication and 30 sec. of breaks. After centrifugation steps, ALP activity was determined using p-nitrophenol (6.2 mg/ml) as a substrate. Measurements were performed at 405 nm for the time points of 0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12 and 14 min by Elisa Plate Reader. A graph of absorbance versus time was plotted and the alkaline phosphatase activity per sample was detected. The total protein content was used to normalize the ALP values.

### **3.6. DETERMINATION OF MINERALIZATION**

### 3.6.1. Quantitative calcium assay

Calcium ions were measured by QuantiChrom<sup>TM</sup> Calcium Assay kit for each group at day 7, 14, 21. Calcium deposits were solubilized incubating the cells overnight with 0.5 N HCL and quantified using the kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. The amount of calcium produced was evaluated by measuring the absorbance at 612 nm using microplate reader. Calcium concentration of the cells was normalized with total protein concentration and expressed as  $\mu$ g/ml protein. For this purpose, after decalcification process, the cells were solubilized with a mixture of NaOH 0.1 mol/L and 0.1 % of SDS. The protein content of each sample was detected with a BCA protein assay kit.

### 3.6.2. von Kossa staining

von Kossa staining protocol was carried out to detect the mineralization of each sample. Silver nitrate solution (500  $\mu$ l) was added to each sample and then incubated at room temperature under ultraviolet light for 30 min. Silver ions reacted with phosphates in calcium deposits and then silver phosphate was degraded to silver under UV light. After each sample was washed with a physiological saline solution, 500  $\mu$ l of 5 % sodium thiosulfate was added to stop the reaction, followed by counterstaining with nuclear fast red. Finally, images were obtained by inverted microscope.

### **3.7. DETECTION OF GENE EXPRESSION LEVELS**

### 3.7.1. RNA isolation

Total RNA was purified using RNA extraction kit as recommended by the manufacturer after 7, 14 and 21 days of incubation period. Briefly, the cells were re-suspended in 600  $\mu$ l lysis buffer and the cell lysate was transferred up to the GeneJET RNA purification column. The sample was centrifuged for 1 min at 12,000 x g. Each column was washed with kit's

wash buffers and centrifuged for 1 min at 12,000 x g. Nuclease-free water was added onto column membrane to collect total RNA. The RNA concentration was detected using Nanodrop Spectrophotometer. "Concentration of RNA sample  $(ng/\mu l) =$  dilution factor x 40 x A260" formula was used to calculate the RNA concentration.

# 3.7.2. Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction

cDNA was synthesized using iScript cDNA synthesis. PCR reaction was performed for 20 min at 46 °C according to manufacturer's protocol (Table 3.1). cDNA concentration was measured using Nanodrop Spectrophotometer.

Components	Volume per reaction, µl	
5x iScript Reaction Mix	4	
iScript Reverse Transcriptase	1	
RNA template (100 fg–1 µg total RNA)*	variable	
Nuclease-free water	variable	
Total Volume	20	

Table 3.1.	Real-time	PCR	reaction	mix.
Table 3.1.	Real-time	PCR	reaction	mix.

# 3.7.3. Real-time PCR analysis

Real-time PCR analysis was performed using Maxima SYBR Green/ROX qPCR master mix. Reaction mixture includes 12,5 µl Maxima SYBR Green/ROX qPCR Master Mix (2X), 0,3 µM primers and 500 ng for each sample.

The real-time PCR assay was carried out using CFX96 Touch<sup>TM</sup> sequence detection system, according to the reaction conditions (Table 3.2).  $\beta$ -Actin was used as an internal control for normalization of each target gene expression.
Step	Temperature, °C	Time	Number of cycles
Initial denaturation	95	10 min	1
Denaturation	95	15 s	
Annealing	60	30 s	40
Extension	72	30 s	

Table 3.2. Real-time PCR conditions.

Relative gene expression values were calculated by Pfaffl's method [321]. Primer pairs are listed in Table 3.3. Each sample was studied in triplicate.

Primers		Sequence (5'→3')	Product Length
β-actin	F	GACAGGATGCAGAAGGAGATCACT	142
	R	TGATCCACATCTGCTGGAAGGT	
Sclerostin	F	AAATCACATCCGCCCCAACT	173
	R	GGCGGTGTCTCAAAAGGGAT	
Dickkopf-1	F	GTGCAAATCTGTCTCGCCTG	284
	R	GCACAACACAATCCTGAGGC	
Osteocalcin	F	CAGATTCCCCCTAGACCCGC	200
	R GCCTGGGTCTCTTCACTACC		299
Osteonectin	F	AACCCTCCCCTTCGTGTTTC	274
	R	TTTAAGGCAGAGCCCAGCAG	
Osteopontin	F	TCCTAGCCCCACAGACCCTT	259
	R	TCTACTGTGGGGGACAACTGGA	
BMP-2	F	TGGCTGGGGGACTTCTTGAAC	364
	R CAGCAACGCTAGAAGACAGC		504
Collagen Type I	F	ATGGGGAAGCTGGAAAACCT	286
	R	GCACCATCATTTCCACGAGC	
Osteoprotegerin	F	AAATGGCGACCAAGACACCT	290
	R	CACTGAAAGCCTCAAGTGCC	290

Table 3.3. Primer pairs used for real-time PCR.

### 3.8. ENZYME-LINKED IMMUNO-SORBENT (ELISA) ASSAY

AssayMax<sup>TM</sup> human Elisa kit was used to determine the concentrations of IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  for each group of culture media that was collected at days 7, 14 and 21. The assay contains a quantitative sandwich enzyme immunoassay method which measures each cytokine levels. A murine monoclonal antibody, specific for each human cytokines, was pre-

coated onto a 96- well microplate. Each sample was sandwiched by the immobilized antibody and biotinylated polyclonal antibody that was recognized by a streptavidinperoxidase conjugate. Briefly, 50  $\mu$ l sample was added per well and incubated for 2h. After washing steps, 50  $\mu$ l biotinylated human IL-6 antibody was added into each well and then incubated for 2h. Thereafter, 50  $\mu$ l streptavidin-peroxidase conjugate was added into each well and then each well followed 30 min incubation. Chromogen substrate solution (50  $\mu$ l) was added to each well to observe the color change from blue to yellow.

The amount of IL-6 produced was evaluated by measuring the absorbance at 450 nm using microplate reader. The Same procedure was applied to detect the concentrations of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ . Protein contents were used to normalize the amount of IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  production. Total protein was measured by SMART<sup>TM</sup> micro BCA protein assay kit. Each sample concentration was performed by the log-log standard curve.

#### **3.9. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS**

Statistical analyses were carried out by IBM®-SPSS® software (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, Version 23.0). Normality was identified by the Shapiro-Wilk and Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. Paired sample t-test and two related samples followed by Wilcoxon test were applied by comparing any significant changes between groups.

Heterogeneity of group variances of different time points was employed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post multi-comparison tests for parametric tests; while two independent samples followed by Mann-Whitney-U tests were performed for non-parametric tests. Statistically significant levels were provided <sup>\*\*</sup>p < 0,01 and <sup>\*</sup>p < 0,05. Data were reproduced from at least two independent experiments in duplicated and displayed as the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD).

# 4. **RESULTS**

## 4.1. MORPHOLOGICAL STRUCTURE ANALYSIS

Morphological structures of hAD-MSCs grown in BCPs cultured with either OM or BM after 1, 7, 14, and 21 days of incubation were analyzed by inverted microscopy (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1.Morphological changes of hAD-MSCs cultured in either OM or BM in the presence and absence of BCPs at the end of (A) 7 (B) 14 and (C) 21 days. Magnification is 10X. Scale bars are 50  $\mu$ M.

Undifferentiated hAD-MSCs in BM exhibited typical adherent spindles and flat polygonal morphologies. Fibroblast-like cells were observed throughout 21 days. According to the results, differentiated hAD-MSCs in OM showed cuboidal appearances at the end of day 7; while the cells became large, round and had multiple nuclei after 21 days of culture. Moreover, hAD-MSCs in OM with BCPs exhibited numerous cell types from day 7 to day 21. In the same way, morphologies of hAD-MSCs in BM with BCPs varied in ranging from flattened-shaped to cuboidal-shaped throughout 21 days of incubation period. Besides, dead cells were observed at day 21.

### 4.2. CHARACTERIZATION OF hAD-MSCs

## 4.2.1. Flow Cytometry Analysis

Phenotypic characteristics of hAD-MSCs were determined by flow cytometry. Cell Quest Software was used to analyze the data. CD90<sup>+</sup>, CD44<sup>+</sup>, CD73<sup>+</sup>, CD81<sup>+</sup>, HLA-ABC<sup>+</sup> were expressed highly and homogenously by hAD-MSCs; whereas CD117<sup>-</sup>, CD34<sup>-</sup>, CD45<sup>-</sup>, CD14<sup>-</sup> and HLA-DR<sup>-</sup> displayed low level expressions (Figure 4.2). Isotype controls (IgG1, IgG2a) were used to determine the positiveness of the cells. Expressions of cell surface markers showed that isolated cells from human adipose tissue have properties of mesenchymal stem cells.



Figure 4.2. Immuno-phenotypic analysis of hAD-MSCs which exhibited less than 1 % (A) CD14-PECy.5, CD34-PECy.5, CD45-PECy.5, CD117-PE, and HLA-DR- PECy.5
markers; on the other hand, they were positive (93 %) for (B) CD73-PE, CD90-PE, CD44-FITC, CD81-PE, and HLA-ABC-PE surface markers. Represented percentages are the mean values of three independent experiments. Isotype controls of each antibody, IgG<sub>1</sub> and IgG<sub>2a</sub> were displayed as green histograms.

#### 4.2.2. In vitro multilineage differentiation of hAD-MSCs

Differentiation potential of hAD-MSCs towards osteogenic, chondrogenic and adipogenic lineages was explored after 10 and 21 days of incubation. Morphological structures of hAD-MSCs were visualized by inverted microscopy (Figure 4.3). hAD-MSCs exhibited a fibroblast-like appearance, while hAD-MSCs cultured in osteogenic medium showed cuboidal shapes. The cells under adipogenic stimulation formed lipid droplets; whereas the cells cultured in chondrogenic medium displayed typical round morphology.



Figure 4.3. Morphological structure analysis of hAD-MSCs under specific stimulation conditions. (a) hAD-MSCs displayed fibroblast- like shapes when cultured in growth medium; (b) hAD-MSCs tended to align themselves and became cuboidal appearance when cultured in osteogenic medium; (c) fatty vacuole deposits were observed after adipogenic induction; (d) hAD-MSCs exhibited the round morphology of chondrocytes when cultured in chondrogenic medium. Scale bars are represented 50 μM; Magnification is 10X.

### 4.2.2.1. Osteogenic Differentiation of hAD-MSCs

The ability of hAD-MSCs to differentiate into osteogenic lineage was exhibited by using osteogenic induction medium after 10 and 21 days of incubation. Calcium nodules were stained by Alizarin Red S and observed by inverted microscopy (Figure 4.4). hAD-MSCs showed fibroblast-like appearances. However, after differentiation of hAD-MSCs towards osteogenic lineage, they formed cuboidal shapes. Mineralization occurred during osteogenesis of hAD-MSCs. hAD-MSCs cultured in growth medium did not show any

mineralization (Negative controls). Free calcium compounds of differentiated hAD-MSCs at the end of the 21 days was much higher than that of at day10.



Figure 4.4. hAD-MSCs cultured in growth medium after (A, D) 10 and 21 days of culture (Negative controls). Mineralized nodules formed in osteogenic medium after (B) 10 days; and (C) 21 days of osteogenic induction and they were stained by Alizarin Red S.

## 4.2.2.2. Chondrogenic differentiation of hAD-MSCs

Sulfated proteoglycan deposits of hAD-MSCs were demonstrated by Alcian blue staining. The round morphology of chondrocytes after chondrogenic induction was demonstrated



Figure 4.5. hAD-MSCs cultured in growth medium after 10 days (A); and (D) 21 days of incubation. Chondrogenic differentiation potential of hAD-MSCs under chondrogenic conditions after (B) 10 days; (C) 21 days of induction was investigated by Alcian Blue.

## 4.2.2.3. Adipogenic differentiation of hAD-MSCs

Fatty vacuole deposits of hAD-MSCs were investigated by Oil Red O after 10 and 21 days of adipogenic induction. Lipid accumulation at the end of 21 days of incubation was higher than that of at the end of day 10 (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.6. Adipogenic differentiation of hAD-MSCs in the adipogenic medium after (A) 10 days and (B) 21 days of induction. Oil red O was used to determine fat droplets.

## 4.3. MTS CELL VIABILITY ASSAY

MTS cell viability assay was carried out to detect the proliferative capacities of hAD-MSCs grown in BCPs cultured in either OM or BM after 1, 7, 14, and 21 days of incubation. Standard curve of hAD-MSCs was determined at 490 nm (Appendix 1). As shown in Figure 4.7 proliferation rate of hAD-MSCs in BM with BCPs was significantly higher than the ones in OM with BCPs throughout 14 days of incubation (\*\*P<0.01).





MTS analysis displayed no significant difference in proliferation capacity of hAD-MSCs cultured in OM either with or without BCPs after 1 and 21 days of incubation. Nevertheless, hAD-MSCs in OM with BCPs decreased their rate of proliferation relative to the ones in OM at day 7 and 14 (\*\*P<0.01). Surprisingly, hAD-MSCs in OM represented significantly higher proliferation profiles in comparison with hAD-MSCs in BM at day 14 (\*\*P<0.01). Proliferative potential of hAD-MSCs in BM with BCPs was significantly higher than the others at day 14; while hAD-MSCs in BM exhibited an increase in the rate of growth compared to the ones in OM and BM with BCPs at day 21 (\*\*P<0.01).

#### 4.4. ALKALINE PHOSPHATASE ASSAY

Intracellular alkaline phosphatase activity was investigated at days 1, 3, 7, 14, and 21. Standard curve of ALP activity was detected using p-nitrophenyl phosphate (nmol/µl) at 405 nm (Appendix 2). The total protein content was used to normalize the ALP values (Appendix 4). Figure 4.8 exhibited that there was no significant difference between the differentiated and undifferentiated hAD-MSCs grown in BCPs (BCPs-OM and BCPs-BM) and their controls (OM and BM) at days 1 and 3. However, ALP activity significantly reduced in undifferentiated hAD-MSCs with BCPs (BCPs-BM) at day 7 as compared to its control (BM). Moreover, ALP activity of hAD-MSCs cultured in OM was significantly higher than the ones with BCPs (BCPs-OM) at days 7 and 14; whereas hAD-MSCs cultured in BM with BCPs (BCPs-BM) showed slightly higher ALP activity than that of its control (BM) at the end of 14 days of incubation.

## 4.5. DETERMINATION OF MINERALIZATION

### 4.5.1. Quantitative Calcium Assay

Calcium deposition of the each group was detected by colorimetric technique after 7, 14 and 21 days of incubation. Calibration curve of calcium concentration (mg/dl) was detected according to the manufacturer instructions (Appendix 3). Normalization was done by using total protein content (Appendix 4). Calcium deposits of hAD-MSCs in OM showed an increase in mineralized matrix deposition in comparison with hAD-MSCs in BM throughout 21 days of culture (Figure 4.9). It has been demonstrated that the calcium deposits of hAD-MSCs in OM was significantly greater than that of with BCPs after 14 and 21 days of incubation (\*\* p < 0,01). hAD-MSCs in BM with BCPs displayed significantly higher calcium-rich deposits than the ones in BM after 21 days of culture.



Figure 4.8. ALP activity of hAD-MSCs in the presence and absence of BCPs at 1, 3, 7, 14 and 21 days of incubation in the osteogenic and basal medium. ALP was normalized by the total protein content of the cells with units of (nmol pNpp/min) / ( $\mu$ g protein). ALP activity significantly reduced in hAD-MSCs with BCPs. Values are represented as the mean  $\pm$  SD. Significance was showed at \*p < 0,05 and \*\*p < 0,01 when compared with the control groups (BCPs-OM: hAD-MSCs grown in bone chip secretions cultured in osteogenic medium; OM: Osteogenic medium; BCPs-BM: hAD-MSCs cultured in basal medium with the addition of bone chip secretions; BM: Basal medium).

#### 4.5.2. von Kossa Staining

von Kossa staining was carried out for the investigation of mineralization on hAD-MSCs cultured in either OM or BM with or without BCPs following 7, 14, and 21 days of incubation (Figure 4.10). Mineralization was exhibited at the highest degree on hAD-MSCs

cultured in OM at the end of 21 days of the period in comparison with the ones with BCPs. Nevertheless, hAD-MSCs cultured in BM in the presence of BCPs didn't show mineralization nodules significantly as compared to the ones cultured in BM at days 14 and 21. Mineralized bone modules were displayed as dark-brown regions.



Figure 4.9. Calcium deposition of hAD-MSCs cultured in either OM or BM with/without BCPs following 1, 7, and 14 days of incubation period. Calcium content of hAD-MSCs cultured in OM with BCPs was lower than their control groups throughout 21 days of the period. Values are the means  $\pm$  SD, <sup>\*\*</sup> p < 0,01 represents statistically significant difference (BCPs-OM: hAD-MSCs grown in bone chip secretions cultured in osteogenic medium; OM: Osteogenic medium; BCPs-BM: hAD-MSCs cultured in basal medium with the addition of bone chip secretions; BM: Basal medium).



Figure 4.10. von Kossa staining of hAD-MSCs cultured in either OM or BM with/without BCPs at day (A) 7, (B) 14, and (C) 21 days of incubation. Mineralization exhibited a significant reduction in the presence of BCPs when compared to their control groups after 21 days of culture. Bars show 100 µm. Images are acquired 10X (BCPs-OM: hAD-MSCs grown in bone chip secretions cultured in osteogenic medium; OM: Osteogenic medium; BCPs-BM: hAD-MSCs cultured in basal medium with the addition of bone chip secretions; BM: Basal medium).

#### 4.6. REAL-TIME PCR ANALYSIS

Real-time PCR was performed to investigate the expression profiles of bone-specific genes: bone morphogenetic protein-2 (BMP-2), collagen type I (Col1A1), sclerostin, dickkopf-1 (Dkk-1), osteocalcin (OCN), osteonectin (ON), osteopontin (OPN), and osteoprotegerin (OPG). Target gene levels were normalized against the housekeeping gene, beta-actin expression levels.

In this study, hAD-MSCs with BCPs cultured in OM exhibited a stimulatory effect on both sclerostin and BMP-2 expressions throughout 21 days of incubation (Figure 4.11). Specifically, a significant increase in the level of BMP-2 expression was demonstrated throughout 21 days of culture. Besides, a stimulatory effect of BCPs was observed on sclerostin expression after 7, 14 and 21 days of incubation. The expression of sclerostin of hAD-MSCs cultured in OM in the presence of BCPs was significantly higher than that of its control from day 7 to 14 but a significant decrease in the level of sclerostin was investigated from day 14 to day 21. However, it was still upregulated comparing with its control. Interestingly, the level of Dkk-1expression was observed without any significant difference between hAD-MSCs cultured in OM with/without BCPs. OPG production was also evaluated by real-time PCR. According to the results, the level of OPG expression was significantly increased from day 7 to day 14. However, a significant reduction in its level was detected after 21 days of incubation (78 % knockdown).



Figure 4.11. Effect of BCPs was detected using real-time PCR analysis. Gene expression profile of bone-related genes, including BMP-2, sclerostin, Dkk-1 and OPG in hAD-MSCs with/without BCPs cultured in osteogenic medium for 7, 14 and 21 days of incubation.

Each target gene mRNA levels were normalized against beta-actin expression levels.<sup>\*</sup> p < 0,05 shows the significant difference between differentiated hAD-MSCs in the presence of the BCPs and their control groups. The Pfaffl's method was used to calculate relative gene expression levels. The means of at least 2 independent experiments in duplicate are plotted and the each value is  $\pm$  SD.

Expressions of osteoblastic phenotype genes, including Col1A1, OCN, OP, OCN, and ON were also analyzed by real-time PCR on days 7, 14 and 21 after osteogenic induction of

hAD-MSCs with/without BCPs (Figure 4.12). Our data indicated that Col1A1 production was not significantly different in hAD-MSCs cultured in OM with BCPs than the ones without BCPs at days 7 and 14. Nevertheless, the level of Col1A1 expression was significantly reduced from day 7 to 14. Furthermore, the significantly lowest Col1A1 expression was demonstrated in hAD-MSCs cultured in OM with BCPs at day 21 (87 % knockdown).



Figure 4.12. Gene expression profile of bone specific genes, including Col1A1, OCN ON, and OPN in hAD-MSCs with/without BCPs cultured in osteogenic medium for 7, 14 and 21 days of incubation. Each target gene mRNA levels were normalized against beta-actin expression levels.<sup>\*</sup> p < 0,05 shows the significant difference between differentiated hAD-MSCs in the presence of the BCPs and their control groups. The Pfaffl's method was used to calculate relative gene expression levels. The means of at least 2 independent experiments in duplicate are plotted and the each value is  $\pm$  SD.

Additionally, the level of OCN expression was significantly increased with the addition of BPCs at day 7; whereas the ones without BPCs (OM) exhibited lower expression level of OCN. Besides, the level of OCN expression in hAD-MSCs cultured in OM with BCPs

displayed a significant decrease in comparison with its control from day 7 to 14. OCN expression level of hAD-MSCs in OM with BCPs was significantly increased at day 21. Expression of ON was significantly reduced from day 7 to day 14 in hAD-MSCs cultured in OM with BCPs. The level of ON expression was significantly decreased at days 14 and 21. Similarly, downregulation of OPN was detected at day 14 (75 % knockdown) that was followed by a significant increase after 21 days of incubation in hAD-MSCs cultured in OM in the presence of BCPs.

Gene expression profiles of hAD-MSCs cultured in BM with BCPs was also determined to investigate whether BCPs affected the cell differentiation in BM. As shown Figure 4.13, BCPs exhibited an inhibitory effect on the BMP-2 and sclerostin expressions of hAD-MSCs cultured in BM at day 7. The level of BMP-2 expression was significantly decreased (83 % knockdown) (\* p < 0,05). Nevertheless, BMP-2 expression was significantly upregulated in the cells with BCPs in comparison with the ones without BCPs (BM) from days 14 to 21. In the same way, hAD-MSCs cultured in BM in the presence of BCPs showed an inhibitory effect on sclerostin expression when compared to the ones without BCPs (BM) at day 7 (46% knockdown). However, the level of sclerostin expression was significantly upregulated from day 7 to day 14. Moreover, a significant increase in the level of sclerostin expression in the presence of BCPs group was detected at day 21 (\* p < 0,05).

According to the results, Dkk-1 expression was significantly downregulated in hAD-MSCs cultured in BM with BCPs at days 7 and 21 (71 % and 61 % knockdown, respectively). Nevertheless, there was no significant difference between the time points. Furthermore, OPG expression was constantly decreased by BCPs during 21 days in culture (\* p < 0.05).



Figure 4.13. BMP-2, sclerostin, Dkk-1 and OPG mRNA expressions in hAD-MSCs with/without BCPs cultured in BM at days 7, 14 and 21. Beta-actin expression levels were used to normalize the target genes. All values of at least 2 independent experiments in duplicate were plotted. The relative mRNA expression was computed with the Pfaffl method. Error bars indicate as means  $\pm$  SD. \*p < 0,05 displays hAD-MSCs treated with BCPs relative to their controls.

For bone-related genes, the level of Col1A1 expression was constantly decreased throughout 21 days of incubation (Figure 4. 14). Furthermore, expression of OCN was significantly decreased at day 7 (33 % knockdown) but a significant increase in the expression of OCN was investigated at day 14. Similarly, the level of OPN expression in hAD-MSCs cultured

in BM with BCPs was significantly reduced at day 7(52 % knockdown). However, after 14 days incubation, OPN expression was significantly increased in comparison with the ones without BCPs (BM). Besides, ON expression was significantly decreased in hAD-MSCs cultured in BM with BCPs throughout 21 days of incubation (\* p < 0.05).



Figure 4.14. Col1A1, ON, OP, OCN and OPG mRNA expressions in hAD-MSCs with/without BCPs cultured in BM at days 7, 14 and 21. Beta-actin expression levels were used to normalize the target genes. All values of at least 2 independent experiments in duplicate were plotted. The relative mRNA expression was computed with the Pfaffl method. Error bars indicate as means  $\pm$  SD. \*p < 0,05 displays hAD-MSCs treated with BCPs relative to their controls.

#### 4.7. MEASUREMENT OF CYTOKINE LEVELS BY ELISA ASSAY

TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$  were investigated by using quantitative sandwich enzyme immunoassay technique. Calibration curve of each cytokine level was investigated by regression analysis using log-log four parameter logistic curve-fit  $\lambda_{max}$ :450 nm (Appendix 5,

6, 7). Production of IL-6 was significantly induced by BCPs in hAD-MSCs cultured in either BM or OM throughout 21 days (\*\*p < 0.01) (Figure 4.15).



Figure 4.15. Stimulatory effects of BCPs were observed on IL-6. The level of IL-6 production of hAD-MSCs in the presence of BCPs was significantly different from its control. Error bars represent ± SD of the means of triplicates in the same experiment. \*\*p< 0,01 displays significance between BCPs treated groups and their controls. (BCPs-OM:

hAD-MSCs grown in bone chip secretions cultured in osteogenic medium; OM: Osteogenic medium; BCPs-BM: hAD-MSCs cultured in basal medium with the addition of bone chip secretions; BM: Basal medium).

Similarly, the stimulatory effects of BCPs on the level of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  displayed the same profiles after 7, 14 and 21 days of culture (<sup>\*\*</sup>p < 0,01) (Figure 4.16). Production of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  were significantly increased in the presence of BCPs on 7 days. Nevertheless, inhibition effects of BCPs were observed the productions of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  of hAD-MSCs cultured in either OM or BM at day 14 in comparison with in the absence of BCPs (Figure 4.17).



Figure 4.16. IL-1β was determined by Elisa Assay. BCPs displayed induction effects on the level of IL-1β production of hAD-MSCs at the initial and later stages of bone formation. Error bars represent ± SD of the means of triplicates in the same experiment.
\*\*p< 0,01 displays significance between BCPs treated groups and their controls. (BCPs-OM: hAD-MSCs grown in bone chip secretions cultured in osteogenic medium; OM: Osteogenic medium; BCPs-BM: hAD-MSCs cultured in basal medium with the addition of bone chip secretions; BM: Basal medium).</li>

Furthermore, hAD-MSCs cultured in OM with BCPs displayed significantly greater levels of either TNF- $\alpha$  or IL-1 $\beta$  than its control (OM) at day 21; while the reduce levels of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  of hAD-MSCs cultured in BM in the presence of BCPs was observed at day 21 (\*\*p < 0.01).



Figure 4.17. The level TNF-α production of hAD-MSCs in the presence of BCPs was significantly different from its control. Culture supernatants were used to measure each cytokine level by Elisa Assay. Error bars show ± SD of the means of triplicates in the same experiment. \*\*p< 0,01 represents significance between BCPs treated groups and their controls. (BCPs-OM: hAD-MSCs grown in bone chip secretions cultured in osteogenic medium; OM: Osteogenic medium; BCPs-BM: hAD-MSCs cultured in basal medium with the addition of bone chip secretions; BM: Basal medium).</p>

# 5. DISCUSSION

Although the physiological process of bone tissue is very well known phenomena, fracture healing mechanism has not still been clearly enlightened. In spite of regenerative capacity of bone tissue, a physiological and biological processes are sometimes unsuccessful during fracture repair resulting in non-union, delayed-union and pseudo-arthrosis [253]. The purpose of this study was to demonstrate the influence of human cancellous bone chips soluble molecules onto hAD-MSCs cultured in osteogenic and basal media. Here, we showed that the influence of BCPs on the cells at the fracture site by carrying out an *in vitro* models of osteogenesis assay for the first time in the literature.

Firstly, cell proliferation of each group was evaluated. The influence of BCPs on the viabilities of hAD-MSCs in both basal and osteogenic media was determined by MTS cell proliferation assay after 1, 7, 14 and 21 days of culture. According to the results, hAD-MSCs survived in both basal and osteogenic media in the presence and absence of the BCPs throughout 21 days of incubation. Low proliferation rates are usually observed during the differentiation process. It may explain why the cells cultured in OM showed lower proliferative capacity than the one in BM. Nevertheless, a significant reduction in cell viabilities of hAD-MSCs cultured in BM after day 14 was observed due to cell death related to lack of available space. Furthermore, it has been showed that BCPs treatment caused an adverse effect on mesenchymal stem cell proliferation during bone formation.

hAD-MSCs differentiate into osteoprogenitor cells that develop into pre-osteoblasts, which ultimately become mature osteoblasts [322, 323]. The commitment of hAD-MSCs and differentiation of hAD-MSCs towards osteogenic lineage depend on various transcription factors and signaling molecules. The main regulatory transcription factor controlling osteoblast maturation is Runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2) that binds to promoter regions of bone-related genes, such as ALP, Col1A1, OCN, ON and OPN and regulates their expression. Nevertheless, expression levels of those genes vary according to the osteoblast maturation stages (Abay et al., 2016). ALP is expressed at the initial stage of bone formation. ALP activity is a well-known early osteogenic marker for osteogenesis and plays a key role in extacellular matrix mineralization process. As mineralization starts, ALP activity reduces [324, 325]. The present data showed that hAD-MSCs grown in BCPs cultured with OM displayed a decrease of ALP activity at days 7 and 14. The cells possessing significant ALP

activity formed an extracellular mineralized matrix. Our findings indicated that ALP activity which is a necessary enzyme for matrix mineralization was inhibited by BCPs. Concerning the results in ALP activity and the matrix mineralization based on calcium deposition and von Kossa staining, a drastic decrease of extracellular matrix mineralization was detected in the presence of BCPs at the early stage of osteoblasts maturation.

According to real time-PCR results, the expression of bone-related genes, including BMP-2, sclerostin, Dkk-1, OCN, Col1A1, OPG, ON and OP were analyzed. We reported that an increase level of BMP-2 expression was detected in hAD-MSCs cultured in OM with BCPs after 21 days of incubation period. BMPs are important growth factors that lead to stimulating various molecular cascades. They regulate both osteoblasts and osteoclasts activities. They are secreted by several cell types such as osteoprogenitor cells, osteoblasts and chondrocytes and capable of stimulation of subsequent signaling pathways involved in osteogenesis, adipogenesis and chondrogenesis. There are various clinical circumstances which need an enhancement of bone repair depending on fracture healing potential. BMPs have been the most widely studied key molecules that regulate bone regeneration [326]. They are responsible for induction of mesenchymal stem cell proliferation and osteoblast formation. Osteoinductive capacity of BMPs leads to the use of BMPs as therapeutic agents in clinical applications to enhance fracture repair. Recombinant human BMP-2 (rhBMP-2) and BMP-7 (rhBMP-7) have been approved by FDA for clinical practice [167] and used in a large number of clinical conditions such as non-union, bone necrosis and critical bone defects [169].

In addition to BMPs role on osteoblasts activity, they are necessary for osteoclast differentiation. BMP receptors and their ligands are also expressed by osteoclasts and they directly affect formation and maturation of osteoclasts. Even though BMPs exhibit multiple effects to enhance osteoblasts formation at the initial stage of bone formation, a major role of BMP signaling in the osteoclast maturation is not well defined. Previous *in vitro* studies showed that resorptive activity of osteoclasts was induced by treatment of exogenous BMP-2 [327-329]. Furthermore, other studies suggested that BMPs indirectly regulate osteoclast cells by increasing expression of osteoclast-promoting factors via osteoblast cells [330-332]. We showed that in the presence of BCPs, the highest level of BMP-2 expression was detected during the even late stage of bone regeneration.

Previous pre-clinical animal studies have exhibited a strong response to fracture healing in the presence of BMPs. Nevertheless, results of various human clinical studies have displayed that absence of a powerful response seen in animal models leads us to take into consideration about the regulation of clinically effective doses needed in humans [333]. Stimulation of cancer cells and ectopic bone formation have occurred concerning the use of supraphysiological doses. Unfortunately, optimal doses have still been under investigation. Additionally, osteoclast-mediated bone resorption and unsuitable adipogenesis have been considered as other adverse effects of the clinical use of BMP-2 [334, 335]. This study exhibits the influence of the level of BMP-2 expression of hAD-MSCs cultured in OM in the presence of BCPs. According to the results, there was an increase in BMP-2 expression of hAD-MSCs in OM with BCPs throughout 21 days of culture period in the cells in OM with BCPs followed by a significant enhancement in its levels (app. 54 fold). We demonstrated that BCPs induced expression of BMP-2 throughout 21 days.

Canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling possesses a significant role MSCs differentiation, cells growth and functions at the early stage of bone regeneration [50]. A balance between osteoblast and osteoclast formation affects bone mass at the early stage of fracture repair. Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling cascade induces osteoblastogenesis. However, osteoblastogenesis is blocked by Dkk-1 which is one of the major antagonists of canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling cascade. An inactivation of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling cascade by Dkk-1 significantly inhibited fracture healing [60]. Several groups have studied the effect of anti-Dkk-1 antibodies in numerous animal models and they investigated promising influences on bone mass density [336].

Sclerostin, like Dkk-1, is an inhibitor of canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling cascade. Sclerostin which is a secreted protein is synthesized mainly by osteocytes and premature osteoclasts. Recent reports showed that high bone mass density in both human and animal models was caused by inactivating mutations in *SOST* gene. Consequently, the sclerostinneutralizing antibody was evaluated to cure various bone loss models. It was exhibited that anti-sclerostin treatment enhanced bone mineral density and osteoblast formation in cynomolgus monkeys [337] and post-menopausal women who injected a single subcutaneous dose of anti-sclerostin had enhanced bone formation markers for three weeks following treatment [338, 81]. Although BCPs did not have any significant influence on the level of Dkk-1 expression in the cells cultured in OM in our study, BCPs were able to stimulate sclerostin expression throughout 21 days of incubation period. Additionally, the highest level of sclerostin expression was detected at day 14, and then there was a reduction at day 21. It may explain the sclerostin mechanism that is different from classical BMP-2 antagonists. Integration of BMPs with Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling increases bone formation. BMPs increase differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells towards osteogenic lineages while preventing proliferative signals enhance by Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling [51]. We investigated that BCPs treatment strongly increased sclerostin expression. Inactivation of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling antagonists stimulate bone mass balance and such an effect may possess therapeutic implications in the healing of fractures.

Additionally, other Wnt/β-catenin signaling molecules have been investigated because of their remarkable roles during bone regeneration in fracture healing. RANK, RANKL and OPG are the key molecules that regulate osteoclastogenesis. Binding of RANKL to RANK induces differentiation of pre-osteoclasts following activation of mature osteoclasts. Conversely, OPG which is a competitive inhibitor of RANKL causes suppression of bone resorption by binding to RANKL. Consequently, OPG/RANKL ratio affects the rate of bone resorption.

The relative ratio of the OPG/RANKL is the main factor of resorption stage in bone repair by suppressing osteoclasts activities [339]. Our findings indicated that OPG expression was significantly decreased after 7 days of incubation (87 % knockdown) and then it was upregulated from day 7 to day 14 in the hAD-MSCs cultured in OM in the presence of BCPs. Nevertheless, OPG expression was significantly downregulated from day 14 to 21. It was showed that OPG mRNA expression was inhibited by BCPs during bone remodeling, particularly at the initial and late stage of bone remodeling. BMP signaling was included not only in osteoblasts activity but also in osteoclastogenesis. Even though, the effect of BMPs signaling in MSCs enhances bone mass; BMP signaling in osteoclast activity is more intricate than osteoblasts activity. BMPs also induce osteoclastogenesis via OPG/RANKL pathway. Specifically, BMP-2 directly increased differentiation of osteoclasts. Several studies have reported that bone marrow macrophages treated with BMP-2 led to upregulation of RANKL. BMP signaling cross-talk with RANKL-mediated signaling and may contribute to the increased bone loss [340]. About 90 % of bone matrix protein is collagen that provides a construction in which mineral is deposited [341]. In this study, expression of Col1A1 was significantly downregulated from day 7 to 14. However, BCPs had no significant effect on the level of Col1A1expression after 14 days of the culture period. As expected, Col1A1 expression was downregulated at day 21. Expression of Col1A1 supports matrix mineralization. Nevertheless, our findings exhibited that BCPs treatment didn't affect the expression of Col1A1 at the early stage of bone repair.

Expressions of osteocalcin, osteonectin and osteopontin were also evaluated to determine the late stage of bone matrix formation. Osteocalcin is a hydroxyapatite-binding protein that is synthesized by osteoblasts. It is vitamin-K dependent and its gamma-carboxyglutamic acid (Gla) residue is capable of binding calcium. This function of osteocalcin is responsible for osteoid mineralization and it is expressed primarily during the stage of bone formation. Furthermore, osteocalcin plays a major role in avoiding excessive matrix mineralization [342, 9]. It is used as biochemical late markers of bone remodeling. However, several studies suggested that osteocalcin are released even during bone resorption [343, 344]. Our findings indicated that the level of OCN expression in hAD-MSCs cultured in OM in the presence of BCPs was increased at day 7. Nonetheless, it was significantly downregulated from day 7 to day 14. An increased level of osteocalcin expression was also observed after 21 days of culture.

Osteonectin and osteopontin are the substances of the mineralized extracellular matrix and expressed by different stages of osteoblastic maturation. Even though their functions are still unknown, they are mainly responsible for regulation of cell-matrix interactions, osteoblasts proliferation and intermediation of hydroxyapatite deposition [341]. According to the results, osteonectin expression was significantly downregulated at day 14. Likewise, osteopontin was significantly inhibited throughout 21 days by BCPs. All these results exhibited that BCPs displayed inhibition effects on bone matrix proteins during bone remodeling.

The influence of BCPs on hAD-MSCs cultured in BM is required to be investigated. BCPs suppressed expressions of both BMP-2 and sclerostin at the early stage of bone formation. They were significantly downregulated at day 7. Nevertheless, an increase level of sclerostin expression was observed at day 14. Sclerostin was upregulated 12 fold at day 14; whereas

the level of BMP-2 expression was not significantly changed during this period. Furthermore, the level of OPG expression in hAD-MSCs cultured in BM in the presence of BCPs was continuously downregulated throughout 21 days of culture.

The expressions of bone-related genes, such as Col1A1 (80 % knockdown), OCN (37 % knockdown), OP (52 % knockdown) and ON (54 % knockdown) were also significantly downregulated by the influence of BCPs. Moreover, Dkk-1 was significantly reduced at day 7. As taking into account the molecular mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cells differentiation into osteogenic lineage, the emphasis of canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway in the bone regulation has appeared. Dkk-1 is a critical regulator of mesenchymal stem cells proliferation. Even though Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling cascade is known as an improvement of osteoblasts activity throughout autocrine mechanisms, it has still been under investigation in mesenchymal stem cells. Various studies suggested that Dkk-1 leads to mesenchymal stem cell proliferation rather than their differentiation by suppressing Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling. Inhibition of the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling decreases nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin that is capable of activation of transcription factors. For that reason, Dkk-1 reduces the cell to cell contacts that are essential for mesenchymal stem cell differentiation [345]. In this study, Dkk-1 mRNA expression was significantly decreased during initial and late stages of bone repair.

For matrix genes, Col1A1 expression was continuously downregulated throughout 21 days of incubation. Furthermore, the level of osteocalcin expression was also decreased at day 7 (37 % knockdown). Nonetheless, osteocalcin production was significantly increased at day 14. Similarly, osteopontin mRNA expression was significantly downregulated at day 7 (52 % knockdown) that was followed by a significant increase at day 14. Additionally, the level of osteonectin expression was significantly decreased with the usage of BCPs throughout 21 days of incubation.

OPG mRNA expression was also continuously downregulated within a period of 21 days. Moreover, hAD-MSCs cultured in BM with BCPs showed a suppressive effect on sclerostin expression compared with the ones in which no BCPs was added at day 7. Nonetheless, the level of sclerostin expression was significantly upregulated from day 7 to day 14. In the same way, BCPs treatment exhibited a suppressive effect on BMP-2 expression at day 7 (83 % knockdown). However, an increase level of BMP-2 expression was observed from day 14 to day 21.

The influence of BCPs on the production of cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 was also determined by Elisa assay. Our findings from this study indicated that treatment of hAD-MSCs with BCPs induced the production of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 during bone remodeling. Adaptive and innate immune systems are essential during fracture healing. Inflammatory cells near the injury site secrete cytokines which play remarkable roles initiating repair cascade. Cytokines, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 act as chemotactic effects on other inflammatory cells for stimulation of downstream responses resulting in enhancement of matrix synthesis, induction of angiogenesis and gathering of mesenchymal stem cells at the fracture site. IL-1 $\beta$  was produced less than IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  throughout fracture repair. However, it stimulates the secretion of IL-6. IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 are the most important cytokines for bone repair [253].

The expression of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  in fracture healing demonstrates a biphasic pattern. Their activities peak within 24h during the early stage of bone healing followed by a decline during cartilaginous callus tissue formation at the 3<sup>rd</sup> day of post-fracture before increasing for a second at the changeover from chondrogenesis to osteogenesis during endochondral ossification [293]. TNF- $\alpha$  production regulates osteoclastogenesis. It is responsible for resorption of calcified cartilage tissue. Consequently, new bone formation is delayed without TNF- $\alpha$ . In addition to the stimulation of osteoclastogenesis, TNF- $\alpha$  also increases the recruitment of MSCs and stimulates apoptosis of hypertrophic chondrocytes. In one of the study, early cartilage formation was increased by overexpression of TNF- $\alpha$  in diabetic fracture repair [258].

The rate of complications, including delayed-union, non-union and fracture healing time might be enhanced by overexpression of pro-inflammatory cytokines. According to the results, as expected, TNF- $\alpha$  displayed similar expression pattern of the production of IL-1 $\beta$ . Inductive effect of BCPs was detected on mesenchymal stem cells at day 7 and day 14. Moreover, IL-6 concentration in hAD-MSCs in either BM or OM with BCPs were significantly higher than their control groups for a period of 21 days. Our findings suggested that BCPs caused over-stimulation of productions of pro-inflammatory cytokines. This might be osteoclastogenesis rather than osteoblastogenesis.

# 6. CONCLUSION

Regulation of BMPs and their antagonists are critical for bone regeneration in fracture healing. The rate of BMPs signaling is a primary parameter in identifying the balance between bone formation and resorption during bone remodeling. Approximately 10 % of fractures have incapacitated healing because of non-unions. Bone grafts are the gold standard to cure non-union fracture. Additionally, BMP-2 and BMP-7 are also used for the treatment of non-union fractures. The efficiency of BMPs has been evaluated in various clinical testing. Those studies suggested that patients treated with BMP-2 had enhanced fracture. Besides, usage of mesenchymal stem cells transfected with BMPs has also been explored for the treatment of the non-union fracture. Regardless in the use of BMPs in fracture healing, side effects of rhBMP in the treatment of non-union were also reported. Because of high dose requisite, unstable carrier molecules, safety concerns and restrictions of the clinical trials finished to date, the use of rhBMPs in fracture repair have been frustrating. Besides, molecular mechanisms of BMPs in bone repair are also required to proceed with confidence as using rhBMPs in orthopedic surgeries.

As a result, the findings of this study indicated that BCPs displayed an inhibitory effect on the cell viability, proliferation and differentiation of hAD-MSCs in fracture healing. Moreover, BCPs treatment resulted in suppressed bone repair with decreased ALP activity and extracellular matrix mineralization when it was compared with the controls. hAD-MSCs differentiation into mineralized bone was also inhibited by preventing the upregulation of bone-specific genes, such as Col1A1, OCN, OP, and ON due to BCPs secretion. However, BCPs significantly stimulated BMP-2 expression and its antagonist sclerostin during bone remodeling. Regarding Dkk-1 expression, we did not significantly observe differences between the cells with/without BCPs.

BMP-2 mediated differentiation of osteoprogenitor cells is necessary to enhance fracture repair. Nevertheless, sclerostin suppresses this process and might be the main element controlling bone cell differentiation. Our findings suggested that considerable potential and durable therapeutic effects of BMP-2 in clinical use should be noticed to enhance fracture repair. There is a need to optimize BMP-2 concentration for a suitable induction of bone healing. Moreover, the balance between BMP-2 and sclerostin expression could be a remarkable molecular agent for innovative therapeutic approaches for healing fractures. As

found in this study, BCPs induced the production of cytokines including II-6, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  that regulate immune response during fracture repair. Therefore, BCPs may cause overexpression of immune response at the injury site.

Overall, the main reason to reveal the influence of BCPs onto hAD-MSCs cultured in either OM or BM during bone repair is to provide a knowledge for the development of novel therapeutic targets that could be concerned in the regulation of the molecular mechanisms of bone remodeling during fracture repair. Results provide a better understanding of the biology of the fracture repair to improve new strategies and concepts in terms of augmentation of host bone graft incorporation which contributes the elimination of histopathological circumstances.

# 7. FUTURE PROSPECTS

Fracture repair operations are the most commonly performed orthopedic surgeries in the world and this study will contribute a novel knowledge of fracture healing in terms of molecular biology aspects and the development of numerous potential treatment options. Future assessments of the effect of BCPs on the cells during bone regulation in fracture repair are required to investigate the molecular and cellular interactions of bone chip soluble molecules with the cells differentiated towards osteoblastic lineage by the way of signal transduction pathway.

For further studies, it is important to reveal internal mechanism of proteasomes in bone tissue and their functions in the healing of fractures. Mass spectrometry is an excellent instrument for the identification of proteins. Mass spectrometry proteomic analysis of differentiated hAD-MSCs under the influence of BCPs will provide a broad understanding of the biology of fracture healing.

Results obtained from these experiments may guide us to investigate bone formation around the fracture site by electrospray ionization quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry (ESI/QUAD MS). Thus, it will be possible to observe whole proteome profile of differentiated hAD-MSCs under the influence of BCPs.

Identification and quantification of intracellular and secreted proteins, soluble molecules and cytokines in bone repair will provide potential biomarkers. Moreover, when a better understanding of the molecular background of fracture healing evolves, we expect to find novel applications to overcome clinical problems. Investigation of new proteins, soluble molecules and cytokines presented in fracture site will provide novel treatment strategies for the future.

## REFERENCES

1. Buckwalter JA, Glimcher MJ, Cooper RR, Recker R. Bone biology I: structure, blood supply, cells, matrix, and mineralization. Instructional Course Lectures, 1996; 45:371–386.

Clarke B. Normal bone anatomy and physiology. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008;
 3:131–139.

3. Taichman RS, Blood and bone: two tissues whose fates are intertwined to create the hematopoietic stem cell niche. Blood. 2005; 105:2631–2639.

4. Buckwalter JA, Glimcher MJ, Cooper RR Recker R. Bone biology. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1995; 77:1256–1275.

5. Karsenty G, Kronenberg HM, Settembre C. Genetic control of bone formation. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 2009; 25:629-648.

6. Logan CY, Nusse R. The Wnt signaling pathway in development and disease. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2004; 20:781–810.

7. Kini U, Nandeesh BN. Physiology of bone formation, remodeling, and metabolism.In: Fogelman I, Gnanasegaran G, Wall H. (eds.) Radionuclide and hybrid bone imaging.Berlin: Springer-Verlag Heidelberg; 2012. P. 29-57.

 Bonewald LF. Osteocytes as dynamic multifunctional cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2007; 1116:281–290.

9. Florencio-Silva R, Silva Sasso GR, Sasso-Cerri ES, Simoes MJ, Cerri PS. Biology of bone tissue: Structure, function, and factors that influence bone cells. BioMed Research International, 2015; 2015:1-17.

10. Boyce BF, Yao Z, Xing L. Osteoclasts have multiple roles in bone in addition to bone resorption. Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr, 2009; 19(3):171-180.

11. Blair HC, Athanasou NA. Recent advances in osteoclast biology and pathological bone resorption. Histol Histopathol. 2004; 19(1):189–199.

12. Boyle WJ, Simonet WS, Lacey DL. Osteoclast differentiation and activation. Nature 2003; 423(6937):337–342.

13. Andersen TL, Sondergaard TE, Skorzynska KE, Dagnaes-Hansen F, Plesner TL, Hauge EM et al. A physical mechanism for coupling bone resorption and formation in adult human bone," Am J Pathol. 2009; 74(1):239–247.

14. Boskey AL, Spevak E, Paschalis E, Doty SB, McKee MD. Osteopontin deficiency increases mineral content and mineral crystallinity in mouse bone. Calcified Tissue International. 2002; 71(2):45–154.

15. Christoffersen J, Landis WJ. A contribution with a review to the description of mineralization of bone and other calcified tissues in vivo. Anatomical Record. 1991; 230(4):435–450.

16. Yagami K, Suh JY, Enomoto-Iwamotoetal M. Matrix GLA protein is a developmental regulator of chondrocyte mineralization and when constitutively expressed, blocks endochondral and intramembranous ossification in the limb. The Journal of Cell Biology. 1999; 147(5):1097–1108.

 Green J, Schotland S, Stauber DJ, Kleeman CR, Clemens TL. Cell-matrix interaction in bone: type I collagen modulates signal transduction in osteoblast-like cells. Am J Physiol. 1995; 268(5):C1090–C1103.

18. Jilka RL, Biology of the basic multicellular unit and the pathophysiology of osteoporosis, Med Pediatr Oncol. 2003; 41(3):182-185.

19. Sims NA, Gooi JH. Bone remodeling: Multiple cellular interactions required for coupling of bone formation and resorption. Semin Cell Dev. Bio. 2008; 19(5):444-451.

20. Sims NA, Martin TJ. Coupling the activities of bone formation and resorption: A multitude of signals within the basic multicellular unit. Int. Bone & Mineral Society, 2014; 481(3):1-10.

21. Gilbert SF. Osteogenesis: development of bone. In: Gilbert SF. (ed.) Developmental Biology. 6th edition. London: Oxford university press. 2000, P.664-682.

22. Hall BK. The embryonic development of bone. Am. Sci. 1988; 76(2):174–181.

23. Ducy P, Zhang R, Geoffroy V, Ridall AL, Karsenty G. Osf2/Cba1: A transcriptional activator of osteoblast differentiation. Cell. 1997; 89(5):747–754.

24. Karsenty G, Wagner EF. Reaching a genetic and molecular understanding of skeletal development. Dev Cell 2002; 2(4):389–406.

25. Ortega N, Behonick DJ, Werb Z. Matrix remodeling endochondral ossification. Trends Cell Biol. 2004; 14(2):86-93.

26. Netter FH, Crelin ES, Kaplan FS, Woodburne RT. Musculoskeletal system. Part I: anatomy, physiology, and metabolic disorders: a compilation of paintings. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Ciba-Geigy Corporation. Indiana, USA. 1987.

27. Brighton CT, Sugioka Y, Hunt RM. Cytoplasmic structures of epiphyseal plate chondrocytes; quantitative evaluation using electron micrographs of rat costochondral junctions with specific reference to the fate of hypertrophic cells. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1973; 55(4):771–784.

28. Costell M, Gustafsson E, Aszodi A, Mörgelin M, Bloch W, Hunziker E, et al. Perlecan maintains the integrity of cartilage and some basement membranes. J Cell Biol. 1999; 147(5):1109–1122.

29. Arikawa-Hirasawa E, Watanabe H, Takami H, Hassell JR, Yamada Y. Perlecan is essential for cartilage and cephalic development. Nat Genet. 1999; 23(3):354–358.

30. Jacenko O, Chan D, Franklin A, Ito S, Underhill CB, Bateman JF, et al. A dominant interference collagen X mutation disrupts hypertrophic chondrocyte pericellular matrix and glycosaminoglycan and proteoglycan distribution in transgenic mice. Am J Pathol 2001; 159(6):2257–2269.

31. Blair HC, Zaidi M, Schlesinger PH. Mechanisms balancing skeletal matrix synthesis and degradation. Biochem J 2002; 364(2):329–341.
32. Vu TH, Shipley JM, Bergers G, Berger JE, Helms JA, Hanahan D, et al. MMP-9/gelatinase B is a key regulator of growth plate angiogenesis and apoptosis of hypertrophic chondrocytes. Cell 1998; 93(3):411–422.

33. Gerber HP, Vu TH, Ryan AM, Kowalski J, Werb Z, Ferrara N. VEGF couples hypertrophic cartilage remodeling, ossification and angiogenesis during endochondral bone formation. Nat Med. 1999; 5(6):623–628.

34. Pansky B, Bone histogenesis: secondary ossification centers and joint development: a review of medical embryology, McGraw-Hill, USA, 1982.

35. Raisz LG. Physiology and pathophysiology of bone remodeling. Clin Chem. 1999; 45(8):1353–1358.

36. Murthy RK, Morrow PK, Theriault RL. Bone biology and the role of the RANK ligand pathway. Oncology. 2009; 23(14):9-15.

37. Bruzzaniti A, Baron R. Molecular regulation of osteoclast activity. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 2006; 7(1-2): 123–139.

38. Roodman GD. Cell biology of the osteoclast. Exp Hematol. 1999; 27(8):1229–1241.

39. Bonewald LF, Dallas SL. The role of active and latent transforming growth factorbeta in bone formation. J Cell Biochem. 1994; 55(3):350–357.

40. Locklin RM, Oreffo RO, Triffitt JT. Effects of TGF-beta and bFGF on the differentiation of human bone marrow stromal fibroblasts. Cell Biol Int. 1999; 23(3):185–194.

41. Hock JM, Centrella M, Canalis E. Insulin-like growth factor I has independent effects on bone matrix formation and cell replication. Endocrinology. 1988; 122(1):254–260.

42. Everts V, Delaisse' JM, Korper W, Jansen DC, Tigchelaar-Gutter W, Saftig P, Beertsen W. The bone lining cell: its role in cleaning Howship's lacunae and initiating bone formation. J Bone Miner Res. 2002; 17(1):77–90.

43. Newby AC. Metalloproteinase expression in monocytes and macrophages and its relationship to atherosclerotic plaque instability. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2008; 28:2108–2114.

44. Yamaguchi A, Komori T, Suda T. Regulation of osteoblast differentiation mediated by bone morphogenetic proteins, hedgehogs, and Cbfa1. Endocr Rev. 2000; 21(4):393–411.

45. Harmey D, Hessle L, Narisawa S, Johnson KA, Terkeltaub R, Millan JL. Concerted regulation of inorganic pyrophosphate and osteopontin by akp2, enpp1, and ank: an integrated model of the pathogenesis of mineralization disorders. Am J Pathol. 2004; 164(4):1199–1209.

46. Raggatt LJ, Patridge NC. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of bone remodeling. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2010; 285(33):25103-25108.

47. Jones RT. A review of literature for osteology: cell biology, tissue biology, and the application of synthetic compounds for the facilitation of bone tissue repair. Honors Theses, Western Michigan University, 2011:1-81.

48. Rijsewijk F, Schuermann M, Wagenaar E, Parren P, Weigel D, Nusse R. The drosophila homology of the mouse mammary oncogene int-1 is identical to the segment polarity gene wingless. Cell. 1987; 50(4):649-657.

49. Cabrera CV, Alonso MC, Johnston P, Phillips RG, Lawrence PA. Phenocopies induced with antisense RNA identify the wingless gene. Cell. 1987; 50(4):659-663.

Krishnan V, Bryant H, MacDougald OA. Regulation of bone mass by Wnt signaling.
J Clin. Invest. 2006; 116(5):1202-1209.

51. Lin GL, Hankenson KD. Integration of BMP, Wnt, and Notch signaling pathways in osteoblast differentiation. J Cell Biochem. 2011; 112(12):3491-3501.

52. Johnson ML, Kamel MA. The Wnt signaling pathway and bone metabolism. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2007; 19(4):376-382.

53. Katoh M, Katoh M. Wnt signaling pathway and stem cell signaling network. Clin Cancer Res. 2007; 13(14):4042-4045.

54. Clevers H. Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling in development and disease. Cell. 2006; 127(3):469-480.

Hartmann C. A Wnt canon orchestrating osteoblastogenesis, Trends in Cell Bio. 2006;
16(3):151-158.

56. Guo X, Wang XF. Signaling cross-talk between TGF-β/BMP and other pathways. Cell Res. 2009; 19(1):71-88.

57. Rao, T. and Kühl, M. An updated overview on Wnt signaling pathways: a prelude for more. Circ Res. 2010; 106(12):1798–1806.

58. Westendorf JJ, Kahler RA, Schroeder TM. Wnt signaling in osteoblasts and bone diseases. Gene. 2004; 341:19-39.

59. Nusse R. Wnt signaling in disease and development. Cell Res. 2005; 15(1):28-32.

60. Kim JH, Liu X, Wang J, Chen X, Zhang H. Wnt signaling in bone formation and its therapeutic potential for bone diseases. The Adv Muscuskelel Dis, 2013; 5(1):13-31.

Johnson ML, Rajamannan N. Diseases of Wnt signaling. Rev Endocr Metab Disord.
2006; 7(0):41-49.

62. Bafico P, Liu G, Yaniv A, Gazit A, Aaronson SA. Novel mechanism of Wnt signaling inhibition mediated by Dickkopf-1 interaction with LRP6/Arrow. Nat Cell Biol. 2001; 3(7):683-686.

63. Mao B, Wu W, Li Y, Hoppe D, Stannek P, Glinka A, et al. LDL-receptor-related protein 6 is a receptor for Dickkopf proteins. Nature. 2001; 411(6835):321-325.

64. Li X, Liu P, Liu W, Maye P, Zhang J, Zhang Y, et al. Dkk2 has a role in terminal osteoblast differentiation and mineralized matrix formation, Nat Genet, 2005; 37(9):945-952.

65. Bafico A, Gazit A, Pramila T, Finch PW, Yaniv A, Aaronson SA. Interaction of frizzled related protein (FRP) with Wnt ligands and the frizzled receptor suggests alternative mechanisms for FRP inhibition of Wnt signaling, J Biol Chem. 1999; 274(23):16180-16187.

66. Esteve P, Sandonis A, Ibanez C, Shimono A, Guerrero I, Bovolenta P. Secreted frizzled-related proteins are required for Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling activation in the vertebrate optic cup. Development. 2011; 138(19):179-184.

67. Li X, Zhang Y, Kang H, Liu W, Liu P, Zhang J. Sclerostin binds to LRP5/6 and antagonizes canonical Wnt signaling. J Biol Chem. 2005; 280(20):19883-19887.

68. van Bezooijen RL, ten Dijke P, Papapoulos SE, Lowik CV. SOST/sclerostin, an osteocyte-derived negative modulator of bone formation. Cytokine & Growth Factor Res, 2005; 16(3):319-327.

69. Deschaseaux F, Sensebe L, Heymann D. Mechanisms of bone repair and regeneration. Trends in Mol Med. 2009; 15(9):417- 429.

70. Morvan F, Boulukos K, Clement-Lacroix P, Roman-Roman S, Suc-Royer I, Vayssiere B, et al. Deletion of a single allele of the Dkk-1 gene leads to an increase in bone formation and bone mass. J Bone Miner Res, 2006; 21(6):934-945.

71. Heath DJ, Chantry AD, Buckle CH, Coulton L, Shaughnessy JD, Evans HR, et al. Inhibiting Dickkoppf-1 (Dkk1) removes suppression of bone formation and prevents the development of osteolytic bone disease in multiple myeloma. J Bone Miner. Res. 2009; 24(3):425-436.

72. Moon RT, Brown JD, Yang-Synder JA, Miller JR. Structurally related receptors and antagonists compete for secreted Wnt ligands. Cell.1997; 88(6):725-728.

73. Kawano Y, Kypto R. Secreted antagonists of the Wnt signaling pathway, J Cell Sci, 2003; 116:2627-2634.

74. Bodine PVN, Zao W, Kharode YP, Bex FJ, Lambert AJ, Goad MB, et al. The Wnt antagonist secreted frizzled-related protein-1 is a negative regulator of trabecular bone formation in adult mice. Mol Endocrinol. 2004; 18(5):1222-1237.

75. Bodine PVN, Komm BS. Wnt signaling and osteoblastogenesis. Rev Endoc Metab Disord. 2006; 7(1-2):33-39.

76. Hausler KD, Horwood NJ, Chuman Y, Fisher JL, Ellis J, Martin TJ, et al. Secreted frizzled-related protein inhibits to RANKL-dependent osteoclast formation, J Bone Miner Res. 2004; 19(11):1873-1881.

77. Robinson JA, Chatterjee-Kishore M, Yaworsky PJ, Cullen DM, Zhao W, Li C, et al. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling is a normal physiological response to mechanical loading in bone. J Biol Chem. 281(42):31720–31728.

78. Li X, Ominsky MS, Warmington KS, Morony S, Gong J, Cao J, et al. Sclerostin antibody treatment increases bone formation, bone mass and bone strength in a rat model of postmenopausal osteoporosis. J Bone Miner. 2009; 24(4):578-588.

79. Ominsky MS, Warmington KS, Asuncion FJ, Tan HL, Grisanti MS, Geng Z, et al. Sclerostin monoclonal antibody treatment increases bone strength in aged osteopenic ovariectomized rats, J Bone Min Res, 2006; 21(1):44.

Verheyen EM, Gottardi CJ. Regulation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling by protein kinases.
Dev Dyn. 2010; 239(1):34-44.

81. Hoeppner L, Secreto FJ, Westendorf JJ. Wnt signaling as a therapeutic target for bone diseases. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2009; 13(4):485-496.

82. Chen Y, Whetstone HC, Lin AC, Nadesan P, Wei Q, Poon R, et al. Beta-catenin signaling plays a disparate role in different phases of fracture repair: Implications for therapy to improve bone healing. PLoS Med. 2007; 4(7):1216-1229.

83. Chen Y, Alman BA. Wnt pathway, an essential role in bone regeneration, J Cell Biochem. 2009; 106(3):353-362.

84. Kulkarni NH, Wei T, Kumar A, Dow ER, Stewart TR, Shou J, et al. Changes in osteoblast, chondrocyte, and adipocyte lineages mediate bone anabolic actions of PTH and small-molecule GSK-3 inhibitor. J Cell Biochem. 2007; 102(6):1504-1518.

85. Shi, Y, Massague J. Mechanisms of TGF-beta signaling from cell membrane to the nucleus. Cell. 2003; 113(6):685-700.

86. Luu HH, Song WX, Luo X, Manning D, Luo J, Deng ZL, et al. Distinct roles of bone morphogenetic proteins in osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res. 2007; 25(5):665-677.

87. ten Dijke P, Hill CS. New insights into TGF-beta-Smad signaling. Trends Biochem Sci. 2004; 29(5):265-273.

88. Urist MR. Bone: formation by autoinduction. Science. 1965; 150(3698):893-899.

89. Sampath TK, Muthukumaran N, Reddi AH. Isolation of osteogenin, an extracellular matrix-associated, bone-inductive protein, by heparin affinity chromatography. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1987; 84(20):7109–7113.

90. Wang EA, Rosen V, Cordes P, Hewick RM, Kriz MJ, Luxenberg DP, et al. Purification and characterization of other distinct bone-inducing factors. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1988; 85(24):9484–9488.

91. Cheng H, Jiang W, Phillips FM, Haydon RC, Peng Y, Zhou L, et al. Osteogenic activity of the fourteen types of human bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs). J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2003; 85-A (8): 1544–1552.

92. Rahman S, Akhtar N, Jamil HM, Banik RS, Asaduzzaman SM. TGF- $\beta$ /BMP signaling and other molecular events: Regulation of osteoblastogenesis and bone formation. Bone Research. 2015; 3(15005):1-20.

93. Fujii M, Takeda K, Imamura T, Aoki H, Sampath TK, Enomoto S, et al. Roles of bone morphogenetic protein type I receptors and Smad proteins in osteoblast and chondroblast differentiation. Mol Biol Cell. 1999; 10(11):3801–3813.

94. Javed A, Bae JS, Afzal F, Gutierrez S, Pratap J, Zaidi SK, et al. Structural coupling of Smad and Runx2 for execution of the BMP2 osteogenic signal. J Biol Chem. 2008; 283(13):8412–8422.

95. Gori F, Thomas T, Hicok KC, Spelsberg TC, Riggs BL. Differentiation of human marrow stromal precursor cells: bone morphogenetic protein-2 increases OSF2/CBFA1, enhances osteoblast commitment, and inhibits late adipocyte maturation. J Bone Miner Res. 1999; 14(9):1522–1535.

96. Shibuya H, Iwata H, Masuyama N, Gotoh Y, Yamaguchi K, Irie K, et al. Role of TAK1 and TAB1 in BMP signaling in early xenopus development. Embo J. 1998; 17(4):1019-1028.

97. Kurozomi K, Nishita M, Yamaguchi K, Fujita T, Ueno N, Shibuya H. BRAM1, a BMP receptor-associated molecule involved in BMP signaling. Gene to Cells. 1998; 3(4):257-264.

98. Wu KM, Huang CJ, Hwang SP, Chang YS. Molecular cloning, expression and characterization of the zebrafish bram 1 gene, a BMP receptor-associated molecule. J. Biomed Sci. 2006; 13(3):345-355.

99. Sugimori K, Matsui K, Motomura H, Tokoro T, Wang J, Higa S, et al. BMP-2 prevents apoptosis of the N1511 chondrocytic cell line through PI3K/Akt-mediated NF-&B activation. J Bone Miner Res. 2005; 23(6):411-419.

100. Gamell C, Osses N, Bartrons R, Rückle T, Camps M, Rosa JL, et al. BMP-2 induction of actin cytoskeleton reorganization and cell migration requires PI3-kinase and Cdc42 activity. J. Cell Sci. 2008; 121(23):3960-3970.

101. Yasuda H, Shima N, Nakagawa N, Yamaguchi K, Kinosaki M, Mochizuki S, et al. Osteoclast differentiation factor is a ligand for osteoprotegerin/osteoclastogenesis-inhibitory factor and is identical to TRANCE/RANKL. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 1998; 95(7):3597-3602.

102. Anderson DM, Maraskovsky E, Billingsley WL, Dougall WC, Tometsko ME, Roux ER, et al. A homologue of the TNF receptor and its ligand enhance T-cell growth and dendritic-cell function. Nature. 1997; 390:175-179.

103. Simonet WS, Lacey DL, Dunstan CR, Kalley M, Chang MS, Lüthy R, et al. Osteoprotegerin: a novel secreted protein involved in the regulation of bone density. Cell. 1997; 89(2):309-319.

104. Prideaux M, Findlay DM, Atkins G. Osteocytes: The master cells in bone remodeling.Current Opin. In Pharmacol. 2016; 28:24-30.

105. Lacey DL, Timms E, Tan HL, Kelley MJ, Dunstan CR, Burgess T, et al. Osteoprotegerin ligand is a cytokine that regulates osteoclast differentiation and activation. Cell. 1998; 93(2):165–176.

106. Martin TJ, Sims NA, Ng KW. Regulatory pathways revealing new approaches to the development of anabolic drugs for osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int. 2008; 19(8):1125–1138.

107. Lee ZH, Kim HH. Signal transduction by receptor activator of nuclear factor *k*B in osteoclasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2003; 305(2):211–214.

108. Kearns AE, Khosla S, Kostenuik PJ. Receptor activator of nuclear factor kB ligand and osteoprotegerin regulation of bone remodeling in health and disease. Endocr. Rev. 2008; 29(2)155–192.

109. Gogakos AI, Cheung MS, Duncan Bassett JH, Williams GR, Bone signaling pathways and treatment of osteoporosis. Expert Rev of Endoc and Metabol. 2009; 4(6):639-650.

110. Dougall WC, Glaccum M, Charrier K, Rohrbach K, Brasel K, De Smedt T, et al. RANK is essential for osteoclast and lymph node development. Genes Dev. 1999; 13(18):2412-2424.

111. Blair JM, Zhou H, Seibel MJ, Dunstan CR. Mechanisms of disease: roles of OPG, RANKL and RANK in the pathophysiology of skeletal metastasis. Nat Clin Pract Oncol. 2006; 3(1):41-49.

112. Suda T, Takahashi N, Udagawa N, Jimi E, Gillespie T, Martin TJ. Modulation of osteoclast differentiation and function by the new members of the tumor necrosis factor receptor and ligand families. Endocrine Rev. 1999; 20(3):345-357.

113. Roodman GD. Mechanisms of bone metastasis. N Engl J Med. 2004; 350(16):1655-1664.

114. Bell NH. RANK ligand and the regulation of skeletal remodeling. J Clin Invest. 2003;111(8):1120-1122.

115. Dallas SL, Prideaux M, Bonewald LF. The osteocyte: an endocrine cell. Endocr Tv. 2013; 34(5):658-690.

116. Li X, Qin L, Bergenstock M, Bevelock LM, Novack DV, Patridge NC. Parathyroid hormone stimulates osteoblastic expression of MCP-1 to recruit and increase the fusion of pre-osteoblasts. J Biol Chem. 2007; 282(45):33098-33106.

117. Insogna KL, Sahni M, Grey AB, Tanaka S, Horne WC, Neff L, et al. Colonystimulating factor-1 induces cytoskeletal reorganization and c-src- dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of selected cellular proteins in rodent osteoclasts. J Clin Invest. 1997; 100(10):2476–2485.

118. Burgess TL, Qian Y, Kaufman S, Ring BD, Van G, Capparelli C, et al. The ligand for osteoprotegerin (OPGL) directly activates mature osteoclasts. J Cell Biol. 1999; 145(3):527-538.

119. Ma YL, Cain RL, Halladay DL, Yang X, Zeng Q, Miles RR, et al. Catabolic effects of continuous human PTH (1—38) in vivo associated with sustained stimulation of RANKL and inhibition of osteoprotegerin and gene-associated bone formation. Endocrinology. 2001; 142(9):4047–4054.

120. Suda T, Takahashi N, Udagawa N, Jimi E, Gillespie MT, Martin TJ. Modulation of osteoclast differentiation and function by the new members of the tumor necrosis factor receptor and ligand families. Endocr Rev. 2013; 20(3):345-357.

121. Wada T, Nakashima TW, Hiroshi N, Penninger J. RANKL-RANK signaling in osteoclastogenesis and bone disease. Trends in Mol. Med. 2006; 12(1):17-25.

122. Hsu H, Lacey DL, Dunstan CR, Solovyev I, Colombero A, Timms E, et al. TNF receptor family member RANK-mediated osteoclast differentiation and activation induced by OPG ligand. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1999; 96(7):3540-3545.

123. Wittrant Y, Theoleyre S, Chipoy C, Padrines M, Blanchard F, Heymann D. RANKL/RANK/OPG: new therapeutic targets in bone tumors and associated osteolysis: Biochim Biophysics Acta. 2004; 1704(2):49-57.

124. Seshasayee D, Wang H, Lee WP, Gribling P, Ross J, Bruggen N, et al. A novel in vivo role for OPG ligand inactivation of monocyte effector function and inflammatory response. J Biol Chem. 2004; 279(29):30202-30209.

125. Kostenuik PF. Osteoprotegerin and RANKL regulate bone resorption, density, strength and geometry. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2005; 5(6):618-625.

126. Fietz MJ, Concordet JP, Barbosa R, Johnson R, Krauss S, McMahon AP, et al. The hedgehog gene family in Drosophila and vertebrate development. Dev. Suppl. 1994; 43–51.

127. Day TF, Yang Y. Wnt and hedgehog signaling pathways in bone development. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2008; 90(1):19-24.

128. Yang J, Andre P, Ye L, Yang YZ. The hedgehog signaling pathway in bone formation. Int J Oral Sci. 2015; 7(2):73-79.

129. Wang Y, Li YP, Paulson C, Shao JZ, Zhang X, Wu M, et al. Wnt and the Wnt signaling pathway in bone development and disease. Front Biosci. 2014; 19:379-407.

130. Long F, Chung UI, Ohba S, McMahon J, Kronenberg HM, McMahon AP. Ihh signaling is directly required for the osteoblast lineage in the endochondral skeleton. Development. 2004; 131(6):1309–1318.

131. Rodda SJ, McMahon AP. Distinct roles for Hedgehog and canonical Wnt signaling in specification, differentiation and maintenance of osteoblast progenitors. Development. 2006; 133(16):3231–3244.

132. St-Jacques B, Hammerschmidt M, McMahon AP. Indian hedgehog signaling regulates proliferation and differentiation of chondrocytes and is essential for bone formation. Genes Dev. 1999; 13(16):2072–2086.

133. van den Heuvel M, Ingham PW. Smoothened encodes a receptor-like serpentine protein required for hedgehog signaling. Nature. 1996; 382(6591): 547–551.

134. Pan A, Chang L, Nguyen A, James AW. A review of hedgehog signaling in cranial bone development. Front Physiol. 2013; 4: 61.

135. Plaisant M, Fontaine C, Cousin W, Rochet N, Dani C, Peraldi P. Activation of hedgehog signaling inhibits osteoblast differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells. 2009; 27(3):703–713.

136. Chiang C, Litingtung Y, Lee E, Young KE, Corden JL, Westphal H, Beachy PA. Cyclopia and defective axial patterning in mice lacking Sonic hedgehog gene function. Nature. 1996; 383(6599):407–413.

137. Hu H, Hilton MJ, Tu X, Yu K, Ornitz DM, Long F. Sequential roles of Hedgehog and Wnt signaling in osteoblast development. Development. 2005; 132(1):49–60.

138. Zanotti S, Canalis E. Notch and skeleton. Mol Cell Biol. 2010; 30(4):886-896.

139. Tao J, Chen S, Lee B. Alteration of Notch signaling in skeletal development and disease. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2010; 1192:257-268.

140. Lindsell CE, Boulter J, diSibio G, Gossler A, Weinmaster G. Expression patterns of Jagged, Delta1, Notch1, Notch2, and Notch3 genes identify ligand-receptor pairs that may function in neural development. Mol Cell Neurosci. 1996; 8(1):14–27.

141. Artavanis-Tsakonas S, Rand MD, Lake RJ. Notch signaling: cell fate control and signal integration in development. Science. 1999; 284(5415):770-776.

142. Schroeter EH, Kisslinger JA, Kopan R. Notch-1 signaling requires the ligand-induced proteolytic release of intracellular domain. Nature. 1998; 393:382–386.

143. Ehebauer M, Hayward P, Martinez-Arias A. Notch signaling pathway. Sci STKE. 2006; 364:cm7.

144. Iso T, Kedes L, Hamamori Y. HES and HERP families: multiple effectors of the Notch signaling pathway. J Cell Physiol. 2003; 194(3):237-255.

145. Regan J, Long F. Notch signaling and bone remodeling. Curr Osteoporos Rep. 2013;11(2):126-129.

146. Engin F, Yao Z, Yang T, Zhou G, Bertin T, Jiang MM, et al. Dimorphic effects of Notch signaling in bone homeostasis. Nat Med. 2008; 14(3):299-305.

147. Yavropoulou MP, Yovos JG. The role of notch signaling in bone development and disease. Hormones. 2014; 13(1):24-37.

148. Zanotti S, Smerdel-Ramoya A, Stadmeyer L, Durant D, Radtke F, Canalis E. Notch inhibits osteoblast differentiation and causes osteopenia. Endocrinology. 2008; 149(8): 3890-3899.

149. Canalis E, Parker K, Feng JQ, Zanotti S. Osteoblast lineage-specific effects of notch activation in the skeleton. Endocrinology. 2013; 154(2):623-634.

150. Tezuka K, Yasuda M, Watanabe N, Morimura N, Kuroda K, Miyatani S, et al. Stimulation of osteoblastic cell differentiation by Notch. J Bone Miner Res. 2002; 17(2): 231-239.

151. Bai S, Kopan R, Zou W, Hilton MJ, Ong CT, Long F, et al. NOTCH1 regulates osteoclastogenesis directly in osteoclast precursors and indirectly via osteoblast lineage cells. J Biol Chem. 2008; 283(10): 6509-6518.

152. Yamada T, Yamazaki H, Yamane T, Yoshino M, Okuyama H, Tsuneto M, et al. Regulation of osteoclast development by Notch signaling directed to osteoclast precursors and through stromal cells. Blood. 2003; 101(6): 2227-2234

153. Song L, Liu M, Ono N, Bringhurst FR, Kronenberg HM, Guo J. Loss of Wnt/betacatenin signaling causes cell fate shift of pre-osteoblasts from osteoblasts to adipocytes. J Bone Miner Res. 2012; 27(11):2344–58.

154. Amedee J, Bareille R, Rouais F, Cunningham N, Reddi H, Harmand MF. Osteogenin (bone morphogenic protein 3) inhibits proliferation and stimulates differentiation of osteoprogenitors in human bone marrow. Differentiation. 1994; 58(2):157–64.

155. Itasaki N, Hoppler S. Crosstalk between Wnt and bone morphogenic protein signaling: a turbulent relationship. Dev Dyn. 2010; 239(1):16–33.

156. Papathanasiou I, Malizos KN, Tsezou A. Bone morphogenetic proten-2 induced Wnt/ $\beta$ - catenin signaling pathway activation through enhanced Lrp5 catabolic activity contributes to hypertrophy in osteoarthritic chondrocytes. Arthritis Res. Ther. 2012; 14(2):R82.

157. Rodriguez-Carbello E, Ulsamer A, Susperregui AR, Manzanares-Cespedes C, Sanchez-Garcia E, Bartrons R, et al. Conserved regulatory motifs in osteogenic gene promoters integrate cooperative effects of canonical Wnt and BMP pathways. J Bone Miner Res. 2011; 26(4):718-729.

158. Liu Z, Tang Y, Qiu T, Cao X, Clemens TL. A dishevelled-1/Smad1 interaction couples WNT and bone morphogenetic protein signaling pathways in uncommitted bone marrow stromal cells. J Biol Chem. 2006; 281(25):17156–17163.

159. Chen Y, Whetstone HC, Youn A, Nadesan P, Chow EC, Lin AC, Alman BA. Betacatenin signaling pathway is crucial for bone morphogenetic protein 2 to induce new bone formation. J Biol Chem. 2007; 282(1):526–533.

160. Minamizato T, Sakamoto K, Liu T, Kokubo H, Katsube K, Perbal B, et al. CCN3/NOV inhibits BMP-2-induced osteoblast differentiation by interacting with BMP and Notch signaling pathways. Biochem Biophys Res Com. 2007; 354(2):567-573.

161. Rawadi G, Vayssiere B, Dunn F, Baron R, Roman-Roman S. BMP-2 controls alkaline phosphatase expression and osteoblast mineralization by a Wnt autocrine loop. J Bone Miner Res. 2003; 18(10):1842–1853.

162. Mak KK, Chen MH, Day TF, Chuang PT, Yang Y. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling interacts differentially with Ihh signaling in controlling endochondral bone and synovial joint formation. Development. 2006; 133(18):3695–3707.

163. Nobta M, Tsukazaki T, Shibata Y, Xin C, Moriishi T, Sakano S, et al. Critical regulation of bone morphogenetic protein-induced osteoblastic differentiation by Delta1/Jagged1activated Notch1 signaling. J Biol Chem. 2005; 280(16):15842–15848.

164. Zamurovic N, Cappellen D, Rohner D, Susa M. Coordinated activation of the notch, wnt, and transforming growth factor-beta signaling pathways in bone morphogenic protein 2-induced osteogenesis. Notch target gene Hey1 inhibits mineralization and Runx2 transcriptional activity. J Biol Chem. 2004; 279(36):37704–37715.

165. Bates P, Ramachandran M. Bone injury, healing, and grafting. In: Ramachandran M. (ed.) Basic orthopedic sciences. London: CRC press, Taylor & Francis Group; 2006. P. 123-134.

166. Einhorn TA. The cell and molecular biology of fracture healing. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1998; 355(Suppl):S7-21.

167. Dimitriou R, Jones E, McGonagle D, Giannoudis PV. Bone regeneration: current concepts and future directions. Biomedcentral. 2011; 9(66):1-10.

168. Giannoudis PV, Dinopoulos H, Tsiridis E. Bone substitutes: an update. Injury 2005;36(Suppl 3):S20-27.

169. Giannoudis PV, Einhorn TA. Bone morphogenetic proteins in musculoskeletal medicine. Injury. 2009; 40(Suppl 3):S1-3.

170. Masquelet AC, Begue T. The concept of the induced membrane for reconstruction of long bone defects. Orthop Clin North Am. 2010; 41(1):27-37.

171. Elsalanty ME, Genecov DG. Bone grafts in craniofacial surgery. Craniomaxillofac Trauma Reconstr. 2009; 2(3):125-134.

172. Boyce T, Edwards J, Scarborough N. Allograft bone. The influence of processing on safety and performance. The Orthopedic clinics of North America. 1999; 30(4):571-81.

173. Monterio CT. The use of biomaterials in the treatment of fractures. FMUP, 2015; 1-38.

174. Marino JT, Ziran BH. Use of solid and cancellous autologous bone graft for fractures and non-unions. Orthop Clin North Am. 2010; 41(1):15-26.

175. Richard E, Senghas MD. Bone and cartilage allografts: biology and clinical applications' J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1991; 73(6): 957-967.

176. Brydone AS, Meek D. Maclaine S. Bone grafting, orthopedic biomaterials, and the clinical need for bone engineering. Proc Inst Mech Eng H. 2010; 224(12):1329-1343.

177. Zorzi AR, Miranda JB. Introduction to bone grafting. In: Zorzi AR. (ed.) Bone grafting. Croatia: InTech Cooperation; 2012. P. 1-11.

178. Smiler DS, Soltan M. The bone-grafting decision tree: a systematic methodology for achieving new bone. Implant Dent. 2006; 15(2):122-128.

179. Beaman FD, Bancroft LW, Peterson JJ, Kransdrof MJ, Menke DM, DeOrio JK. Imaging characteristics of bone graft materials. RadioGraphics. 2006; 26(2):373-388.

180. Atasoy A, Kose GT. Biology of cancellous bone graft materials and their usage for bone regeneration. JSM Biotechnol Bioeng. 2016; 3(2):1051-1057.

181. Ilan DI, Ladd AL. Bone graft substitutes. Operative Tech in Plastic & Reconstructive Surg. 2003; 9(4):151-160.

182. Stevenson S. Biology of bone grafts. Orthop Clin North Am. 1999; 30(4):543-52.

183. Khan SN, Cammisa FP, Sandhu HS, Diwan AD, Girardi FP, Lane JM. The biology of bone grafting. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2005; 13(1):77-86.

184. Costantino PD, Friedman CD. Synthetic bone graft substitutes. Otolaryngologic clinics of North America. 1994; 27(5):1037-1074.

185. Alberius P, Dahlin C, Linde A. Role of osteopromotion in experimental bone grafting to the skull: a study in adult rats using a membrane technique. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1992; 50(8):829–834.

186. Brydone AS, Meek D, Maclaine S. Bone grafting, orthopedic biomaterials, and clinical need for bone engineering. Proc Inst Mech Eng. 2010; 224(12):1329-1343.

187. Stevenson S. Enhancement of fracture healing with autogenous and allogeneic bone grafts. Clin Orthop Relat Res.1998; 355Suppl:S239-S246.

188. Rawlinson JN. Morbidity after anterior cervical decompression and fusion. The influence of the donor site on recovery, and the results of a trial of surgibone compared to autologous bone. Acta Neurochir. 1994; 131(1–2):106–118.

189. Cypher TJ, Grossman JP. Biological principles of bone graft healing. J Foot Ankle Surg. 1996; 35(5): 413–17.

190. Younger EM, Chapman MW. Morbidity at bone graft donor sites. J Orthop Trauma 1989; 3(3):192-195.

191. Banwart JC, Asher MA, Hassanein RS. Iliac crest bone graft harvest donor site morbidity. A statistical evaluation. Spine. 1995; 20(9):1055-60.

192. Gazdag AR, Lane JM, Glaser DG, Forster RA. Alternatives to autogenous bone graft: efficacy and indications. J Am Orthop Surg. 1995; 3(1):1-8.

193. Habal MB, Reddi AH. Bone grafts and bone induction substitutes. Clin Plast Surg. 1994; 21(4): 525-542.

194. Kanakaris NK, Paliobeis C, Nlanidakis N, Giannoudis PV. Biological enhancement of tibial diaphyseal aseptic non-unions: the efficacy of autologous bone grafting, BMPs and reaming by-products. Injury. 2007; 38(Suppl 2):S65-75.

195. Torroni A. Engineered bone grafts and bone flaps for maxillofacial defects: state of the art. Journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery: official journal of the American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons. 2009; 67(5):1121-1127.

196. Burchardt H. Biology of bone transplantation. Orthop Clin North Am. 1987; 18(2):187-196.

197. Oakes DA, Cabanela ME. Impaction bone grafting for revision hip arthroplasty: biology and clinical applications. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2006; 14(11):620-628.

198. Mavrogenis AF, Dimitriou R, Parvizi J, Babis GC. Biology of implant osseointegration. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact. 2009; 9(2):61-71.43.

199. Roberts TT, Rosenbaum AJ. Bone grafts, bone substitutes, and orthobiologics: the bridge between basic science and clinical advancements in fracture healing. Organogenesis. 2012; 8(4):114-24.

200. Bae DS, Waters PM. Free Vascularized Fibula Grafting: Principles, Techniques, and Applications in Pediatric Orthopaedics. Orthopaedic Journal at Harvard Medical School 2006; 8:86-9.

201. Dell PC, Burchardt H, Glowczewskie FP. A roentgenographic, biomechanical, and histological evaluation of vascularized and non-vascularized segmental fibular canine autografts. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1985; 67(1):105-12.

202. Bibbo C, Patel DV. The effect of demineralized bone matrix-calcium sulfate with vancomycin on calcaneal fracture healing and infection rates: a prospective study. Foot Ankle Int. 2006; 27(7):487-93.

203. Flynn JM. Fracture repair and bone grafting. American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, 2011; 11-21.

204. Connolly JF. Injectable bone marrow preparations to stimulate osteogenic repair. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1995; 313: 8-18.

205. Tiedeman JJ, Garvin KL, Kile TA, Connolly JF. The role of a composite, demineralized bone matrix and bone marrow in the treatment of osseous defects. Orthopedics. 1995; 18(12):1153-1158.

206. Nandi SK, Mukherjee SRP, Kundu B, De DK, Basu D. Orthopaedic applications of bone graft & graft substitutes: a review. Indian J Med Res. 2010; 132:15-30.

207. Oryan A, Alidadi S, Moshiri A, Maffulli N. Bone regenerative medicine: classic options, novel strategies, and future directions. J Orthop Surg Res. 2014; 9(1):1-27.

208. Moore WR, Graves SE, Bain GI. Synthetic bone graft substitutes. ANZ J. Surg. 2001; 71(6):354-361.

209. Tomford WW, Mankin HJ. Bone banking: Update on methods and materials. Orthop Clin North Am. 1999; 30(4):565-570.

210. Hung NN. Basic knowledge of bone grafting. In: Zorzi AR. (ed.) Bone grafting. Croatia: InTech Cooperation; 2012. P. 12-38.

211. Dimitriou R, Tsiridis E, Giannoudis PV. Current concepts of molecular aspects of bone healing. Injury. 2005; 36(12):1392–1404.

212. Conrad EU, Gretch DR, Obermeyer KR, Moogk MS, Sayers M, Wilson JJ, et al. Transmission of the hepatitis-C virus by tissue transplantation. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1995; 77(2):214-24.

213. Mankin HJ, Gebhardt MC, Jennings LC, Springfield DS, Tomford WW. Long-term results of allograft replacement in the management of bone tumors. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1996; (324):86-97.

214. Dion N, Sim FH. The use of allografts in musculoskeletal oncology. Instr Course Lect.2002; 51:499-506.

215. Ehrler DM, Vaccaro AR. The use of allograft bone in lumbar spine surgery. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2000; 371:38-45.

216. Docquier PL, Delloye C. Treatment of aneurysmal bone cysts by introduction of demineralized bone and autogenous bone marrow. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2005; 87(10):2253-2258.

217. Zimmermann G, Moghaddam A. Allograft bone matrix versus synthetic bone graft substitutes. Injury. 2011; 42(Suppl2):S16-21.

218. Parikh SN. Bone graft substitutes: past, present, future. J Postgrad Med. 2002; 48(2):142-148.

219. Blokhuis TJ, Arts JJ. Bioactive and osteoinductive bone graft substitutes: definitions, facts and myths. Injury. 2011; 42(Suppl 2):S26-29.

220. Karageorgiou V, Kaplan D. Porosity of 3D biomaterial scaffolds and osteogenesis. Biomaterials. 2005; 26(27):5474-5491.

221. Galois L, Mainard D, Delagoutte JP. Beta-tricalcium phosphate ceramic as a bone substitute in orthopaedic surgery. Int Orthop. 2002; 26:109-115.

222. Bohner M. Calcium orthophosphates in medicine: from ceramics to calcium phosphate cements. Injury. 2000; 31(Suppl 4):37-47.

223. Miyazaki M, Tsumura H, Wang JC, Alanay A. An update on bone substitutes for spinal fusion. Eur Spine J. 2009; 18(6):783-799.

224. Shigaku S, Katsuyuki F. Beta-tricalcium phosphate as a bone graft substitute. Jikeikai Med J. 2005; 52:47-54.

225. Daculsi G, LeGeros RZ, Heughebaert M, Barbieux I. Formation of carbonate apatite crystals after implantation of calcium phosphate ceramics. Calcif Tissue Int. 1990; 46(1):20-27.

226. Gao TJ, Tuominen TK, Lindholm TS, Kommonen B, Lindholm TC. Morphological and biomechanical difference in healing in segmental tibial defects implanted with biocoral or tricalcium phosphate cylinders. Biomaterials. 1997; 18(3):219-223.

227. Yoneda M, Terai H, Imai Y, Okada T, Nozaki K, Inoue H, et al. Repair of an intercalated long bone defect with a synthetic biodegradable bone-inducing implant. Biomaterials. 2005; 26(25):5145-52.

228. Petit R. The use of hydroxyapatite in orthopaedic surgery: A ten-year review. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol. 1999; 9(2):71-4.

229. Matassi F, Nistri L, Paez DC, Innocenti M. New biomaterials for bone regeneration. Clin Cases in Miner Bone Metab. 2011; 8(1):21-24.

230. Frankenburg EP, Goldstein SA, Bauer TW, Harris SA, Poser RD. Biomechanical and histological evaluation of a calcium phosphate cement. J Bone Joint Surg Am.1998; 80(8):1112-1124.

231. Kurien T, Pearson RG, Scammell BE. Bone graft substitutes currently available in orthopaedic practice: the evidence for their use. Bone Joint J. 2013; 95-B (5):583-597.

232. Nandi SK, Kundu B, Datta S, De DK, Basu D. The repair of segmental bone defects with porous bioglass: an experimental study in goat. Res Vet Sci. 2009; 86(1):162-73.

233. Zhang H, Ye XJ, Li JS. Preparation and biocompatibility evaluation of apatite/wollastonite-derived porous bioactive glass-ceramic scaffolds. Biomed Mater. 2009; 4(4):045007.

234. Schrooten J, Helsen JA. Adhesion of bioactive glass coating to Ti6A14V oral implant.Biomaterials. 2000; 21(14):1461-1469.

235. Dorea HC, McLaughlin RM, Cantwell HD, Read R, Armbrust L, Pool R, et al. Evaluation of healing in feline femoral defects filled with cancellous autograft, cancellous allograft or Bioglass. Vet Comp Orthop Traumatol. 2005; 18(3):157-168.

236. Hench LL, Splinter RJ, Allen WC, Greenlee TK. Bonding mechanisms at the interface of ceramic prosthetic materials. J Biomed Mater Res Symp. 1971; 5(6):117-141.

237. Duskova M, Smahel Z, Vohradník M, Tvrdek M, Mazánek J, Kozák J, et al. Bioactive glass-ceramics in facial skeleton contouring. Aesthetic Plast Surg. 2002; 26(4):274-83.

238. Calori GM, Mazza E, Colombo M, Ripamonti C. The use of bone-graft substitutes in large bone defects: any specific needs? Injury. 2011; 42(Suppl 2):S56-63.

239. Jones JR, Lin S, Yue S, Lee PD, Hanna JV, Smith ME, et al. Bioactive glass scaffolds for bone regeneration and their hierarchical characterization. Proc Inst Mech Eng H. 2010; 224(12):1373-1387.

240. Wittwer C, Devlin AJ, Hatton PV, Brook IM, Downes S. The release of serum proteins and dye from glass ionomer (polyalkenoate) and acrylic cements: a pilot study. J Mater Sci Mater Med. 1994; 5(9-10):711-714.

241. Day RM, Boccaccini AR. Effect of particulate bioactive glasses on human macrophages and monocytes in vitro. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2005; 73(1):73-79.

242. Hatton PV, Hurrell-Gillingham K, Brook IM. Biocompatibility of glass-ionomer bone cements. J Dent. 2006; 34(8):598-601.

243. Kelly CM, Wilkins RM, Gitelis S, Hartjen C, Watson JT, Kim PT. The use of a surgical grade calcium sulfate as a bone graft substitute: results of a multicenter trial. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2001; (382):42–50.

244. Kumar CY, KBN, Menon J, Patro DK, BHB. Calcium sulfate as bone graft substitute in the treatment of osseous bone defects, a prospective study. J Clin Diagn Res. 2013; 7(12):2926–2928.

245. Lee GH, Khoury JG, Bell JE, Buckwalter JA. Adverse reactions to OsteoSet bone graft substitute, the incidence in a consecutive series. Iowa Orthop J. 2002; 22:35–38.

246. Petruskevicius J, Nielsen S, Kaalund S, Knudsen PR, Overgaard S. No effect of Osteoset, a bone graft substitute, on bone healing in humans: a prospective randomized double-blind study. Acta Orthop Scand. 2002; 73(5):575–8.

247. Constantino PD, Freidman CD. Synthetic bone graft substitutes. Otolaryngol Clin North Am. 1994; 27(5):1037–1074.

248. Pietrzak WS, Sarver DR, Verstynen ML. Bioabsorbable polymer science for the practicing surgeon. J Craniofac Surg. 1997, 8(2):87–91.

249. Stevens MM. Biomaterials for bone tissue engineering. Materials today. 2008; 11(5):18-25.

250. Buck DW, Dumanian GA. Bone biology and physiology: Part II, Clinical correlates, Plast Reconstr Surg. 2012; 129(6):950e-956e.

251. Marsell R, Einhorn TA. Emerging bone healing therapies. J Orthop Trauma. 2010; 24(Suppl 1):S4–8.

252. Phillips AM. Overview of the fracture healing cascade. Injury. 2005; 36(Suppl I):S5-7.

253. Marsell R, Einhorn TA. The biology of fracture healing. Injury. 2011; 42(6):551-555.

254. Sfeir C, Ho L, Doll BA, Azari K, Hollinger JO. Fracture repair. In: Lieberman JR, Friendlaender GE. (eds.) Bone regeneration and repair: biology and clinical applications. Humana Press; Totowa, New Jersey: 2005. P. 21-44.

255. Allgöwer M, Spiegel PG. Internal fixation of fractures: evolution of concepts. Clin. Orthop. 1979; (138):26–29.

256. Musahl V, Tarkin I, Kobbe P, Tzioupis C, Siska PA. New trends and techniques in open reduction and internal fixation of fractures of the tibial plateau. J Bone Joint Surg. 2009; 91(B):426-433.

257. Bolander ME. Regulation of fracture repair by growth factors. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med.1992; 200(2):165–170.

258. Gerstenfeld LC, Cullinane DM, Barnes GL, Graves DT, Einhorn TA. Fracture healing as a post-natal developmental process: molecular, spatial, and temporal aspects of its regulation. J Cell Biochem. 2003b; 88:873–884.

259. Aql –Al ZS, Alagl AS, Graves DT, Gerstenfeld LC, Einhorn TA. Molecular mechanisms controlling bone formation during fracture healing and distraction osteogenesis. J Dent Res. 2008; 87(2):107-118.

260. Feng X, McDonald JM. Disorders of bone remodeling. Annu Rev Pathol. 2011; 6:121-145.

261. Glowacki J. Angiogenesis in fracture repair. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1998; 355(Suppl):S82–S89.

262. Rahn, BA. Bone healing: histologic and physiologic concepts. In: Fackelman GE. (ed.)Bone in clinical orthopedics. Thieme; Stuttgart, NY: 2002. P. 287-326.

263. Gerstenfeld LC, Alkhiary YM, Krall EA, Nicholls FH, Stapleton SN, Fitch JL, et al. Three-dimensional reconstruction of fracture callus morphogenesis. J Histochem Cytochem. 2006; 54(11):1215–1228.

264. Granero-Molto F, Weis JA, Miga MI, Landis B, Myers TJ, O'Rear L, et al. Regenerative effects of transplanted mesenchymal stem cells in fracture healing. Stem Cells. 2009; 27(8):1887–1898.

265. Tsuji K, Bandyopadhyay A, Harfe BD, Cox K, Kakar S, Gerstenfeld L, et al. BMP2 activity, although dispensable for bone formation, is required for the initiation of fracture healing. Nat Genet. 2006; 38(12):1424–1429.

266. Bais MV, Wigner N, Young M, Toholka R, Graves DT, Morgan EF, et al. BMP2 is essential for post-natal osteogenesis but not for recruitment of osteogenic stem cells. Bone. 2009; 45(2):254–66.

267. Tsiridis E, Upadhyay N, Giannoudis P. Molecular aspects of fracture healing: which are the important molecules? Injury. 2007; 38(1):11–25.

268. Lehmann W, Edgar CM, Wang K, Cho TJ, Barnes GL, Kakar S, et al. Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) coordinately regulates the expression of specific matrix metalloproteinases (MMPS) and angiogenic factors during fracture healing. Bone. 2005; 36(2):300–310.

269. Keramaris NC, Calori GM, Nikolaou VS, Schemitsch EH, Giannoudis PV. Fracture vascularity and bone healing: a systematic review of the role of VEGF. Injury. 2008; 39(2):45–57.

270. Einhorn TA, Gerstenfeld LC. Fracture healing; mechanisms and interventions. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2015; 11(1):45-54.

271. Barnes GL, Kostenuik PJ, Gerstenfeld LC, Einhorn TA. Growth factor regulation of fracture repair. J Bone Mineral Res. 1999; 14(11):1805–1815.

272. Hollinger J, Wong ME. The integrated processes of hard tissue regeneration with special emphasis on fracture healing. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. Oral Radiol Endodont. 1996; 82(6):594–606.

273. Wendeberg B. Mineral metabolism of fractures of the tibia in man studied with external counting of strontium 85. Acta Orthop Scand Suppl. 1961; 52:1–79.

274. Marsell R, Einhorn TA. The role of endogenous bone morphogenetic proteins in normal skeletal repair. Injury. 2009; 40(Suppl 3):S4–7.

275. Fini M, Giavaresi G, Torricelli P, Corsair V, Giardino R, Nicolini A, et al. Osteoporosis and biomaterial osteointegration. Biomed Pharmacother. 2004; 58(9):487-93.

276. Soballe K, Hansen ES, Brockstedt-Rasmussen H, Bünger C. Hydroxyapatite coating converts fibrous tissue to bone around loaded implants. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1993a; 75(2):270-278.

277. Soballe K. Hydroxyapatite ceramic coating for bone implant fixation. Mechanical and histological studies in dogs. Acta Orthop Scand Suppl. 1993b; 255:1-58.

278. Rigo ECS, Boschi AO, Yoshimoto M, Allegrini S, Konig B, Carbonari MJ. Evaluation in vitro and in vivo of biomimetic hydroxyapatite-coated on titanium dental implants. Mater Sci Eng C. 2004; 24(5):647-651.

279. Goldberg VM, Stevenson S. Natural history of autografts and allografts. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1987; 225:7-16.

280. Leucite P, Kim JB, Wazen R, Currey JA, Nanci A, Brunski JB, et al. Effect of mechanical stimuli on skeletal regeneration around implants. Bone 2007; 40(4):919-930.

281. Garg AK, Arun K. Bone biology, harvesting, and grafting for dental implants: rationale and clinical applications. Quintessence Publishing Co. Inc., Illinois, 2004.

282. Venkataraman N, Bansal S, Bansal P, Narayan S. Dynamics of bone graft around implantation. J Int Clin Dent Res Organ. 2015; 7(3):40-47.

283. Burkhardt H. The biology of bone graft repair. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1983; 174: 28-34.

284. Mavrogenis AF, Dimitrou R, Parvizi J, Babis GC. Biology of osseo-integration, J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact. 2009; 9(2): 61-71.

285. Guo MZ, Xia ZS, Lin LB. The mechanical and biological properties of demineralized cortical bone allografts in animals. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1991; 73(5):791-794.

286. Ozaki A, Tsunoda M, Kinoshita S, Saura R. Role of fracture hematoma and periosteum during fracture healing in rats: interaction of fracture hematoma and the periosteum in the initial step of the healing process. J. Orthop Sci. 2005; 5(1):64–70.

287. Timlin MD, Toomey D, Condron C, Power C, Street J, Murray P, et al. Fracture hematoma is a potent pro-inflammatory mediator of neutrophil function. J Trauma. 2005; 58(6):1223–1229.

288. Einhorn TA, Majeska RJ, Rush EB, Levine PM, Horowitz MC. The expression of cytokine activity by fracture callus. J Bone Miner Res. 1995; 10(8):1272–1281.

289. Kon T, Cho T, Aizawa T, Yamazaki M, Nooh N, Graves D, et al. Expression of osteoprotegerin, receptor activator of NF- &B Ligand (osteoprotegerin ligand) and related

pro-inflammatory cytokines during fracture healing. J Bone Miner Res. 2001; 16(6):1004–1014.

290. Beuscher HU, Rausch UP, Otterness IG, Röllinghoff M. Transition from interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 beta) to IL-1 alpha production during maturation of inflammatory macrophages in vivo. J Exp Med. 1992; 175(6):1793–1797.

291. Einhorn TA, Hirschman A, Kaplan C, Nashed R, Devlin VJ, Warman J. Neutral protein-degrading enzymes in experimental fracture callus: a preliminary report. J Orthop Res. 1989; 7(6):792–805.

292. Bajayo A, Goshen I, Feldman S, Csernus V, Iverfeldt K, Shohami E, et al. Central IL-1 receptor signaling regulates bone growth and mass. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2005; 102(36):12956-12961.

293. Mountziaris PM, Mikos AG, Modulation of the inflammatory response for enhanced bone tissue regeneration. Tissue Eng. Part B, 2008; 14(2):179-186.

294. Horowitz, M. C., et al. (1990) II-6 secretion by osteoblasts. Trans. Orthop. Res. Soc. 15, 379. 106.

295. Helle M, Brakenhoff PJ, Groot ER, Aarden LA. Interleukin 6 is involved in interleukin 1-induced activities. Eur J Immunol. 1988; 18(6):957–959.

296. Yang X, Ricciardi BF, Hernandez-Soria A, Shi Y, Camacho NP, Bostrom M. Callus mineralization and maturation are delayed during fracture healing in interleukin-6 knockout mice. Bone. 2007; 41(6):928-936.

297. Miller RR, Cappola AR, Shardell MD, Hawkes WG, Yu-Yahiro JA, Hebel JR, et al. Persistent changes in interleukin-6 and lower extremity function following hip fracture. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2006; 61(10):1053-1058.

298. Cho HH, Kyoung KM, Seo MJ, et al. Overexpression of CXCR4 increases migration and proliferation of human adipose tissue stromal cells. Stem Cells & Development. 2006; 15(6):853–64.

299. Balqa, R, Wetterwald A, Portenier J, Dolder S, Mueller C, Hofstetter W. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha: alternative role as an inhibitor of osteoclast formation in vitro. Bone. 2006; 39(2): 325-335.

300. Cho TJ, Gerstenfeld LC, Einhorn TA. Differential temporal expression of members of the transforming growth factor beta superfamily during murine fracture healing. J Bone Miner Res. 2002; 17(3):513–520.

301. Liu Z, Luyten FP, Lammens J, Dequeker J. Molecular signaling in bone fracture healing and distraction osteogenesis. Histol Histopathol. 1999; 14(2):587–595.

302. Poniatowski LA, Wojdasiewicz P, Gasik R, Szukiewicz D. Transforming growth factor beta family: Insight into the role of growth factors in regulation of fracture healing biology and potential clinical applications. Mediators of Inflammation. 2015; 1-17.

303. Sandberg MM, Aro HT, Vuorio EI. Gene expression during bone repair. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1993; 289:292–312.

304. Bostrom, MP, Lane JM, Berberian WS, Missri AA, Tomin A, Weiland A, et al. Immuno-localization and expression of bone morphogenetic proteins 2 and 4 in fracture healing. J Orthop Res. 1995; 13(3):357–367.

305. Mundy GR. Regulation of bone formation by bone morphogenetic proteins and other growth factors. Clin Orthop. 1996; 324:24–28.

306. Lieberman JR, Daluiski A, Einhorn TA. The role of growth factors in the repair of bone. Biology and clinical applications. J Bone Joint Surg. 2002 84(6):1032–1044.

307. Prisell PT, Edwall D, Lindblad JB, Levinovitz A, Norstedt G. Expression of insulinlike growth factors during bone induction in rat. Calcif Tissue Int. 1993 53(3):201–205.

308. Butters KP. Fractures and dislocations of the scapula. In: Rockwood CA Jr, Green DP,Bucholz RW. (eds.) Fractures in Adults. 4th edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven; 1996.P. 1163-1192.

309. Southwood LL, Frisbie DD, Kawcak CE, Ghivizzani SC, Evans CH, Mcllwraith CW. Evaluation of Ad-BMP-2 for enhancing fracture healing in an infected defect fracture rabbit model. J Orthop Res. 2004; 22(1):66-72.

310. Xiong DH, Shen H, Zhao LJ, Xiao P, Yang TL, Guo Y, et al. Robust and comprehensive analysis of 20 osteoporosis candidate genes by very high-density single-nucleotide polymorphism screen among 405 white nuclear families identified significant association and gene-gene interaction. J Bone Miner Res. 2006; 21(11):1678–1695.

311. Nash TJ, Howlett CR, Martin C, Steele J, Johnson KA, Hicklin DJ. Effect of plateletderived growth factor on tibial osteotomies in rabbits. Bone. 1994; 15(2):203–208.

312. Eppley BL, Doucet M, Connolly DT, Feder J. Enhancement of angiogenesis by bFGF in mandibular bone graft healing in the rabbit. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1988; 46(5):391–398.

313. Street J, Bao M, deGuzman L, Bunting S, Peale FV Jr, Ferrara N, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor stimulates bone repair by promoting angiogenesis and bone turnover. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2002; 99(15):9656–9661.

314. Deckers MM, van Bezooijen RL, van der Horst G, Hoogendam J, van Der Bent C, Papapoulos SE, et al. Bone morphogenetic proteins stimulate angiogenesis through osteoblast-derived vascular endothelial growth factor A. Endocrinology. 2002; 143(4):1545–1553.

315. H. M. Frost. The Biology of Fracture Healing: An Overview for Clinicians. Part I. Clin Orthop Res. 1989; 248:283-293.

316. Evans CH. Barriers to the clinical translation of orthopedic tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part B Rev. 17(6):437–441.

317. Evans CH. Advances in Regenerative Orthopedics. Mayo Clin Proc. 2013; 88(11):1323-1339.

318. Virk MS, Lieberman JR. Biologic adjuvants for fracture healing. Arthritis Res Ther. 2012; 14(6):225-235.

319. Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, et al. Multi-lineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng. 2001; 7(2):211–226.

320. Mitchell JB, McIntosh K, Zvonic S, Garrett S, Floyd ZE, Kloster A, et al. Immunophenotype of human adipose-derived cells: temporal changes in stromal- associated and stem cell-associated markers. Stem Cells. 2006; 24(2):376-385.

321. Pfaffl MW. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. Nucleic Acids Res. 2001; 29(9):e45.

322. Chamberlain G, Fox J, Ashton B, Middleton J. Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells: their phenotype, differentiation capacity, immunological features, and potential for homing. Stem Cells. 2007; 25(11):2739–2749.

323. Neve A, Corrado A, Cantatore FP. Osteoblast physiology in normal and pathological conditions. Cell Tissue Res. 2011; 343(2):289–302.

324. Golub EE, Boesze-Battaglia K, The role of alkaline phosphatase in mineralization, Current Opinion in Orthopedics. 2007; 18(5):444-448.

325. Mathews S, Bhonde R, Gupta PK, Totey S. Extracellular matrix protein-mediated regulation of the osteoblast differentiation of bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells. Differentiation. 2012; 84(2):185-92.

326. Wozney JM, Rosen V. Bone morphogenetic protein gene family in bone formation and repair. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1998; 346:26-37.

327. Pham L, Beyer K, Jensen E, Sotillo RJ, Davydova J, Yamamoto M, et al. Bone morphogenetic protein-2 signaling in osteoclasts negatively regulated by the BMP antagonist, twisted gastrulation. J Cell Biochem. 2011; 112(3):793-803.

328. Itoh K, Udagawa N, Katagiri T, Iemura S, Ueno N, Yasuda H, et al. Bone morphogenetic protein 2 stimulates osteoclast differentiation and survival supported by receptor activator of nuclear factor-&B ligand. Endocrinology. 2001; 142(8):3656–62.

329. Kaneko H, Arakawa T, Mano H, Kaneda T, Ogasawara A, Nakagawa M, et al. Direct stimulation of osteoclastic bone resorption by bone morphogenetic protein (BMP)-2 and expression of BMP receptors in mature osteoclasts. Bone. 2000; 27(4):479–86.

330. Jensen ED, Pham L, Billington CJ, Espe K, Carlson AE, Westendorf JJ, et al. Bone morphogenetic protein 2 directly enhances differentiation of murine osteoclast precursors. J Cell Biochem. 2010; 109(4):672-682.

331. Kanatani M, Sugimoto T, Kaji H, Kobayashi T, Nishiyama K, Fukase M, et al. Stimulatory effect of bone morphogenetic protein-2 on osteoclast-like cell formation and bone resorbing activity. J Bone Miner Res. 1995; 10(11):1681–1690.

332. Giannoudis PV, Kanakaris NK, Einhorn TA. Interaction of bone morphogenetic proteins with cells of the osteoclast lineage: review of the existing evidence. Osteoporosis Int. 2007; 18(12):1565–81.

333. Bishop GB, Einhorn TA. Current and future clinical applications of bone morphogenetic proteins in orthopedic trauma surgery. Int Orthop. 2007; 31(6):721-727.

334. Lissenberg-Thunnissen SN, Gorter DJ, Sier CF, Schipper IB. Use of efficacy of bonemorphogenetic proteins in fracture healing. Int Orthop. 2011; 35(9):1271-128.

335. Boerckel JD, Kolambkar YM, Dupont KM, Uhrig BA, Phelps EA, Stevens HY, et al. Effects of protein dose and delivery system on BMP-mediated bone regeneration. Biomaterials. 2011; 30(22):5241-5251.

336. Diarra D, Stolina M, Polzer K, Zwerina J, Ominsky MS, Dwyer D, et al. Dickkopf-1 is a master regulator of joint remodeling. Nat Med 2007; 13(2):156–63.

337. Ominsky M, Stouch B, Doellgast G, Paszty LC, Gong J, Cao J, et al. Administration of sclerostin monoclonal antibodies to female cynomolgus monkeys results in increased bone mineral density and bone strength. Proc Am Soc Bone Miner Res. 2006a; 21:44-56.

338. Padhi D, Stouch B, Jang G. Anti-sclerostin antibody increases markers of bone formation in healthy postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res. 2007; 22(1):37-47.

339. Köttstorfer J, Thomas A, Gregori M, Kecht M, Kaiser G, Eipeldauer S, et al. Are OPG and RANKL involved in human fracture healing? J Orthop Res. 2014; 32(12):1557-1561.

340. Itoh K, Udagawa N, Katagiri T, Iemura S, Ueno N, Yasuda H, et al. Bone morphogenetic protein 2 stimulates osteoclast differentiation and survival supported by receptor activator of nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B ligand. Endocrinology. 2001; 142(8):3656-3662.

341. Robey PG. Bone matrix proteoglycans and glycoproteins. In: Bilezikian JP, Raisz LG, Rodan GA. (eds.) Principles of bone biology. 2nd edition. London: Harcourt Inc; 2002. P. 225-238.

342. Seibel MJ, Biochemical markers of bone turnover part I: Biochemistry and variability. Clin Biochem Rev. 2005, 26(4): 97-122.

343. Delmas PD, Christiansen C, Mann KG, Price PA. Bone Gla protein (osteocalcin) assay standardization report. J Bone Miner Res. 1990; 5(1):5-11.

344. Page AE, Hayman AR, Andersson LMB, Chambers TJ, Warburton MJ. Degradation of bone matrix proteins by osteoclast cathepsins. Int J Biochem. 1993; 25(4):545-50.

345. Gregory CA, Singh H, Perry AS, Prockop DJ. The Wnt signaling inhibitor dickkopf-1 is required for re-entry into the cell cycle of human adult stem cells from bone marrow. J Biol Chem. 2003; 278(30):28067-28078.

## **APPENDIX A: STANDARD CURVES**



Figure A.1. Standard curve of hAD-MSCs absorbance at 490 nm versus cell number per well.



Figure A.2. Standard curve of alkaline phosphatase activity using p-nitrophenyl phosphate (pNPP) (nmol/µl) as a phosphates substrate that converts yellow (OD: 405 nm) when dephosphorylated by alkaline phosphatase.



Figure A.3. Calibration curve of calcium concentration (mg/dl) according to the manufacturer instructions.



Figure A. 4. Standard curve for the Smart<sup>TM</sup> BCA protein assay (20-2,000  $\mu$ g/ml), bovine serum albumine (standard)  $\lambda_{max}$ : 562 nm corrected for blank.



Figure A.5. Concentration of human IL-6 standard (ng/ml). Standard curve was generated by regression analysis using log-log four-parameter logistic curve-fit.  $\lambda_{max}$ : 450 nm.



Figure A.6. Human IL-1 $\beta$  standard curve (pg/ml). Calibration curve was determined by regression analysis using log-log four-parameter logistic curve-fit.  $\lambda_{max}$ : 450 nm.



Figure A.7. Concentration of human TNF $\alpha$  standard (ng/ml). Standard curve was determined by regression analysis using log-log four-parameter logistic curve-fit.  $\lambda_{max}$ : 450 nm.